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PART I
The statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K, including under the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and other sections of this annual report, include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including, without limitation, statements
regarding our or our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,”
“estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these
words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. The forward-looking statements contained in this annual report are based on our current
expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us
will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or
other assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Should one or more of
these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected
in these forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Our Business
We design, develop and sell proprietary medical devices used to help physicians diagnose neuropathies and neurovascular disease. Neuropathies are
diseases of the peripheral nerves and parts of the spine that frequently are caused by or associated with diabetes, low back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome,
as well as other clinical disorders. We believe that our neuropathy diagnostic system, the NC-stat System, improves the quality and efficiency of patient care
by offering all physicians the ability to diagnose patients with neuropathies at the point-of-service, that is, in the physician’s office at the time the patient is
examined, resulting in earlier and more accurate detection, greater patient comfort and convenience, and, in many cases, improved clinical and economic
outcomes.
Neuropathies traditionally have been evaluated by simple clinical examination by the primary care physician, and, in some cases, subsequently
diagnosed by a nerve conduction study and needle electromyography, or NCS/nEMG, procedure performed by a neurologist or physician in a related
specialty. We estimate that there are approximately 2.0 million traditional NCS/nEMG procedures currently performed each year in the United States. We
believe that use of traditional NCS/nEMG procedures is limited by: (1) the need to obtain a referral to a neurologist for the procedure and the resulting delay
in availability of diagnostic information; (2) the inconvenience and discomfort of these procedures for the patient; and (3) the expense to the patient and
third-party payer. We anticipate that the advantages and increased availability of the NC-stat System will significantly increase the number of nerve
conduction studies performed. Based on our analysis of current data, we estimate that the potential market size for point-of-service nerve conduction studies
in the diabetes, low back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome markets in the aggregate could be greater than 9.5 million annual patient tests, estimated to be
more than $1.0 billion annually for our disposable biosensors, in the United States.
Neurovascular disease includes conditions such as retinopathy, an eye disease prevalent in patients with diabetes. We hold an exclusive sales and
marketing license to a product known as the DigiScope®, which allows primary care physicians and endocrinologists to diagnose diabetic retinopathy and
refer patients to the ophthalmologist for treatment if deemed necessary based on the results. It is recommended by the American Diabetes Association
(“ADA”) that all patients with diabetes receive an annual dilated
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eye examination to determine if there are any abnormalities. There are approximately 21 million people in the United States with diabetes according to the
ADA and only approximately 50% comply with the recommendation to have an annual eye examination. We believe that a product such as the DigiScope in
primary care physicians’ and endocrinologists’ offices could potentially lead to an increase in the level of testing and result in the earlier detection of eye
diseases in patients with diabetes.
Our goal is to become the leading provider of innovative, proprietary, high margin medical devices that provide comprehensive solutions for the
diagnosis and treatment of patients with neuropathies and neurovascular disease. To date, our primary focus has been on the diagnosis of neuropathies. We
also believe that our core technology can be adapted and extended to provide minimally invasive approaches to treating neuropathies. During the first half of
2007, we expect to enter the clinical stage of development of a drug delivery system to enable a broad base of primary care and specialist physicians to
provide this type of minimally invasive neuropathy therapy at the point-of-service. We recently obtained an exclusive sales and marketing license to the
DigiScope product for the diagnosis of diabetic retinopathy and launched our sales and marketing efforts for this product in the first quarter of 2007. We have
built a sales force of over fifty regional sales managers and we may search for additional products that can be sold to the primary care physician and
endocrinologist market by this direct sales force through licensing or acquisition opportunities.
All of our current products have received 510(k) clearance by the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA. The NC-stat System has been on
the market since May 1999 and is presently used in over 4,900 physician’s offices, clinics and other health care facilities. EyeTel Imaging, Inc. (“EyeTel”),
the manufacturer of the DigiScope, for which we have an exclusive sales and marketing license for the U.S. primary care physician and endocrinologist
market, has received a 510(k) clearance from the FDA for this product. We hold issued utility patents covering a number of important aspects of our NC-stat
System. In 2006, we increased our revenues from the prior year by 61.1%, generating $55.2 million in revenues, compared with $34.3 million in 2005. Our
gross margin percentage in 2006 was 75.5%, and 86.4% of our revenues were attributable to sales of the disposable biosensors that physicians use to perform
tests with our NC-stat System. We recorded net income of approximately $4.3 million in 2006 and $249,000 in 2005 and incurred a net loss of approximately
$4.7 million in 2004. Since our inception, more than 750,000 patients have been tested with the NC-stat System.
Neuropathies
Disorders of the nerves are broadly described by the term neuropathies. There are two basic types of neuropathies, those that are focal, or localized in
nature, and those that are systemic. Focal neuropathies are typically caused by a compression of one or more specific nerves. Systemic neuropathies are
typically caused by a metabolic disturbance that results in widespread damage to nerves throughout the body. The most common clinical conditions
associated with neuropathies include:
· Diabetes. Diabetes is a disease in which the body either does not produce sufficient quantities of insulin or does not properly use insulin. Insulin is a
hormone that is needed to convert sugar, starches and other food into energy needed for daily body function. Diabetes often results in a high level of
glucose in the blood, called hyperglycemia. Chronic hyperglycemia is associated with complications of diabetes including nerve, eye and kidney
disease. The most common form of diabetes-related nerve disease is a systemic neuropathy called diabetic peripheral neuropathy, or DPN. The
symptoms of DPN include impaired sensation or pain in the feet and hands. The ADA currently estimates that 60% to 70% of people with diabetes are
affected by DPN, although a majority of these individuals are unaware of their nerve disease because they have no symptoms. Clinical studies have
demonstrated that nerve conduction studies can detect DPN in cases where symptoms are not present. DPN, if left undiagnosed and unmanaged, can
result in the development of lower extremity ulcers and, in severe cases, amputation. It is estimated by the ADA that over
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75% of all foot amputations are in patients with diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Other neuropathies may be present in as many as 30% of patients with
diabetes, including carpal tunnel syndrome, radiculopathy and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, or CIDP.
· Low back pain. Low back pain can have many causes. When low back pain has a neurological source, it is often focal in nature and associated with
pain that radiates from the lower back region into the leg, called sciatica. In some cases, the patient may also experience loss of sensation and
weakness in the lower leg. In advanced cases, these symptoms can become disabling. The symptoms result from pressure on the nerve roots, the
precursors of the nerve, as they exit the spine. The source of the pressure is usually part of an intervertebral disc that is displaced from its normal
location between the vertebral bodies. These disorders are often called herniated or ruptured discs.
· Carpal tunnel syndrome. Carpal tunnel syndrome, or CTS, is caused by swelling of the tendons that traverse the wrist alongside the median nerve.
The swollen tendons compress the median nerve, resulting in damage to the nerve that leads to numbness in the first three fingers of the hand,
weakness in the thumb, and occasionally wrist and hand pain. CTS is the most common focal neuropathy.
· Other medical conditions associated with neuropathies. Common chronic disorders such as obesity; rheumatoid arthritis; and spinal stenosis, or
narrowing of the spinal canal; are commonly associated with neuropathies. In these complicated cases, it is particularly important for the physician to
confirm or exclude neuropathies in order to develop effective treatment programs.
· Nerve damage caused by chemotherapy. A number of widely used chemotherapeutic agents are toxic to nerves. Unfortunately, by the time patients
report symptoms, significant nerve damage has often already occurred.
Limitations of Traditional Methods for Detecting Neuropathies
Neuropathies have traditionally been evaluated using clinical and diagnostic methods but there are limitations to these methods. The clinical
examination is qualitative rather than quantitative, it is subjective and it does not often detect pre-clinical or early stage disease. Traditional nerve
conduction studies and NCS/nEMG procedures are performed under a referral to a neurologist and this referral process can result in delays and inconvenience
for the patient, higher expense and loss of control of the patient’s care by the referring physician. Traditional procedures are complex and are therefore only
performed by a small number of physicians, such as neurologists and the testing is therefore not generally widely available. In addition, traditional
procedures may be painful if an nEMG procedure is involved since the physician will insert needles into the patient’s muscles often in close proximity to the
site of pain.
NeuroMetrix Solution/NC-stat System
The NeuroMetrix point-of-service neurodiagnostic solution is known as the NC-stat System. The NC-stat System is comprised of: (1) disposable single
use biosensors that are placed on the patient’s body; (2) the NC-stat device and related components; and (3) the NC-stat docking station, an optional device
that enables the physician to transmit data to our onCall Information System. The onCall Information System formulates the data it receives for each test into
a detailed report that is sent to the physician via facsimile or e-mail in three to four minutes on average and aids in the physician’s diagnosis. The NC-stat
System enables the physician to make rapid and accurate diagnoses that are cost-effective for the patient and third-party payer.
· Biosensors. The biosensors are single use, self-adhesive, nerve-specific, electrode devices that are placed on the body and connected to the NC-stat
device. Through the use of a specialized gel and a digital thermometer, both of which are contained within the device, biosensors convert nerve
signals
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to electronic data that can be received and displayed by the NC-stat device. Currently, we sell biosensors for assessment of nerve function in the
median and ulnar nerves in the upper extremities for the diagnosis of carpal tunnel syndrome and for assessment of the nerve function in peroneal,
tibial and sural nerves in the lower extremities for the diagnosis of diabetic peripheral neuropathy and low back conditions.
The biosensors are designed to be positioned according to common anatomical landmarks with a configuration that facilitates correct placement. We
designed the biosensors so that they could be easily and quickly applied with minimal training by members of a physician’s clinical staff. The
biosensors are encoded with a unique electronic serial number, which allows us to track each biosensor throughout the manufacturing, shipping and
end-use stages. The biosensors also are electronically inactivated after use, thus preventing re-use. This inactivation is essential since prior use of the
biosensor adhesive and specialized gel would significantly degrade the quality of the measurements. In a typical nerve conduction study, multiple
nerves are evaluated and multiple biosensors are used according to general guidelines established by the Center for Medicaid and Medicare Services,
or CMS, and physician associations.
· NC-stat device. The NC-stat device is designed for efficient and easy use by the physician or a member of the physician’s clinical staff. The NC-stat
device can only be operated with our biosensors. This instrument, which is lightweight and slightly larger than a cordless telephone, customizes and
calibrates the test for each patient, analyzes neurophysiological signals collected from the biosensor and displays the pertinent results on an LCD
screen immediately at the conclusion of each nerve conduction study. It also stores data from multiple patients for optional transmission to the onCall
Information System. We also sell optional related components that allow for the testing of long nerve segments, such as those between the elbow and
wrist or the knee and foot. The monitor is powered for several months by two AA batteries. The NC-stat device contains software that performs all the
control and analysis algorithms necessary to carry out a nerve conduction study. A complete nerve conduction study may be performed with just the
device and the biosensors. A third generation diagnostic device, which we plan to market under the name ADVANCE™, is currently in development
and is expected to be introduced during 2007.
· NC-stat docking station and onCall Information System. The NC-stat docking station is an optional device that automatically transmits data from the
NC-stat device via any available telephone line, such as those used by facsimile machines, to the onCall Information System that we maintain. The
docking station has its own data storage so it does not lose data if the telephonic connection to the onCall Information System cannot be established
for some time or is disrupted during transmission. The data is automatically processed by the onCall Information System and stored in a central
database, and a detailed computer generated report is created for each patient that is then sent to the physician via facsimile or e-mail in three to four
minutes on average. The report includes the raw waveform data, comparisons to an age- and height-adjusted normal range population, study reference
table and text summaries of the study, which facilitate rapid and accurate diagnosis by the physician examining the patient. Although the study data
presented in the onCall report can be generated manually by the physician using the numerical measurements displayed by the NC-stat device, the
report is a convenient and fast adjunct. Whether using the information from the onCall report or the NC-stat device display, the actual clinical
interpretation of the NC-stat System results is always performed by the physician ordering the study. The onCall Information System can also provide
daily, monthly and quarterly reports to customers. These reports provide assistance in correct submission for third-party reimbursement and assist in
tracking overall clinical utilization. The onCall Information System generally is available 24 hours per day, seven days per week. Although purchase
of the NC-stat docking station and utilization of the onCall Information System are entirely optional, we believe substantially all of our customers use
this system in all studies they
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conduct with the NC-stat System. We currently have a record of over 1.5 million individual nerve tests within the onCall information system database.
We believe that this information provides us with the ability to continually improve our products and provide our customers with a very high level of
customer service and value.
Recognizing the opportunity created by the limitations of traditional diagnostic methods coupled with the availability of current and potential new
treatments for certain neuropathies, NeuroMetrix has developed the NC-stat System for the performance of non-invasive nerve conduction studies at the
point-of-service. Our proprietary technology provides physicians with an in-office diagnostic system that enables physicians to make rapid and accurate
diagnoses that are cost-effective for the patient and third-party payer. We believe that the NC-stat System represents a significant advance in neurological
diagnostics and offers an improvement over traditional diagnostic procedures with the following benefits:
· Facilitates performance of nerve conduction studies at the point-of-service. The complexity and high capital cost of traditional diagnostic methods
generally has limited their use to neurologists and physicians in related specialties. We believe the features of the NC-stat System facilitate the
performance of nerve conduction studies within the offices of a wide range of physicians, including primary care and specialist physicians. By
allowing nerve conduction studies to be performed in the primary care or specialist physician’s office, the patient can avoid the expense and
inconvenience of a referral visit to a neurologist. Additionally, the NC-stat System enables primary care and specialist physicians to retain greater
control over their patients by eliminating the need to refer them out for a traditional NCS/nEMG procedure.
· Provides a cost-effective diagnostic tool. We believe that the NC-stat System should reduce the cost to the patient and third-party payer of many
nerve conduction studies. This belief is based on our observation that when these procedures are performed by the physician with primary clinical
responsibility for the patient, the study is more directed so that generally fewer nerves are tested without compromising the accuracy of the diagnosis.
As the cost to third-party payers for nerve conduction studies is typically based on the number of nerves tested, use of the NC-stat System can result in
lower costs to patients and third-party payers. For example, a nerve conduction study for DPN using the NC-stat System would typically be performed
by testing four nerves, whereas a nerve conduction study for the same indication performed by a neurologist upon referral could involve the testing of
six nerves or more. When an nEMG procedure is also performed, the cost can be even higher.
· Requires minimal capital investment. We sell the NC-stat System, with equivalent technical specifications to the more expensive traditional
instruments, for under $6,000, compared with $15,000 to $40,000 for the cost of traditional NCS/nEMG equipment. We believe the lower capital cost
of the NC-stat System will aid in the expansion of nerve conduction studies beyond neurologist offices.
· Simple to operate. The biosensors are designed for ease in placement, which allows a wide range of physician office personnel to administer the
technical portion of the study under the supervision of a physician. The NC-stat device utilizes software algorithms that perform each step of a nerve
conduction study in a reliable manner, with embedded automation technology that addresses and minimizes the technical training requirements for
performing nerve conduction studies, while also ensuring that the end diagnostic result is accurate and reliable. We believe that, in combination,
these features allow accurate and reliable nerve conduction studies to be performed in 15 to 30 minutes on average.
· Patient-friendly, non-invasive procedure. The NC-stat System allows for reduced patient discomfort during the nerve conduction study by
minimizing the magnitude of the electrical stimulus to the nerve via a proprietary patient-specific calibration procedure. In most cases, the
sophisticated signal
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processing and automation capabilities of the NC-stat System provide sufficient diagnostic information to eliminate the need for an NCS/nEMG
procedure. This saves the patient the discomfort, stress and risk of this invasive procedure.
Neurovascular Disease
Diabetic retinopathy is a neurovascular disease and is one of the most serious complications of diabetes. Diabetic retinopathy is the leading cause of
blindness in adults age 20 to 65. Microvascular complications caused by diabetes can lead to retinopathy and if untreated can result in vision loss and even
blindness. Twenty years after diagnosis nearly all patients with Type I diabetes have some degree of diabetic retinopathy and 60% of all patients with Type II
diabetes have some degree of retinopathy, even though many may not have symptoms.
Over time, diabetes affects the circulatory system of the retina. The earliest phase of the disease is known as background diabetic retinopathy. In this
phase, the arteries in the retina become weakened and leak, forming small, dot-like hemorrhages. These leaking vessels often lead to swelling or edema in the
retina and decreased vision. The next stage is known as proliferative diabetic retinopathy. In this stage, circulation problems cause areas of the retina to
become oxygen-deprived, or ischemic. New, fragile, vessels develop as the circulatory system attempts to maintain adequate oxygen levels within the retina.
This is called neovascularization. Unfortunately, these delicate vessels hemorrhage easily. Blood may leak into the retina and vitreous, causing spots or
floaters, along with decreased vision. In the later phases of the disease, continued abnormal vessel growth and scar tissue may cause serious problems such as
retinal detachment and glaucoma. Ultimately, if untreated, diabetic retinopathy can lead to loss of vision or blindness.
The traditional approach to the detection of retinopathy in patients with diabetes is a referral to an eye specialist, such as an ophthalmologist, for an
assessment. In spite of the recommendation by the ADA that all patients with diabetes have an annual dilated eye examination, only approximately 50% of
these patients are actually complying and being tested on an annual basis. Treatments such as laser surgery are available for patients diagnosed with diabetic
retinopathy and the earlier the condition is detected the more likely a favorable outcome.
The DigiScope
The DigiScope was developed by EyeTel in clinical partnership with the Wilmer Opthalmological Institute at Johns Hopkins for the risk assessment of
retinopathy. The DigiScope has a fully integrated digital fundus camera which allows for the capture of high quality dilated retinal images in approximately
ten minutes. The test is performed in the primary care physicians’ or endocrinologists’ office and the images obtained are sent electronically to the Wilmer
EyeTel Reading Center and are read by retinal specialists. The results are reviewed by the physician and a referral will be made to the eye specialist, such as
an ophthalmologist, if clinically relevant abnormalities are detected. The test using the DigiScope can be easily administered by the physician’s clinical staff
under the supervision of the physician and requires minimal training. The DigiScope system is self-prompting, has a touch screen and audible cues for simple
operation. The DigiScope examination is acceptable as an annual diabetic eye examination under the Health Plan Employer Data and Information Set
(“HEDIS”) 2004 technical specifications.
Market Opportunity
NC-stat System
The sensitivity of the nervous system to metabolic and mechanical damage, compounded by its limited regenerative ability, creates a market
opportunity for a medical device that can assist in point-of-service diagnoses of neuropathies in a manner that is cost-effective for the patient and third-party
payer. We
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believe the ease of use, accuracy and convenience provided by the NC-stat System position it to become a standard of care for the assessment of neuropathies
at the point-of-service. We believe that the availability of point-of-service nerve conduction studies, through the NC-stat System, will result in earlier
detection of neuropathies, leading to earlier therapeutic intervention and, in many cases, improved clinical and economic outcomes. We believe that use of
traditional NCS/nEMG procedures is limited by the referral process and the resulting delay in availability of diagnostic information, the inconvenience and
discomfort of these methods for the patient, and the expense to the patient and third-party payer. Our policy is to promote and support the utilization of nerve
conduction studies in a manner strictly consistent with prevailing guidelines on the medically appropriate use of this diagnostic procedure. We estimate that
there are approximately 2.0 million traditional NCS/nEMG procedures currently performed each year in the United States. Although the most common
indication for which the NC-stat System has been used historically is carpal tunnel syndrome, we have since expanded our marketing efforts to include DPN
and low back pain, as well as other indications. CTS represented approximately 40% of total nerve conduction testing by our customers in 2006, while DPN
and low back pain represented approximately 27% and 33%, respectively. We anticipate that our future growth will be generated mainly from lower
extremity testing for DPN and low back pain. Based on our analysis of current patient data, we estimate that the potential for point-of-service nerve
conduction studies in the diabetes, low back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome markets in the aggregate could be greater than 9.5 million annual patient tests,
estimated to be more than $1.0 billion annually for our disposable biosensors, in the United States. However, market size is difficult to predict, and we cannot
assure you that our estimates will prove to be correct. We believe that additional applications of a point-of-service product offering such as the NC-stat
System, including the clinical assessment of patients with neuropathies caused by or associated with other clinical disorders, could further increase this
potential market size. Additionally, although we have not yet quantified the size of the market, we believe a potential international market opportunity exists
for the NC-stat System.
DigiScope
The high level of incidence of diabetic retinopathy and its serious complications creates a market opportunity for a device that can be used by primary
care physicians and endocrinologists at the point of care for the early detection of diabetic retinopathy. There are estimated to be 21 million people in the
United States with diabetes and this total is expected to grow. Diabetic retinopathy is the leading cause of blindness in adults age 20 to 65. Twenty years after
diagnosis nearly all patients with Type I diabetes have some degree of diabetic retinopathy and 60% of all patients with Type II diabetes have some degree of
retinopathy, even though many may not have symptoms. The ADA recommends an annual dilated eye examination for all patients with diabetes. In spite of
this recommendation, only approximately 50% of patients with diabetes actually receive an annual eye examination. This created an opportunity for such
testing to be performed in the primary care physician or endocrinologist office since these patients are routinely seeing their primary care physician or
endocrinologist.
Market Size
We estimate that there are approximately 2.0 million traditional NCS/nEMG procedures currently performed each year in the United States. This
estimate is based on (1) data from a CDC report in 1996 regarding NCS/nEMG procedures ordered or performed during ambulatory patient visits and (2) data
from a 2001 CMS report regarding Medicare reimbursement under Current Procedural Terminology, or CPT, codes for nerve conduction studies and
assumptions that Medicare represents 30% of the total existing nerve conduction study market and that the average number of CPT codes used per nerve
conduction study is eight. We anticipate that the advantages and increased availability of the NC-stat System will significantly increase the number of nerve
conduction studies performed.
· We estimate the potential DPN market for a point-of-service product offering such as the NC-stat System could be over six million annual patient
tests. The number of individuals with diabetes in the United
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States was estimated to be 21.0 million, or 7.0% of the population. Among this group, approximately 6.0 million were undiagnosed. According to the
CDC, there are about 26 million annual patient visits to office-based physicians for diabetes. We anticipate that the increasing focus on early
detection and prevention of the chronic complications of diabetes will lead to increased nerve conduction studies for DPN. We believe that the
estimated 50% rate of annual foot examinations in patients known to have diabetes is a reasonable estimate for the addressable testing market in
diabetes. If these examinations were replaced by a nerve conduction study, or a nerve conduction study were added to the examination, the diabetes
arena would represent an opportunity for over six million annual NC-stat System patient tests. The number of Americans with diabetes is projected to
more than double over the next 40 to 50 years. At the present time, there are no currently marketed pharmaceuticals targeted specifically at DPN, and
therefore nerve conduction studies are performed on a selective basis in order to address specific clinical issues. If a targeted therapy for DPN were
successfully developed and marketed, we believe the rate of testing would further increase. Based on current clinical trial activity, we anticipate that
drugs for the treatment of DPN will eventually become available in the marketplace, accelerating the need to detect DPN at its earliest stages to allow
for earlier therapeutic intervention and a decrease in the adverse clinical and economic outcomes associated with DPN.
· We estimate the potential low back pain market for a point-of-service product offering such as the NC-stat System could be as great as three million
annual patient tests. Low back pain is one of the most common medical conditions in the United States. Over 63 million people report experiencing
at least one day of serious low back pain in the prior year. Furthermore, back disorders account for over one-quarter of all nonfatal occupational
injuries and illnesses that result in days away from work. According to the CDC, there are about nine million annual patient visits to office-based
physicians specifically for low back symptoms. The CDC further estimates that about one-third of office visits are initial visits, at which time we
believe utilization of the NC-stat System is most likely. We thus anticipate that there may be as many as approximately three million testing
opportunities for nerve conduction testing related to low back pain for a point-of-service product offering such as the NC-stat System. We believe that
the number of testing opportunities may be even higher, as there are many patients that visit physicians for symptoms and medical conditions that
must be differentiated from sciatica, such as leg and foot symptoms, rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes.
· We estimate the potential carpal tunnel syndrome market for a point-of-service product offering such as the NC-stat System could be as great as
650,000 annual patient tests. CTS is a significant occupational issue, as the disorder results in the most days away from work among all major
disabling workplace injuries and illnesses. In a recent health care survey published in the Journal of the American Medical Association,
approximately 14% of adults reported symptoms characteristic of CTS. It was further estimated that 2.5% of adults have true CTS, which could be
confirmed by clinical examination and nerve conduction studies. This is equivalent to approximately five million individuals in the United States.
Over 350,000 surgeries are performed annually for CTS. The surgical procedure is called a carpal tunnel release, or CTR. Most third-party payers
require a nerve conduction study prior to authorizing CTR surgery. According to the CDC, there are more than two million annual visits to officebased physicians for which CTS is the primary diagnosis. The CDC estimates that about one third of CTS-related office visits are initial visits, at
which time we believe utilization of the NC-stat System is most likely. As a result, we estimate that there may be as many as 650,000 testing
opportunities for the NC-stat System related to CTS. We further believe that this estimate is conservative, as there are many patients that visit
physicians for hand and wrist pain, or medical conditions with a high association with CTS such as rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes and obesity. We also
anticipate that the high costs of CTS-related workers’ compensation claims could motivate employers to increasingly use a point-of-service product
offering such as the NC-stat System to pre-screen and monitor employees for CTS.
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Based on the data outlined above, we estimate that the potential market size for a point-of-service product offering such as the NC-stat System for nerve
conduction studies in the diabetes, low back pain and CTS markets in the aggregate could be greater than 9.5 million annual patient tests in the United
States. We estimate that the potential market for NC-stat System could be more than $1.0 billion annually in the United States.
We estimate that the size of the market for a point-of-service product such as DigiScope for the detection of diabetic retinopathy could be nearly $700
million. There are estimated to be 21 million people in the United States with diabetes and it is estimated that 15 million have actually been diagnosed with
diabetes. Using an eye examination fee of $45 per patient, this represents a potential market size of nearly $700 million.
Market size is difficult to predict, and we cannot assure you that our estimates will prove to be correct. We believe that additional applications of a
point-of-service product offerings such as the NC-stat System and the DigiScope, including the clinical assessment of patients with neuropathies caused by or
associated with other clinical disorders, could further increase this market size. Additionally, although we have not yet quantified the size of the market, we
believe a potential international market opportunity exists for the NC-stat System. The potential market opportunity is dependent on a number of factors
including favorable reimbursement by third-party payers. There are no assurances that third-party payers will reimburse for an increasing level of nerve
conduction studies at present levels or at all.
Clinical Studies and Clinical Validation
The performance of the NC-stat System has been substantiated in clinical studies that we have supported, the results of which have been published in
peer-reviewed medical journals or presented at major medical conferences.
· In studies published in the April 2000 issue of the Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine, the September 2000 issue of Neurology and
Clinical Neurophysiology, and the May 2004 issue of the Journal of Hand Surgery, the correlation between the results generated by the NC-stat
System and traditional nerve conduction studies in measuring nerve function of 198 patients was examined. The correlation was equivalent to that
found between different neurologists performing traditional nerve conduction studies.
· A study published in the December 2002 issue of Spine evaluated the ability of the NC-stat System to detect neurological impairment in 25 patients
with sciatica, confirmed by MRI and clinical examination. The diagnostic accuracy of the NC-stat System was equivalent to traditional NCS/nEMG
procedures as documented in several other published studies.
· In a study published in the August 2005 American Journal of Orthopedics, the clinical utility of the NC-stat System was assessed in 72 patients with
carpal tunnel syndrome. The NC-stat System was found to have a high correlation with traditional laboratory testing. The NC-stat System also
measured statistically significant improvement in median nerve function six months following carpal tunnel release surgery.
· In a study published in the August 2006 Diabetes Care, the NC-stat System was shown to be comparable to conventional nerve conduction testing in
a group of 72 patients with diabetes tested for diabetic peripheral neuropathy.
· In a study published in the December 2006 Diabetes Technology and Therapeutics, the use of the NC-stat System in 1,400 patients with diabetes in
28 primary care/endocrinology clinics was assessed in a prospective open-label study. The NC-stat System identified nerve conduction abnormalities
in 75% of patients, and over 50% had results suggestive of diabetic polyneuropathy. The NC-stat
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System identified meaningful levels of neuropathy in patients within ADA recommended blood glucose control and in those newly diagnosed with
diabetes.
· In a study published in the January 2007 Physiological Measurements, the validity of NC-stat System lower extremity nerve measurements was
assessed in 60 patients referred to a Veterans Administration electrodiagnostic laboratory. The authors concluded “This study shows that the
technology used by the NC-stat System for studying the peroneal and posterior tibial nerves compares favorably . . . . with that obtained with
traditional EMG equipment used under neurologist supervision.”
· In the January-February 2007 Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine, a retrospective blinded study of NC-stat System utilization by 613
family medicine, primary care, and internal medicine physician practices was conducted. Over a two-week period 1,190 patients underwent NCS for
evaluation of CTS. A total of 31% of tested limbs yielded normal results, 53% indicated CTS, and the remaining studies identified other neuropathies.
The authors concluded “This study demonstrated that point-of-service NCS by physicians for CTS was applied to appropriate patient subpopulations,
was performed in accordance with evidence-based testing parameters, and generated relevant diagnostic outcomes.”
We continue to support well-designed clinical research studies utilizing the NC-stat System that are designed to demonstrate its clinical accuracy and
cost-effectiveness. In addition, several clinical studies and trials have been performed, and others are underway, in which the NC-stat System is used to
measure changes in nerve function. The NC-stat System was utilized by Eli Lilly in a clinical trial of Cymbalta for the treatment of pain associated with
diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Cymbalta received FDA approval in the second half of 2004.
The performance of the DigiScope has been validated in clinical studies, the results of which have been published in peer-reviewed medical journals as
highlighted below.
· In a study published in the May 2002 issue of Investigational Ophthalmology and Visual Science, the conclusions drawn were that “the DigiScope
fulfills the instrumental requirements for a practical and cost-effective tool to acquire data needed to identify diabetic patients who must be referred to
an eye care specialist.” The study further concluded that the “DigiScope may help reduce the risk of vision loss in . . . . individuals who currently do
not undergo an annual eye examination.”
· In a study of over 2,700 patients published in a 2006 issue of Telemedicine and e-Health, the conclusions were that the “DigiScope can be used in the
primary care setting to identify patients with diabetes not currently under the care of an eye specialist who require referral to an ophthalmologist for
evaluation and management of retinopathy.”
Customers
We market our products directly to primary care and specialist physicians. The NC-stat System provides primary care physicians and other physicians
including orthopedic surgeons, endocrinologists, rheumatologists, and pain medicine physicians, who previously were not performing a nerve conduction
study at the point-of-service or were referring these patients to a neurologist for a traditional NCS/nEMG procedure, with a product that can potentially
improve the care of their patients and with a potential new source of revenues. As of December 31, 2006, we had over 4,900 active customers. No single
customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenues in 2006, 2005 or 2004.
Currently, there are approximately over 100 customers using the DigiScope, primarily representing the existing customer base of EyeTel at the time we
signed an exclusive sales and marketing license with them for the sale of the DigiScope into the U.S. primary care and endocrinologist market. We launched
our sales and marketing efforts for this product in the first quarter of 2007.
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Geographic Information
All of our assets, revenues and expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were located at or derived from operations in the United
States.
Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Currently, we employ 53 regional sales managers and 5 sales directors who sell directly to physician practices and also manage the activities of more
than 100 independent regional sales agencies employing a total of more than 1,200 independent sales agents. The independent sales agencies we work with
include small to medium sized regional firms as well as national firms such as Physician Sales & Service (“PS&S”) and Henry Schein, Inc. (“Henry Schein”.)
The majority of the 1,200 independent sales agents are employed by PS&S and Henry Schein. At present, our products are marketed and distributed solely
within the United States. We select our sales agencies based on their expertise and experience calling on primary care or specialist physicians, their
reputation within the targeted physician community and their sales coverage. Each sales agency is assigned a sales territory for the NC-stat System and is
subject to periodic performance reviews. Typically, our independent sales representatives identify potential customers for us and assist in monitoring our
existing customer accounts, and our regional sales managers complete sales to these customers. Our independent sales agencies do not act as distributors of
our products.
We recently launched our sales and marketing efforts for the DigiScope product for the detection of diabetic retinopathy. This product will be sold
directly to primary care physicians and endocrinologists by our regional sales managers who are also selling the NC-stat System. We do not intend to use our
independent sales agency network for the DigiScope product. Our initial target market for the DigiScope will be our installed base of NC-stat System
customers. We obtained an exclusive sales and marketing license to the DigiScope from EyeTel in the fourth quarter of 2006.
We invest significant efforts in technical, clinical and business practices training for our regional managers. We work closely with our sales agencies and
their sales representatives in order to provide them with the information and assistance that they need in order to successfully generate qualified sales leads
for our products. We also require each sales representative to attend periodic sales and product training programs. The efforts of our regional sales managers
and independent sales representatives are enhanced by proprietary software tools that are accessed via a secure website, which we refer to as the sales and
sales partner portals, respectively. These portals give our sales personnel access to real time customer sales and product usage information, various
applications to help identify and close new business, and marketing materials. The portals also provide customer relationship management functions.
We market our products directly to primary care and specialist physicians. The NC-stat System provides primary care and specialist physicians, who
previously were not performing a nerve conduction study at the point-of-service or were referring these patients to a neurologist for a traditional NCS/nEMG
procedure, with a product that can potentially improve the care of their patients and with a potential new source of revenues. We believe that there are
important marketing advantages of the NC-stat System. The NC-stat System can potentially accelerate the diagnosis of neuropathies by allowing primary care
and specialist physicians to perform a nerve conduction study at the point-of-service rather than having to make a referral to a neurologist. We also market
our products at various industry conferences in order to accelerate the market awareness of our products, our customer accrual efforts and market adoption for
our products.
We generally invoice products purchased by our customers directly to physician offices and other customers. We currently have a relationship with one
distributor that directly invoices the physician practice and we invoice the distributor at list price less a negotiated discount. With the exception of the
DigiScope, we ship all products directly to the customer even in cases where we are selling through a distributor. The DigiScope is manufactured and shipped
by EyeTel while we are responsible for
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installation, training and service. The independent regional sales agencies and their sales representatives are compensated by commissions. Our regional
managers are compensated by a combination of base salary, commissions and goal-based bonus compensation.
Our success is highly dependent on our ability to maintain our direct sales force and independent sales agency network. We may be unable to enter into
agreements with additional qualified independent sales agencies and representatives on commercially reasonable terms or at all and we may not be successful
in maintaining the existing sales and marketing infrastructure we have developed. Even if we are able to enter into agreements with additional independent
sales agencies, these parties may not commit the necessary resources to effectively market and sell our products or ultimately be successful in selling our
products. Promotion and sales of medical devices are also highly regulated not only by the FDA, but also by the Federal Trade Commission, and are subject
to federal and state fraud and abuse enforcement activities.
Manufacturing and Supply
We rely on outside contractors for the manufacture and servicing of our products and their components, and we do not currently maintain alternative
manufacturing sources for the NC-stat monitor, docking station or biosensors or any other finished goods products. In outsourcing, we target companies that
meet FDA, International Organization for Standardization, or ISO, and other quality standards supported by internal policies and procedures. Supplier
performance is maintained and managed through a corrective action program ensuring all product requirements are met or exceeded. We believe these
manufacturing relationships minimize our capital investment, provide us with manufacturing expertise and help control costs.
Following the receipt of products or product components from our third-party manufacturers, we conduct the necessary inspection and packaging and
labeling at our corporate headquarters facility. We may consider manufacturing certain products or product components internally, if and when demand or
quality requirements make it appropriate to do so. We currently have no plans to manufacture any products or product components internally.
We seek to obtain products from our manufacturers in order to maintain sufficient inventory to satisfy our customer obligations. We did not experience
any significant inventory shortages on any established products in 2006. We occasionally experience transient inventory shortages, typically lasting less
than one month, on new products during the initial production ramp-up phase. If our third-party manufacturers are unable to manufacture our products to
keep up with demand, we would not meet expectations for growth of our business.
Parlex Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., which was previously known as PolyFlex Circuits, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Parlex Corporation, or
Parlex, has been manufacturing NC-stat biosensors since early 1999. In August 2006, we entered into a mutually exclusive manufacturing and supply
agreement with Parlex pursuant to which Parlex will manufacture and supply to us, and we will purchase from Parlex, at agreed upon prices per unit, all of our
requirements of biosensors for resale in the United States. Under the agreement, Parlex has agreed not to manufacture biosensors to be used to measure nerve
conduction for any other company during the term of the agreement and, in some cases, for a period of one year thereafter. Either party may terminate the
agreement at any time upon not less than 18 months’ prior written notice, provided that neither party may terminate the agreement prior to August 2, 2008.
Parlex manufactures our biosensors at a facility in Massachusetts and is in the process of validating manufacturing of our biosensors at a second site located
in the U.K.
Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufacturing our NC-stat monitors and docking stations since November 2005. We signed a formal supply
agreement with Sunburst during 2006 for the continued manufacturing and supply of our diagnostic devices. Sunburst manufactures the current generation of
the
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NC-stat diagnostic devices at a facility in Massachusetts and they are producing the initial production runs of the ADVANCE System.
The DigiScope is manufactured by EyeTel, the company from which we obtained an exclusive sales and marketing license for the sale of the DigiScope
to the primary care physician and endocrinologist market.
We and our third-party manufacturers are registered with the FDA and subject to compliance with FDA quality system regulations. We are also ISO
registered and undergo frequent quality system audits by European agencies. Our products are cleared for market within the United States and Canada, and
are also approved for distribution in the European Union, although to date we have sales only in the United States. Our facility and the facilities of our
manufacturers are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by regulatory authorities, and may undergo compliance inspections conducted by the FDA
and corresponding state agencies. We were inspected by the FDA in May 2003. During its inspection, the FDA issued a Form 483, which is a notice of
inspection observations. Two minor items were identified and the corrective actions for both were initiated prior to the completion of the audit. The responses
provided to the FDA were deemed adequate and no further action has been requested. As a registered device manufacturer, we and our manufacturers will
undergo regularly scheduled FDA quality system inspections; however, additional FDA inspections may occur if deemed necessary by the FDA.
Products Under Development and Research and Development
Our research and development efforts are focused in the near term on further enhancing our existing products, which includes developing the ADVANCE
System and developing new biosensors, as well as designing a drug delivery system for the minimally invasive treatment of neuropathies by both primary
care and specialist physicians. Our research and development staff consists of 26 people, including 6 who hold Ph.D. degrees. Our research and development
group has extensive experience in neurophysiology, biomedical instrumentation, signal processing, biomedical sensors and information systems. These
individuals work closely with our marketing group, our clinical support group (led by a board-certified neurologist), our scientific advisors and our customers
to design products that are intended to improve clinical and economic outcomes.
Devices for the Treatment of Neuropathy
In pursuit of our objective to develop medical devices that provide comprehensive solutions for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with
neuropathies, we are seeking to expand our product base beyond the diagnostic and into the treatment arena. We believe that our core technology can be
adapted and extended to provide minimally invasive approaches to treating neuropathies. In particular, we believe that neuropathies that are focal, or
localized, in nature can be safely and effectively treated if drugs can be delivered near the disease site without damaging the nerve in the process. Some of
these types of treatments are performed today, but they are performed manually by a limited number of physicians. Our product development program
includes the design of a product that we believe will reduce the risk involved in providing these treatments. During the first half of 2007, we expect to enter
the clinical stage of development of a drug delivery system to enable a broad base of primary care and specialist physicians to provide this type of minimally
invasive neuropathy therapy at the point-of-service.
NCS/nEMG Systems
We have an ongoing program of making enhancements and improvements to the NC-stat System. We are developing new biosensors and associated
software for the medically appropriate testing of additional nerves. We have also developed a third generation diagnostic device, the ADVANCE System, that
will
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allow our customers to perform more complex analyses of diagnostic data. We submitted a 510(k) filing to the FDA in the first quarter of 2007 for the
ADVANCE System.
The ADVANCE System has a number of important innovations and features:
· Key technical and engineering specifications that we believe meet those of other electrodiagnostic devices on the market.
· Signal processing algorithms that provide physicians with high quality and detailed nerve conduction data to incorporate into their diagnostic
assessment. We have filed two patents on these algorithms.
· A user interface consisting of a high resolution color touch screen that allows physicians and their clinical staff to conduct accurate nerve conduction
studies and other electrodiagnostic tests in a straightforward manner. Consistent with the current NC-stat System, this user interface provides for realtime data review including waveforms.
· Compatibility with existing biosensors and with new nerve conduction biosensors that we develop in the future.
· The ADVANCE System will also support the performance of nEMG studies.
NEUROMetrix ®, NC-stat ®, ADVANCE™ and onCall™ are trademarks of ours.
During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we spent $5.0 million, $3.8 million and $3.3 million, respectively, on research and development.
Competition
We consider the primary competition for our products to be traditional NCS/nEMG procedures. Our success depends in large part on convincing
physicians to adopt the NC-stat System in order to perform nerve conduction studies at the point-of-service.
There are a number of companies that sell traditional NCS/nEMG equipment, typically to neurologists. These companies include Viasys Healthcare Inc.,
Cadwell Laboratories, Inc and Xltec, Inc. Viasys Healthcare has substantially greater financial resources than we do, and they have established reputations as
worldwide distribution channels for medical instruments to neurologists and other physicians. Xltec launched a product for the point-of-service nerve
conduction studies market in 2006 and subsequently announced that they were withdrawing this product from the market. We are aware of one additional
company, Neumed Inc., that markets a nerve conduction study system to the point-of-service market.
We believe that among systems marketed for the performance of nerve conduction studies today, only the NC-stat System provides the level of
diagnostic accuracy, the level of automation and the ease of use required for successful penetration of the point-of-service market. We also believe that the
reporting and data repository functions provided by the onCall Information System, although entirely optional, provide our customers who use this service
with added value that is not matched by other currently marketed products. We further believe that the expanding database of nerve conduction study data
captured by the onCall Information System facilitates our ability to improve the performance of the NC-stat System. We believe that the size of our database
and ongoing improvements provide us with a significant competitive advantage.
Currently, we believe that our most direct competitors are certain specialist physicians, such as neurologists, who perform traditional nerve conduction
studies and may view the NC-stat System as competitive with or a threat to their business. Because of the level of automation and the ease of use of the NCstat System, the NC-stat System facilitates the performance of nerve conduction studies within the
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offices of a wider range of physicians. Accordingly, neurologists, including a professional society representing a subset of neurologists who most frequently
perform traditional nerve conduction studies, have competed and may continue to compete with us by advancing positions that are adverse to the NC-stat
System. We believe this competition has come, and is most likely to continue to come, through the advancement of positions challenging the effectiveness
and accuracy of the NC-stat System and the ability of non-specialist physicians to perform nerve conduction studies and accurately diagnose neuropathies.
Because specialist physicians and professional societies may be viewed as authoritative, without regard to their potential economic motives, and may have
connections to or influence with various regulatory bodies and third-party payers, they may have a competitive advantage over us and their positions may
lead to or be reflected in actions taken by these regulatory bodies and third-party payers that are adverse to our business. In this respect, we seek to respond to
these positions by supporting and making reference to past and future clinical studies substantiating the effectiveness of the NC-stat System, including those
described above in the section titled “—Clinical Studies and Clinical Validation.”
Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets and other intellectual property laws, nondisclosure agreements and other
measures to protect our proprietary technology, intellectual property rights and know-how. We hold issued utility patents covering a number of important
aspects of our NC-stat System. We believe that in order to have a competitive advantage, we must develop and maintain the proprietary aspects of our
technologies. Currently, we require our employees, consultants and advisors to execute confidentiality agreements in connection with their employment,
consulting or advisory relationships with us, where appropriate. We also require our employees, consultants and advisors who we expect to work on our
products to agree to disclose and assign to us all inventions conceived during the work day, developed using our property or which relate to our business.
Despite any measures taken to protect our intellectual property, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary.
Patents
As of December 31, 2006, we had 12 issued U.S. patents, 7 issued foreign patents and 45 pending patent applications, including 23 U.S. applications, 1
International PCT application and 21 foreign national applications. We also hold an exclusive license to 2 issued U.S. patents and 2 issued foreign patents.
The issued and pending patents that we own and license cover, among other things:
· Nerve conduction biosensors and related methods;
· Nerve conduction hardware;
· Algorithms for performing and analyzing nerve conduction studies; and
· NC-stat System industrial design.
Our issued design patents begin to expire in 2015, and our issued utility patents begin to expire in 2017. In particular, seven of our issued U.S. utility
patents covering important aspects of our current products will expire on the same date in 2017. Although the patent protection for material aspects of our
products covered by the claims of the patents will be lost at that time, we have additional patents and patent applications directed to other novel inventions
that will have patent terms extending beyond 2017.
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The medical device industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent litigation based on allegations of patent
infringement. Patent litigation can involve complex factual and legal questions, and its outcome is uncertain. Any claim relating to infringement of patents
that is successfully asserted against us may require us to pay substantial damages. Even if we were to prevail, any litigation could be costly and timeconsuming and would divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. Our success will also depend in part on our
not infringing patents issued to others, including our competitors and potential competitors. If our products are found to infringe the patents of others, our
development, manufacture and sale of these potential products could be severely restricted or prohibited. In addition, our competitors may independently
develop similar technologies. Because of the importance of our patent portfolio to our business, we may lose market share to our competitors if we fail to
protect our intellectual property rights.
As the number of entrants into our market increases, the possibility of a patent infringement claim against us grows. Although we have not received
notice of any claims, and are not aware that our products infringe other parties’ patents and proprietary rights, our products and methods may be covered by
U.S. patents held by our competitors. In addition, our competitors may assert that future products we may market infringe their patents.
A patent infringement suit brought against us may force us or any strategic partners or licensees to stop or delay developing, manufacturing or selling
potential products that are claimed to infringe a third-party’s intellectual property, unless that party grants us rights to use its intellectual property. In such
cases, we may be required to obtain licenses to patents or proprietary rights of others in order to continue to commercialize our products. However, we may
not be able to obtain any licenses required under any patents or proprietary rights of third parties on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we were able to obtain
rights to the third-party’s intellectual property, these rights may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same intellectual property.
Ultimately, we may be unable to commercialize some of our potential products or may have to cease some of our business operations as a result of patent
infringement claims, which could severely harm our business.
Trademarks
We hold domestic and certain foreign trademark registrations for the marks NEUROMETRIX and NC-STAT. The U.S. registration for NEUROMETRIX is
on the Supplemental Register. In addition, we also have two other pending U.S. trademark applications for the mark NEUROMETRIX. We also have a U.S.
trademark application pending for the mark onCall.
Third-Party Reimbursement
We anticipate that sales volumes and prices of our products will continue to be dependent in large part on the availability of reimbursement for our
customers from third-party payers and on policies issued by governmental agencies. Third-party payers include governmental programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid, private insurance plans, and workers’ compensation plans. These organizations may deny coverage and refuse reimbursement for a diagnostic
procedure or specific product such as the NC-stat System if they determine that the diagnostic test or product was not medically appropriate, reasonable or
necessary. Tests will be considered not medically reasonable or necessary if they are deemed “investigational” (i.e. there is insufficient evidence of efficacy
or accuracy.) The third-party payers may also place limitations on the types of physicians that can perform specific types of diagnostic procedures. Also,
third-party payers are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. In international markets, reimbursement and healthcare
payment systems vary significantly by country, and many countries have instituted payment ceilings on specific product lines and procedures. We cannot
assure you that procedures using our products will be considered medically reasonable and necessary for a specific indication, that our products will be
considered cost-effective by third-party payers, that procedures performed using our products will be reimbursed as separate procedures under existing CPT
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codes, that an adequate level of reimbursement will be available or that the third-party payers’ coverage and reimbursement policies will not adversely affect
our ability to sell our products profitably.
A key component in the reimbursement decision by most private insurers and CMS, which administers Medicare, is the assignment of a CPT code. This
code is used in the submission of claims to insurers for reimbursement for medical services. CPT codes are assigned, maintained and revised by the CPT
Editorial Panel administered by the American Medical Association, or AMA. According to present Medicare guidelines, nerve conduction studies must be
performed or supervised by medical doctors, or M.D.s, and doctors of osteopathic medicine, or D.O.s, and are reimbursable under the three CPT codes: 95900,
95903, and 95904. We believe that the nerve conduction measurements performed by the NC-stat System meet the requirements stipulated in the code
descriptions published by the AMA and that these codes are currently used by physicians to obtain reimbursement for the performance of nerve conduction
studies with the NC-stat System, except, as described below, in cases where they are seeking reimbursement from Medicare in a jurisdiction where the local
insurance carrier processing Medicare claims has determined that physicians must submit these claims using a miscellaneous CPT code (95999). If the CPT
codes that apply to the procedures performed using our products are changed, or determined not to apply to tests performed with the NC-stat System,
reimbursement for performances of these procedures may be adversely affected.
For Medicare, there are sixteen organizations serving as local insurance carriers that on behalf of Medicare process claims submitted by physician
practice groups and other healthcare providers and establish what are called local coverage determinations, or LCDs. In the absence of a position issued by
Medicare at the national level, the LCDs issued by these local insurance carriers govern the reimbursement of procedures performed using medical devices
such as the NC-stat System. During the second half of 2006 and early 2007, five local Medicare carriers covering a total of twenty states issued draft LCDs,
final LCDs or coding articles particularly addressing coverage and reimbursement policies under Medicare for nerve conduction studies performed using the
NC-stat System. Several of these carriers indicated that they will not reimburse physicians under Medicare for nerve conduction studies performed using the
NC-stat System under the three existing CPT codes for conventional nerve conduction studies (95900, 95903 and 95904), which provide for levels of
reimbursement fixed by CMS, but rather that physicians must submit claims for reimbursement for these procedures under a miscellaneous CPT code (95999),
in which case the local carriers may determine the level of reimbursement to be paid, if any. We do not know what success our customers will have in
obtaining reimbursement under the miscellaneous code or what level of reimbursement they may receive if they are successful. If physicians do not receive
adequate reimbursement under the miscellaneous CPT code from those local carriers, our existing customers may limit or curtail their use of the NC-stat
System and we may be unable to obtain new customers, both of which could materially and adversely impact our revenues and profitability. The AMA CPT
Editorial Panel has formed a committee which is expected to examine the reimbursement coding of automated nerve conduction studies, including the NCstat System and other electrodiagnostic equipment from additional manufacturers. The findings of this committee may affect which CPT codes Medicare
carriers and commercial payers require from physicians who perform procedures with the NC-stat System. Additional third-party payers, including local
Medicare carriers and commercial payers, could potentially take a position that could reduce or eliminate the reimbursement for the NC-stat System. These
payers may also impose requirements on physicians to submit additional paperwork supporting the medical necessity of nerve conduction studies performed
using the NC-stat System. Such requirements could potentially impact the use of the NC-stat System and could potentially have an adverse impact on
our revenues.
Additionally, the LCDs and coding articles issued by local Medicare carriers have also addressed a number of other issues, including (1) the background
and training of physicians supervising or performing nerve conduction studies; (2) the level of training requirements for technicians performing a nerve
conduction study; (3) whether nerve conduction tests should be required to be performed concomitantly
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with an nEMG procedure; and (4) whether the NC-stat System is comparable to conventional nerve conduction testing equipment. We do not believe that
these LCDs prohibit physicians from receiving reimbursement under Medicare for medically necessary nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat
System. However, these LCDs are relatively new and they do appear to be targeted at limiting access to perform and/or reimbursement for nerve conduction
studies. These LCDs could be interpreted or implemented in a manner that limits the ability of physicians to receive reimbursement under Medicare for nerve
conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System, which could adversely affect our business.
In the United States, some insured individuals are receiving their medical care through managed care programs, which monitor and often require preapproval of the services that a member will receive. Some managed care programs are paying their providers on a per capita basis, which puts the providers at
financial risk for the services provided to their patients by paying these providers a predetermined payment per member per month, and consequently, may
limit the willingness of these providers to use our products.
We believe that the overall escalating cost of medical products and services has led to, and will continue to lead to, increased pressures on the healthcare
industry to reduce the costs of products and services. We cannot assure you that third-party reimbursement and coverage will be available or adequate, or that
future legislation, regulation, or reimbursement policies of third-party payers will not adversely affect the demand for our products or our ability to sell these
products on a profitable basis. The unavailability or inadequacy of third-party payer coverage or reimbursement could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results and financial condition.
FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulation
Our products are medical devices subject to extensive regulation by the FDA under the U.S. Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as well as other regulatory
bodies. The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes on the basis of the controls deemed necessary to reasonably ensure their safety and
effectiveness:
· Class I, requiring general controls, including labeling, device listing, reporting and, for some products, adherence to good manufacturing practices
through the FDA’s quality system regulations and pre-market notification;
· Class II, requiring general controls and special controls, which may include performance standards and post-market surveillance; and
· Class III, requiring general controls and pre-market approval.
Before being introduced into the market, our products must obtain market clearance through either the 510(k) pre-market notification process, the de
novo review process or the pre-market approval process.
510(k) Pre-Market Notification Process
To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a pre-market notification demonstrating that the proposed device is substantially equivalent in intended
use, safety and effectiveness to a legally marketed Class I or II medical device or to a Class III device marketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FDA has
not yet required the submission of a pre-market approval application. In some cases, we may be required to perform clinical trials to support a claim of
substantial equivalence. It generally takes three months from the date of submission to obtain 510(k) clearance, but it can be significantly longer.
After a medical device receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a
significant change in its intended use, requires a new 510(k) clearance or could require de novo classification or pre-market approval. The FDA allows each
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company to make this determination, but the FDA can review the decision. If the FDA disagrees with a company’s decision not to seek FDA authorization,
the FDA may retroactively require the company to seek 510(k) clearance, de novo classification or pre-market approval. The FDA also can require the
company to cease marketing and/or recall the medical device in question until 510(k) clearance, de novo classification or pre-market approval is obtained or
take other action.
De Novo Review Process
If a previously unclassified medical device does not qualify for the 510(k) pre-market notification process because there is no predicate device to which
it is substantially equivalent, and if the device may be adequately regulated through general controls or special controls, the device may be eligible for de
novo classification through what is called the de novo review process. In order to use the de novo review process, a company must receive a letter from the
FDA stating that, because the device has been found not substantially equivalent to a legally marketed Class I or II medical device or to a Class III device
marketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FDA has not yet required the submission of a pre-market approval application, it has been placed into Class III.
After receiving this letter, the company, within 30 days, must submit to the FDA a request for de novo classification into Class I or II. The FDA then has
60 days in which to approve or deny the de novo classification request. If the FDA grants de novo classification, the device will be placed into either Class I
or Class II, and allowed to be marketed. If a product is classified into Class I or II through the de novo review process, then that device may serve as a
predicate device for subsequent 510(k) pre-market notifications.
Pre-Market Approval Process
If a medical device does not qualify for the 510(k) pre-market notification process and is not eligible for clearance through the de novo review process, a
company must file a pre-market approval application. The pre-market approval process generally requires more extensive pre-filing testing than is required in
the 510(k) pre-market notification process and is more costly, lengthy and uncertain. The pre-market approval process can take one to three years or longer.
The pre-market approval process requires the company to prove the safety and effectiveness of the device to the FDA’s satisfaction through extensive
submissions, including pre-clinical and clinical trial data, and information about the device, its design, manufacture, labeling and components. Before
granting pre-market approval, the FDA generally also performs an on-site inspection of manufacturing facilities for the product to ensure compliance with the
FDA’s quality system regulations. After any pre-market approval, a new pre-market approval application or application supplement may be required in the
event of modifications to the device, its labeling, intended use or indication, or its manufacturing process.
Post-Approval Obligations
After a device is placed on the market, numerous regulatory requirements continue to apply. These include:
· the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, which requires manufacturers, including third-party manufacturers, to follow stringent design, testing,
control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during all aspects of the manufacturing process;
· labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions against the promotion of products for uncleared or unapproved uses (known as off-label uses), as well as
requirements to provide adequate information on both risks and benefits;
· medical device reporting, or MDR, regulations, which require that manufacturers report to FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a
death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur;
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· post-market surveillance regulations, which apply when necessary to protect the public health or to provide additional safety and effectiveness data
for the device;
· regular, unannounced, inspections by FDA to review a manufacturer’s facilities and their compliance with applicable FDA requirements; and
· the FDA’s recall authority, whereby it can ask, or order, device manufacturers to recall from the market a product that is in violation of governing laws
and regulations.
NC-stat System
The NC-stat System has received six 510(k) clearances as a Class II medical device, the first of which was received in 1998, and the most recent
(K060584) in August 2006. The NC-stat System has the following intended use, as stated in the most recent 510(k) approval:
“The NEUROMetrix NC-stat is intended to stimulate and measure neuromuscular signals that are useful in diagnosing and evaluating systemic and
entrapment neuropathies.”
Furthermore, Section 6 (Basis for Substantial Equivalence) of the 510(k) Summary states:
“Clinical data submitted in the 510(k) demonstrates that nerve conduction measurements obtained using the NC-stat are comparable to those obtained
using conventional nerve conduction measurement equipment.”
We believe that this intended use is consistent with the manner in which the NC-stat System is marketed and used by our customers.
During the fourth quarter of 2006, we submitted a 510(k) filing for an updated version of the onCall Information System, and we are currently in the
process of responding to a request for additional information from the FDA related to this filing. Prior versions of the onCall Information System were
included in the 510(k) filings for the NC-stat System. During the first quarter of 2007, we also submitted a 510(k) filing for the ADVANCE System.
DigiScope
The DigiScope received a 510(k) clearance (K990205) as a Class II medical device in 1999 and the intended use language is as follows:
“The DigiScope is intended to capture and store images of the retina taken by a fundus camera. The DigiScope has the same intended use and
indications as the predicate devices, fundus cameras and computer hardware/software intended to capture, store and transmit images of the fundus.”
Manufacturing Facilities
We currently have three contract manufacturing facilities, of which one has been inspected by FDA in the past, and observations were noted. There were
no findings that involved a significant violation of regulatory requirements. The responses to these observations have been accepted by FDA, and we believe
that we are in substantial compliance with the QSR. Like all manufacturers, we expect our contract manufacturers to be inspected by FDA again in the future.
If FDA finds significant shortcomings, we could be subject to fines, recalls or requirements to halt manufacturing.
U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws
In the United States, there are federal and state anti-kickback laws that prohibit the offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of kickbacks, bribes or other
remuneration, whether direct or indirect, overt or covert, in cash or in kind, intended, among other things, to induce the purchase or recommendation of
healthcare products and services. While the federal law applies only to products and services for which payment may be made by a federal healthcare
program, the state laws may apply regardless of whether any
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public healthcare funds are involved. Violations of these laws can lead to severe civil and criminal penalties, including exclusion from participation in
federal healthcare programs. These laws are potentially applicable to manufacturers of medical devices, such as us, and to hospitals, physicians and other
potential purchasers of medical devices. Other provisions of state and federal law provide civil and criminal penalties for presenting, or causing to be
presented, to third-party payers for reimbursement, claims that are false or fraudulent, or which are for items or services that were not provided as claimed.
Under the federal civil False Claims Act, in addition to actions initiated by federal law enforcement authorities, the statute authorizes “qui tam” actions to be
brought on behalf of the federal government by a private party in certain circumstances and, if successful, that private party can share in any monetary
recovery. Our business practices could be subject to scrutiny and challenge by federal or state enforcement officials or others under these laws. This type of
challenge could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are currently subject to an investigation by
the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) within the Department of Health and Human Services based on a subpoena served to us in the second quarter of 2006.
We are cooperating with the OIG with their informational request. In addition, we have recently become aware that we are the subject of an investigation by
the United States Department of Justice. We have not yet been informed of the subject of this investigation or received any formal request for information
relating to it.
Employees
As of December 31, 2006, we had a total of 123 employees. Of the total employees, 26 were in research and development, 72 in sales and marketing and
25 in general and administrative services. Two employees hold both M.D. and Ph.D. degrees, 5 additional employees hold Ph.D. degrees and 1 additional
employee holds an M.D. degree.
Our employees are not represented by a labor union and are not subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We have never experienced a work
stoppage. We believe our relations with our employees are good.
Available Information
We were organized as a corporation in the state of Delaware in 1996. Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, may be obtained
through the Investor Relations section of our website at www.neurometrix.com/investor as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file or furnish
these reports. We do not charge for access to and viewing of these reports. Information on our Investor Relations page and on our website is not part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of our other securities filings unless specifically incorporated herein by reference. In addition, the public may read and
copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission may be accessed through the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system at www.sec.gov.
All statements made in any of our securities filings, including all forward-looking statements or information, are made as of the date of the document in which
the statement is included, and we do not assume or undertake any obligation to update any of those statements or documents unless we are required to do so
by law.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the following risks and all other information contained in this annual report on Form 10-K and our other public filings
before making any investment decisions with respect to our common stock. If any of the following risks occurs, our business, prospects, reputation, results of
operations or financial condition could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and our stockholders could lose all or
part of their investment. This annual report also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of specific factors, including the risks described below and elsewhere in this
annual report.
We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and cannot assure you that we will sustain profitability.
The extent of our future operating income or losses is highly uncertain, and we may not be able to sustain profitability. We have incurred significant
cumulative net losses since our inception, including net losses of approximately $4.9 million in 2002, $3.9 million in 2003 and $4.7 million in 2004. In
2005 and 2006, we recorded net income of $249,000 and $4.3 million, respectively. At December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately
$53.7 million. We cannot assure you that we will be able to sustain the profitability achieved in 2005 and 2006.
If physicians or other healthcare providers are unable to obtain sufficient reimbursement from third-party healthcare payers for procedures performed
using our products, the adoption of our products and our future product sales will be severely harmed.
Widespread adoption of our products by the medical community is unlikely to occur if physicians do not receive sufficient reimbursement from thirdparty payers for performing procedures using our products. If physicians are unable to obtain adequate reimbursement for procedures performed using our
products, we may be unable to sell our products and our business would suffer significantly. Additionally, even if these procedures are reimbursed by thirdparty payers, adverse changes in payers’ policies toward reimbursement for the procedures would harm our ability to market and sell our products. Third-party
payers include those governmental programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, workers’ compensation programs, private health insurers and other
organizations. These organizations may deny coverage if they determine that a procedure was not reasonable or necessary, for example, if its use was not
considered medically appropriate, or was experimental, or was performed for an unapproved indication. In addition, some health care systems are moving
towards managed care arrangements in which they contract to provide comprehensive healthcare for a fixed cost per person, irrespective of the amount of care
actually provided. These providers, in an effort to control healthcare costs, are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services
and, in some instances, have pressured medical suppliers to lower their prices. If we are pressured to lower our prices, our revenues may decline and our
profitability could be harmed. CMS guidelines set the reimbursement rates for procedures covered by Medicare. Future regulatory action by CMS or other
governmental agencies or negative clinical results may diminish reimbursement payments to physicians for performing procedures using our products.
Medicaid reimbursement differs from state to state, and some state Medicaid programs may not reimburse physicians for performing procedures using our
products in an adequate amount, if at all. Additionally, some private payers do not follow the CMS and Medicaid guidelines and may reimburse for only a
portion of these procedures or not at all. We are unable to predict what changes will be made in the reimbursement methods used by private or governmental
third-party payers.
In particular, we note that as our presence in the market expands and the use of the NC-stat System increases, we are experiencing and are likely to
continue to experience an increased focus from third-party payers and governmental agencies regarding the reimbursement of nerve conduction studies
performed
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using the NC-stat System and an increased focus from these organizations regarding the professional requirements for performing nerve conduction studies in
general. At any point in time, a number of third-party payers may take positions adversely affecting reimbursement, including taking the position of not
reimbursing our customers for their use of the NC-stat System. During the second half of 2006 and early 2007, five local Medicare carriers covering a total of
twenty states issued draft LCDs, final LCDs or coding articles particularly addressing coverage and reimbursement policies for nerve conduction studies that
could adversely impact the reimbursement of the NC-stat System. Several of these carriers indicated that they will not reimburse physicians under Medicare
for nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System under the three existing CPT codes for conventional nerve conduction studies (95900,
95903 and 95904), which provide for levels of reimbursement fixed by CMS, but rather that physicians must submit claims for reimbursement for these
procedures under a miscellaneous CPT code (95999), in which case the local carriers will determine the level of reimbursement to be paid, if any. We do not
know what success our customers will have in obtaining reimbursement under the miscellaneous code or what level of reimbursement they may receive if
they are successful. The AMA CPT Editorial Panel has formed a committee which is expected to examine the reimbursement coding of automated nerve
conduction studies, including the NC-stat System and other traditional equipment. The findings of this committee may affect which CPT codes Medicare
carriers require from physicians who perform procedures with the NC-stat System. Additional third-party payers, including local Medicare carriers and
commercial payers, could potentially take a position that could reduce or eliminate the reimbursement for the NC-stat System. These payers may also impose
requirements on physicians to submit additional paperwork supporting the medical necessity of nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat
System. Such requirements could potentially impact the use of the NC-stat System and could potentially have a material and adverse impact on our revenues.
Additionally, the LCDs and coding articles issued by local Medicare carriers have also addressed a number of other issues, including (1) the background
and training of physicians supervising or performing nerve conduction studies; (2) the level of training requirements for technicians performing a nerve
conduction study; (3) whether nerve conduction tests should be required to be performed concomitantly with an nEMG procedure; and (4) whether the NCstat System is comparable to conventional nerve conduction testing equipment. We do not believe that these LCDs prohibit physicians from receiving
reimbursement for medically necessary nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System. However, these LCDs are relatively new and they do
appear targeted at limiting access to perform and/or reimbursement for nerve conduction studies. These LCDs could be interpreted or implemented in a
manner that limits the ability of physicians to receive reimbursement under Medicare for nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System.
If physicians do not receive access to and adequate reimbursement under the miscellaneous CPT code from those local carriers that currently, or in the
future, require procedures performed using the NC-stat System to be submitted using that code, our existing customers in those areas may limit or curtail their
use of the NC-stat System, we may be unable to obtain new customers and we may face increasing pricing pressure, all of which could materially adversely
impact our business and our revenues and profitability, in particular. If the LCDs recently adopted or reimbursement determinations adopted in the future
relating to the reimbursement of nerve conduction studies place additional restrictions or qualifications on the performance of these procedures generally or,
using the NC-stat System, our business, revenues and profitability could be materially adversely affected. For example, in the fourth quarter of 2006, we
experienced a decline in revenues from the third quarter of 2006, which we believe primarily resulted from the uncertainty created by the issuance of the draft
LCDs, final LCDs and coding articles issued by local Medicare carriers that are described above. Additionally, in the short-term, the uncertainty caused by
these recent changes, or other future changes, in third-party payers’ reimbursement policies regarding nerve conduction studies may cause existing customers
to reduce their use of the NC-stat System and potential new customers to defer a decision or decline to purchase the NC-stat System, which could materially
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adversely affect our business. We are expending and anticipate continuing to expend substantial resources to address potential reimbursement issues with
third-party payers. Widespread adoption of the NC-stat System by the medical community is unlikely to occur if physicians do not receive satisfactory
reimbursement from third-party payers for procedures performed with the NC-stat System.
We may be unable to expand the market for the NC-stat System, which would limit our ability to increase our revenues.
We believe that the drawbacks of traditional nerve conduction studies, including those related to the referral process, and the limited treatment options
for DPN, have limited the number of nerve conduction studies that are performed. For our future growth, we are relying, in part, on increased use of nerve
conduction studies. A number of factors could limit the increased use of nerve conduction studies and the NC-stat System, including:
· third-party payers challenging, or the threat of third-party payers challenging, the necessity of increased levels of nerve conduction studies;
· third-party payers reducing or eliminating reimbursement for procedures performed by physicians using the NC-stat System;
· unfavorable experiences by physicians using the NC-stat System;
· physicians’ reluctance to alter their existing practices; and
· the failure of other companies’ existing drug development programs to produce an effective treatment for DPN, which may limit the perceived need
and the actual use of the NC-stat System in connection with this disease, and thereby limit or delay our growth in the DPN market, which we have
estimated to be our largest potential market for our NC-stat System.
If we are unable to expand the market for the NC-stat System, our ability to increase our revenues will be limited and our business prospects will be
adversely affected.
We may not be able to accurately predict the size of the market for our products.
We may not be able to accurately predict the size of the market for our products. Neuropathies traditionally have been diagnosed by an NCS/nEMG
procedure, performed by a neurologist or physician in a related specialty. We estimate that there are approximately 2.0 million traditional NCS/nEMG
procedures performed each year in the United States; however, we anticipate that the advantages and increased availability of the NC-stat System will
significantly increase the number of nerve conduction studies performed. Based on our analysis of current data, we estimate that the potential market size for
the NC-stat System in the diabetes, low back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome markets in the aggregate could be greater than 9.5 million annual patient tests.
This represents a significant increase in the size of the market for nerve conduction studies and is based upon a number of assumptions and estimates, which
themselves may not be accurate. For example, we have assumed that all initial office visits for low back pain may represent an opportunity for use of the NCstat System, and we have estimated that an annual testing rate of 50% for all individuals diagnosed with diabetes represents the potential addressable market
in diabetes. We estimate that the size of the market for a point-of-service product for the detection of diabetic retinopathy could be nearly $700 million.
There are estimated to be 21 million people in the United States with diabetes and it is estimated that 15 million have actually been diagnosed with diabetes.
Using an eye examination fee of $45 per patient, this represents a potential market size of nearly $700 million. Market size is difficult to predict, and we
cannot assure you that our assumptions or estimates will prove to be correct. The industry and market data in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on which we
have based our assumptions and estimates of future market size, may be inaccurate or incomplete, and we have
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not independently verified those data. If our estimates of the sizes of the markets for our products is incorrect, our potential revenue growth may be limited.
If we are unable to successfully sell our products to primary care and specialist physicians, our ability to increase our revenues will be limited.
We are focusing our sales and marketing efforts for the NC-stat System and the DigiScope on primary care and specialist physicians. As these physicians
traditionally have not been targeted by companies selling equipment used to perform nerve conduction studies or eye scans, we may face difficulties in
selling our products to them. Particularly, we may be unable to convince these physicians that our products provide effective alternatives or useful
supplements to existing testing methods. In addition, these physicians may be reluctant to make the capital investment required to purchase the NC-stat
System or use the DigiScope and alter their existing practices. If we are unable to successfully sell our products to primary care and specialist physicians, our
ability to increase our revenues will be severely limited.
We are dependent on two single source manufacturers to produce the NC-stat System, and any change in our relationship with either of these
manufacturers could prevent us from delivering products to our customers in a timely manner and may materially adversely impact our future
revenues or costs.
We rely on two third-party manufacturers to manufacture all of the components of the NC-stat System. In the event that either of our manufacturers
ceases to manufacture sufficient quantities of our products in a timely manner and on terms acceptable to us, we would be forced to locate an alternate
manufacturer. Additionally, if either of our manufacturers experiences a failure in its production process, is unable to obtain sufficient quantities of the
components necessary to manufacture our products or otherwise fails to meet our quality requirements, we may be forced to delay the manufacture and sale of
our products or locate an alternative manufacturer. We may be unable to locate suitable alternative manufacturers for our products, particularly our NC-stat
biosensors, for which the manufacturing process is relatively specialized, on terms acceptable to us, or at all. We have entered into an exclusive
manufacturing and supply agreement with Parlex for the manufacture of the NC-stat biosensors, and currently rely on a single manufacturer, Sunburst, for the
manufacture of our NC-stat monitors and docking stations. We do occasionally experience transient inventory shortages on new products during the initial
production ramp-up phase. If any of the changes in our relationships with these manufacturers as described above occurs, our ability to supply our customers
will be severely limited until we are able to engage an alternate manufacturer or, if applicable, resolve any quality issues with our existing manufacturer. This
situation could prevent us from delivering products to our customers in a timely manner, lead to decreased sales or increased costs, or harm our reputation
with our customers.
If our manufacturers are unable to supply us with an adequate supply of products as we expand our markets, we could lose customers, our growth could
be limited and our business could be harmed.
In order for us successfully to expand our business within the United States and internationally, our contract manufacturers must be able to provide us
with our products in substantial quantities, in compliance with regulatory requirements, in accordance with agreed upon specifications, at acceptable cost
and on a timely basis. Our anticipated growth may strain the ability of our manufacturers to deliver an increasingly large supply of products and obtain
materials and components in sufficient quantities. Manufacturers often experience difficulties in scaling up production, including problems with production
yields and quality control and assurance. If we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities of high quality products to meet customer demand on a timely basis,
we could lose customers, our growth may be limited and our business could be harmed.
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We currently rely entirely on EyeTel for the production and supply of the DigiScope to customers and on the Wilmer Eye Institute for the analysis of
eye scans performed by our customers. Any interruption in supply of the DigiScope systems from EyeTel or any interruption in the services provided by
the Wilmer Eye Institute could significantly reduce our ability to generate revenues.
EyeTel is the sole manufacturer of the DigiScope and they serve as the only source of supply of systems to customers. If there were any interruption in
the manufacturing and supply capabilities of EyeTel, our ability to generate revenues from the DigiScope could be adversely impacted. The Wilmer Eye
Institute receives digital scans from customers using the DigiScope and eye specialists employed by the Wilmer Eye Institute analyze the images and within
24-48 hours after receipt provide a report to the physician who performed the eye scan indicating the results of the scan. If the Wilmer Eye Institute could not
continue to perform this service to our customers in a timely manner, our ability to generate revenues from the DigiScope could be materially adversely
impacted.
We currently rely entirely on sales of the products that comprise the NC-stat System to generate revenues, and any factors that negatively impact our
sales of these products could significantly reduce our ability to generate revenues.
We introduced the NC-stat System to the market in May 1999. We derive all of our revenues from sales of the products that comprise the NC-stat System,
and we expect that sales of these products will continue to constitute the substantial majority of our sales for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, our ability
to generate revenues is entirely reliant on our ability to market and sell the products that comprise the NC-stat System, particularly the disposable biosensors,
sales of which accounted for approximately 86.4%, 87.7% and 87.6% of our total revenues in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Our sales of these products
may be negatively impacted by many factors, including:
· changes or proposed changes in reimbursement rates or policies relating to our products by third-party payers;
· the failure of the market to accept our products;
· manufacturing problems;
· claims that our products infringe on patent rights or other intellectual property rights owned by other parties;
· adverse regulatory or legal actions relating to our products;
· competitive pricing and related factors; and
· results of clinical studies relating to our products or our competitors’ products.
If any of these events occurs, our ability to generate revenues could be significantly reduced.
The patent rights we rely upon to protect the intellectual property underlying our products may not be adequate, which could enable third parties to use
our technology and would harm our ability to compete in the market.
Our success will depend in part on our ability to develop or acquire commercially valuable patent rights and to protect these rights adequately. Our
patent position is generally uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions. The risks and uncertainties that we face with respect to our patents
and other related rights include the following:
· the pending patent applications we have filed or to which we have exclusive rights may not result in issued patents or may take longer than we expect
to result in issued patents;
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· the claims of any patents that are issued may not provide meaningful protection;
· we may not be able to develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;
· other parties may challenge patents, patent claims or patent applications licensed or issued to us; and
· other companies may design around technologies we have patented, licensed or developed.
We also may not be able to protect our patent rights effectively in some foreign countries. For a variety of reasons, we may decide not to file for patent
protection. Our patent rights underlying our products may not be adequate, and our competitors or customers may design around our proprietary technologies
or independently develop similar or alternative technologies or products that are equal or superior to our technology and products without infringing on any
of our patent rights. In addition, the patents licensed or issued to us may not provide a competitive advantage. If any of these events were to occur, our ability
to compete in the market would be harmed.
Other rights and measures we have taken to protect our intellectual property may not be adequate, which would harm our ability to compete in the
market.
In addition to patents, we rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyright and trademark laws, confidentiality, nondisclosure and assignment of
invention agreements and other contractual provisions and technical measures to protect our intellectual property rights. In particular, we have sought no
patent protection for the technology and algorithms we use in our onCall Information System, and we rely on trade secrets to protect this information. While
we currently require employees, consultants and other third parties to enter into confidentiality, non-disclosure or assignment of invention agreements or a
combination thereof where appropriate, any of the following could still occur:
· the agreements may be breached;
· we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;
· trade secrets and other proprietary information could be disclosed to our competitors; or
· others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or
disclose such technologies.
If, for any of the above reasons, our intellectual property is disclosed or misappropriated, it would harm our ability to protect our rights and our
competitive position.
We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights, which could be expensive and, if we lose, could
cause us to lose some of our intellectual property rights, which would harm our ability to compete in the market.
We rely on patents to protect a portion of our intellectual property and our competitive position. Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the
technology fields in which we operate is still evolving and, consequently, patent positions in the medical device industry are generally uncertain. In order to
protect or enforce our patent rights, we may initiate patent litigation against third parties, such as infringement suits or interference proceedings. Litigation
may be necessary to:
· assert claims of infringement;
· enforce our patents;
· protect our trade secrets or know-how; or
· determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others.
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Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensive, take significant time and divert management’s attention from other business concerns. Litigation also
puts our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Additionally, we may provoke third
parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be
commercially valuable. The occurrence of any of these events could harm our business, our ability to compete in the market or our reputation.
Claims that our products infringe on the proprietary rights of others could adversely affect our ability to sell our products and increase our costs.
Substantial litigation over intellectual property rights exists in the medical device industry. We expect that our products could be increasingly subject
to third-party infringement claims as the number of competitors grows and the functionality of products and technology in different industry segments
overlap. Third parties may currently have, or may eventually be issued, patents on which our products or technologies may infringe. Any of these third parties
might make a claim of infringement against us. Any litigation regardless of its impact would likely result in the expenditure of significant financial resources
and the diversion of management’s time and resources. In addition, litigation in which we are accused of infringement may cause negative publicity,
adversely impact prospective customers, cause product shipment delays or require us to develop non-infringing technology, make substantial payments to
third parties, or enter into royalty or license agreements, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If a successful claim of infringement were
made against us and we could not develop non-infringing technology or license the infringed or similar technology on a timely and cost-effective basis, our
revenues may decrease substantially and we could be exposed to significant liability.
We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, which could restrict the sales and marketing of the NC-stat System and could cause us to incur
significant costs.
We sell medical devices that are subject to extensive regulation in the United States by the FDA for manufacturing, labeling, sale, promotion,
distribution and shipping. Before a new medical device, or a new use of or claim for an existing product, can be marketed in the United States, it must first
receive either 510(k) clearance, grant of a de novo classification or pre-marketing approval from the FDA, unless an exemption applies. We may be required
to obtain a new 510(k) clearance or de novo classification or pre-market approval for significant post-market modifications to our products. Each of these
processes can be expensive and lengthy. The FDA’s process for granting 510(k) clearance usually takes approximately three months, but it can be
significantly longer. The process for obtaining de novo classification involves a level of scrutiny similar to the 510(k) clearance process. The process for
obtaining pre-market approval is much more costly and uncertain and it generally takes from one to three years, or longer, from the time the application is
filed with the FDA.
Medical devices may be marketed only for the indications for which they are approved or cleared. We have obtained 510(k) clearance for the current
clinical applications for which we market our products. However, our clearances can be revoked if safety or effectiveness problems develop. Further, we may
not be able to obtain additional 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals for new products or for modifications to, or additional indications for, our existing
products in a timely fashion, or at all. Delays in obtaining future clearances would adversely affect our ability to introduce new or enhanced products in a
timely manner, which in turn would harm our revenue and future profitability. We have made modifications to our devices in the past and may make
additional modifications in the future that we believe do not or will not require additional clearances or approvals. If the FDA disagrees, and requires new
clearances or approvals for the modifications, we may be required to recall and to stop marketing the modified devices. If any of these events occur, we may
not be able to provide our customers with the quantity of products they require on a timely basis, our reputation could be harmed, and we could lose
customers and suffer reduced revenues and increased costs.
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We also are subject to numerous post-marketing regulatory requirements, including quality system regulations, which relate to the design, manufacture,
packaging, labeling, storage, installation and servicing of our products, labeling regulations and medical device reporting regulations. Our failure or the
failure by any manufacturer of our products to comply with applicable regulatory requirements could result in enforcement action by the FDA, which may
include any of the following sanctions:
· warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;
· requiring repair, replacement, refunds, recall or seizure of our products;
· imposing operating restrictions, suspension or shutdown of production;
· refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or pre-market approval of new products, new intended uses, or modifications to existing products;
· withdrawing 510(k) clearance or pre-market approvals that have already been granted; and
· criminal prosecution.
If any of these events were to occur, they could harm our reputation, our ability to generate revenues and our profitability.
If we or the manufacturers of our products fail to comply with the FDA’s quality system regulations, the manufacturing and distribution of our products
could be interrupted, and our product sales and operating results could suffer.
We and our contract manufacturers are required to comply with the FDA’s quality system regulations, which is a complex regulatory scheme that covers
the procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage and shipping of
our devices. The FDA enforces its quality system regulations through periodic unannounced inspections. We cannot assure you that our facilities or the
facilities of the manufacturers of our products would pass any future quality system inspection. If our or any of the facilities of the manufacturers of our
products fail a quality system inspection, the manufacturing or distribution of our products could be interrupted and our operations disrupted. Failure to take
adequate and timely corrective action in response to an adverse quality system inspection could force a suspension or shutdown of our packaging and
labeling operations, the operations of the manufacturers of our products or a recall of our products. If any of these events occurs, we may not be able to
provide our customers with the quantity of products they require on a timely basis, our reputation could be harmed, and we could lose customers and suffer
reduced revenues and increased costs.
Our products are subject to recalls even after receiving FDA clearance or approval, which would harm our reputation, business and financial results.
We are subject to the medical device reporting regulations, which require us to report to the FDA if our products may have caused or contributed to a
death or serious injury, or have malfunctioned in a way that would be likely to have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury. The FDA and similar
governmental bodies in other countries have the authority to require the recall of our products if we or the manufacturers of our products fail to comply with
relevant regulations pertaining to manufacturing practices, labeling, advertising or promotional activities, or if new information is obtained concerning the
safety or efficacy of our products. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of manufacturing defects, labeling deficiencies,
packaging defects or other failures to comply with applicable regulations. Any recall would divert management attention and financial resources and harm
our reputation with customers. A recall involving the NC-stat System would be particularly harmful to our business and financial results because the products
that comprise the NC-stat System currently produce substantially all of our revenues.
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We are subject to federal and state laws prohibiting “kickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, which, if violated, could subject us to substantial
penalties. Additionally, any challenge to or investigation into our practices under these laws could cause adverse publicity and be costly to respond to,
and thus could harm our business.
A federal law commonly known as the Medicare/Medicaid anti-kickback law, and several similar state laws, prohibit any remuneration that is intended
to induce physicians or others either to refer patients or to acquire or arrange for or recommend the acquisition of healthcare products or services. These laws
constrain a medical device company’s sales, marketing and other promotional activities by limiting the kinds of business relationships and financial
arrangements, including sales programs we may have with hospitals, physicians or other potential purchasers of medical devices. Other federal and state laws
generally prohibit individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment to Medicare, Medicaid or other thirdparty payers that are false or fraudulent, or for items or services that were not provided as claimed. From time to time, we may provide coding and billing
information as product support to purchasers of our products. Several Medicare carriers, however, have developed articles or proposed LCDs suggesting or
imposing coverage, coding or billing guidelines that are not consistent with coding information we have provided based on then-existing guidelines. There
is a growing debate over how certain types of nerve conduction tests, including those performed using the NC-stat System, would be billed and assessed in
connection with Medicare claims. Accordingly, we cannot predict how the government would regard what it might allege to be billing or coding errors made
with respect to services rendered using our products and cannot predict whether the government might assert that any such errors were not inadvertent and
therefore potentially subject to the federal civil Federal Claims Act or other laws that could be potentially applicable to us. Anti-kickback and false claims
laws prescribe civil and criminal penalties for noncompliance, which can be quite substantial including exclusion from participation in federal healthcare
programs. In the event that we are found to have violated these laws or determine to settle a claim that we have done so, our business may be materially
adversely affected as a result of any payments required to be made, restrictions on our future operations or actions required to be taken, damage to our
business reputation or adverse publicity in connection with such a finding or settlement or other adverse effects relating thereto. Additionally, even an
unsuccessful challenge or investigation into our practices could cause adverse publicity, and be costly to respond to, and thus could harm our business and
results of operations.
We note that in the second quarter of 2006, we received a subpoena from the OIG of the Department of Health and Human Services requesting
documents from us in connection with an investigation of potential violations of the federal anti-kickback statute and False Claims Act. We are cooperating
with the OIG with their information request and there are presently no actions against us of which we are aware.
We are the subject of an investigation by the United States Department of Justice, which could cause adverse publicity, be costly to respond to or lead to
civil or criminal charges against us or our employees, any of which could materially adversely affect our business.
We have recently become aware that we are the subject of an investigation by the United States Department of Justice. We have not yet been informed of
the subject matter of this investigation or received any formal requests for information relating to it. This investigation could cause adverse publicity, be
costly to respond to or lead to civil or criminal charges against us or our employees, any of which could adversely affect our business.
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If we are found to have violated laws protecting the confidentiality of patient health information, we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties,
which could increase our liabilities and harm our reputation or our business.
There are a number of federal and state laws protecting the confidentiality of individually identifiable patient health information, including patient
records, and restricting the use and disclosure of that protected information. In particular, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services promulgated
patient privacy rules under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA. These privacy rules protect medical records and other
personal health information by limiting their use and disclosure, giving individuals the right to access, amend and seek accounting of their own health
information and limiting most use and disclosures of health information to the minimum amount reasonably necessary to accomplish the intended purpose.
Although we do not believe that we are subject to the HIPAA rules because we receive patient data in our onCall Information System and the Wilmer Eye
Institute receives patient data on an anonymous basis, without patient identifiers, the exact scope of these rules has not been clearly established. If we are
found to be in violation of the privacy rules under HIPAA, we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties, which could increase our liabilities and harm our
reputation or our business.
The use of our products could result in product liability claims that could be expensive, damage our reputation and harm our business.
Our business exposes us to an inherent risk of potential product liability claims related to the manufacturing, marketing and sale of medical devices. The
medical device industry historically has been litigious, and we face financial exposure to product liability claims if the use of our products were to cause or
contribute to injury or death. In particular, the NC-stat System may be susceptible to claims of injury because it involves the electric stimulation of a patient’s
nerves. Additionally, because the DigiScope tests for diabetic retinopathy, which is a condition that can lead to loss of vision or blindness if untreated, we
could be subject to claims of injury relating to any actual or claimed inadequacy, error or malfunction of the DigiScope in testing for this condition or the
Wilmer-EyeTel Reading Center in reading the results of the test performed by the DigiScope and communicating them to the physician. Although we
maintain product liability insurance for our products and other commercial insurance, the coverage limits of these policies may not be adequate to cover
future claims. As sales and use of our products increase, we may be unable to maintain sufficient product liability or other commercial insurance on
acceptable terms or at reasonable costs, and this insurance may not provide us with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. A successful claim
brought against us in excess of, or outside of, our insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
A product liability claim, regardless of its merit or eventual outcome, could result in substantial costs to us, a substantial diversion of management attention
and adverse publicity. A product liability claim could also harm our reputation and result in a decline in revenues and an increase in expenses.
Our products are complex in design, and defects may not be discovered prior to shipment to customers, which could result in warranty obligations or
product liability or other claims, reducing our revenues and increasing our costs and liabilities.
We depend upon third parties for the manufacture of our products. Our products, particularly our NC-stat biosensors, require a significant degree of
technical expertise to produce. If these manufacturers fail to produce our products to specification, or if the manufacturers use defective materials or
workmanship in the manufacturing process, the reliability and performance of our products will be compromised.
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If our products contain defects that cannot be repaired quickly, easily and inexpensively, we may experience:
· loss of customer orders and delay in order fulfillment;
· damage to our brand reputation;
· increased cost of our warranty program due to product repair or replacement;
· inability to attract new customers;
· diversion of resources from our manufacturing and research and development departments into our service department; and
· legal action.
The occurrence of any one or more of the foregoing could harm our reputation and materially reduce our revenues and increase our costs and liabilities.
If we lose any of our officers or key employees, our management and technical expertise could be weakened significantly.
Our success largely depends on the skills, experience and efforts of our officers, including Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., our founder and President and
Chief Executive Officer; Gary L. Gregory, our Chief Operating Officer; Guy Daniello, our Senior Vice President of Information Technology; Michael
Williams, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President of Engineering; W. Bradford Smith, our Chief Financial Officer; and our other key employees. We maintain a $5.0
million key person life insurance policy on Dr. Gozani, for which the Company is the beneficiary, but do not maintain key person life insurance policies
covering any of our other employees. The loss of any of our officers or key employees could weaken our management and technical expertise significantly
and harm our business.
If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skilled and experienced personnel, our ability to manage and expand our business will be harmed, which
would impair our future revenues and profitability.
We are a small company with only 123 employees as of December 31, 2006, and our ability to retain our skilled labor force and our success in attracting
and hiring new skilled employees will be a critical factor in determining our future performance. We may not be able to meet our future hiring needs or retain
existing personnel. We will face challenges and risks in hiring, training, managing and retaining engineering and sales and marketing employees, as well as
independent regional sales agencies and sales representatives, most of whom are geographically dispersed and must be trained in the use and benefits of our
products. Failure to attract and retain personnel, particularly technical and sales and marketing personnel, would materially harm our ability to compete
effectively and grow our business.
If we do not effectively manage our growth, our business resources may become strained, we may not be able to deliver our products in a timely manner
and our results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
In the past two years we have significantly increased our sales force and our total headcount. This growth, as well as any other growth that we may
experience in the future, will provide challenges to our organization and may strain our management and operations. We may misjudge the amount of time or
resources that will be required to effectively manage any anticipated or unanticipated growth in our business or we may not be able to attract, hire and retain
sufficient personnel to meet our needs. If we cannot scale our business appropriately, maintain control over expenses or otherwise adapt to anticipated and
unanticipated growth, our business resources may become strained, we may not be able to deliver our products in a timely manner and our results of
operations may be materially adversely affected.
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If we are unable to successfully expand, develop and retain our sales force and maintain our independent sales agent network, our revenues may
decline, our future revenue growth may be limited and our expenses may increase.
As of December 31, 2006, we employed 50 regional sales managers and 3 sales directors and utilized a network of over 1,000 independent sales agents.
We are highly dependent on our regional sales managers and independent sales agents to generate our revenues. Our ability to build and develop a strong
sales force will be affected by a number of factors, including:
· our ability to attract, integrate and motivate sales personnel;
· our ability to effectively train our sales force;
· the ability of our sales force to sell an increased number of products;
· the length of time it takes new sales personnel to become productive;
· the competition we face from other companies in hiring and retaining sales personnel;
· our ability to effectively manage a multi-location sales organization;
· our ability to enter into agreements with prospective members of our sales force on commercially reasonable terms; and
· our ability to get our independent sales agencies, who may sell products of multiple companies, to commit the necessary resources to effectively
market and sell our products.
If we are unable to successfully build, develop and retain a strong sales force, our revenues may decline, our revenue growth may be limited and our
expenses may increase.
Failure to develop or enter into relationships to sell products other than our existing products or enhance our existing products could have an adverse
effect on our business prospects.
For the year ended December 31, 2006, all of our revenues were derived from selling the NC-stat System. Our future business and financial success will
depend, in part, on our ability to continue to introduce or sell new products and upgraded products into the marketplace. Developing new products and
upgrades to existing and future products imposes burdens on our research and development department and our management. This process is costly, and we
cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully develop new products or enhance the NC-stat System or any future products. We also may not be able
to enter into relationships with other companies to sell additional products. In addition, as we develop the market for our products, future competitors may
develop desirable product features earlier than we do, which could make our competitors’ products less expensive or more effective than our products and
could render our products obsolete or unmarketable. If our product development efforts are unsuccessful, we will have incurred significant costs without
recognizing the expected benefits and our business prospects may suffer.
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We currently compete, and may in the future need to compete, against certain specialist physicians, such as neurologists, who perform traditional nerve
conduction studies and other medical device companies with potentially greater resources, more established distribution channels and other
competitive advantages, and the success of these competitors may harm our ability to generate revenues.
We currently do, and in the future may need to, compete directly and indirectly with a number of other companies that enjoy significant competitive
advantages over us. Currently, in the point-of-service market, we indirectly compete with companies that sell traditional NCS/nEMG equipment. In this
market, these companies are indirect competitors because the equipment they sell traditionally has been used by neurologists, who rely upon and seek to
obtain referrals from primary care and specialist physicians to perform the same types of tests that may be performed by primary care and specialist physicians
using the NC-stat System. Additionally, in selling the NC-stat System to neurologists, which is not a market we historically have focused on, we compete
directly with the companies that sell traditional NCS/nEMG equipment. There are a number of companies that sell traditional NCS/nEMG equipment
including Viasys Healthcare Inc., Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. and Xltec, Inc. Additionally, we are aware of one company, Neumed, Inc., that markets a nerve
conduction study system to the point-of-service market. Of these companies, Viasys Healthcare, in particular, enjoy significant competitive advantages,
including:
· greater resources for product development, sales and marketing;
· more established distribution networks;
· greater name recognition;
· more established relationships with health care professionals, customers and third-party payers; and
· additional lines of products and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer discounts or incentives.
As we develop the market for point-of-service nerve conduction studies, we may be faced with competition from these companies or others that decide
and are able to enter this market. Some or all of our future competitors in the point-of-service market may enjoy competitive advantages such as those
described above. If we are unable to compete effectively against existing and future competitors, our sales will decline and our business will be harmed.
Currently, we believe that our most direct competitors are certain specialist physicians, such as neurologists, who perform traditional nerve conduction
studies and may view the NC-stat System as competitive with or a threat to their business. Because of the level of automation and the ease of use of the NCstat System, the NC-stat System facilitates the performance of nerve conduction studies within the offices of a wider range of physicians. Accordingly,
neurologists, including a professional society representing a subset of neurologists who most frequently perform traditional nerve conduction studies, have
competed and may continue to compete with us by advancing positions that are adverse to the NC-stat System. We believe this competition has come, and is
most likely to continue to come, through the advancement of positions challenging the effectiveness and accuracy of the NC-stat System and the ability of
non-specialist physicians to perform nerve conduction studies and accurately diagnose neuropathies. Because specialist physicians and professional societies
may be viewed as authoritative, without regard to their potential economic motives, and may have connections to or influence with various regulatory bodies
and third-party payers, they may have a competitive advantage over us and their positions may lead to or be reflected in actions taken by these regulatory
bodies and third-party payers that are adverse to our business.
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We are dependent upon the computer and communications infrastructure employed and utilized by our onCall Information System, and any failures or
disruptions in this infrastructure could impact our revenues and profit margins or harm our reputation.
We are dependent upon the computer and communications infrastructure employed and utilized by our onCall Information System. Our computer and
communications infrastructure consists of standard hardware, off-the-shelf system software components, database servers, proprietary application servers, a
modem bank and desktop applications. Our future success in selling the NC-stat System will depend, in part, upon the maintenance and growth of this
infrastructure. Any failures or outages of this infrastructure as a result of a computer virus, intentional disruption of our systems by a third-party,
manufacturing failure, telephone system failure, fire, storm, flood, power loss or other similar events, could prevent or delay the operation of our onCall
Information System, which could result in increased costs to eliminate these problems and address related security concerns and harm our reputation with our
customers. In addition, if our infrastructure fails to accommodate growth in customer transactions, customer satisfaction could be impaired, we could lose
customers, our ability to add customers could be impaired or our costs could be increased, any of which would harm our business.
If future clinical studies or other articles are published, or physician associations or other organizations announce positions, that are unfavorable to
our products, our sales efforts and revenues may be negatively affected.
Future clinical studies or other articles regarding our existing products or any competing products may be published that either support a claim, or are
perceived to support a claim, that a competitor’s product is more accurate or effective than our products or that our products are not as accurate or effective as
we claim or previous clinical studies have concluded. Additionally, physician associations or other organizations that may be viewed as authoritative or have
an economic interest in nerve conduction studies and in related electrodiagnostic procedures or other procedures that may be performed using our products
could endorse products or methods that compete with our products or otherwise announce positions that are unfavorable to our products. We have
experienced this with the professional societies representing the neurologist community. Any of these events may negatively affect our sales efforts and result
in decreased revenues.
Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may need to raise additional funds in the future, and these funds may not be available on acceptable
terms or at all.
We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents together with our short-term investments and the cash to be generated from expected product sales
will be sufficient to meet our projected operating requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, we may seek additional funds from public and
private stock offerings, borrowings under credit lines or other sources. Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
· the revenues generated by sales of our products;
· the costs associated with any expansion of our sales and marketing efforts;
· the expenses we incur in manufacturing and selling our products;
· the costs of developing new products or technologies and enhancements to existing products;
· the cost of obtaining and maintaining FDA approval or clearance of our products and products in development;
· costs associated with any expansion;
· the costs associated with capital expenditures; and
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· the number and timing of any acquisitions or other strategic transactions.
As a result of these factors, we may need to raise additional funds, and these funds may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. Furthermore, if we
issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, our existing stockholders may experience dilution, and the new equity or debt securities may have
rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaboration, licensing or
other similar arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms
that are not favorable to us. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to develop or enhance our products, execute our business plan,
take advantage of future opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated customer requirements. If any of these events occurs, our ability
to achieve our development and commercialization goals would be adversely affected.
If we choose to acquire or invest in new businesses, products or technologies, instead of developing them ourselves, these acquisitions or investments
could disrupt our business and could result in the use of significant amounts of equity, cash or a combination of both.
From time to time we may seek to acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies, instead of developing them ourselves. Acquisitions and
investments involve numerous risks, including:
· the inability to complete the acquisition or investment;
· disruption of our ongoing businesses and diversion of management attention;
· difficulties in integrating the acquired entities, products or technologies;
· difficulties in operating the acquired business profitably;
· the inability to achieve anticipated synergies, cost savings or growth;
· potential loss of key employees, particularly those of the acquired business;
· difficulties in transitioning and maintaining key customer, distributor and supplier relationships;
· risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience; and
· unanticipated costs.
In addition, any future acquisitions or investments may result in one or more of the following:
· issuances of dilutive equity securities, which may be sold at a discount to market price;
· the use of significant amounts of cash;
· the incurrence of debt;
· the assumption of significant liabilities;
· increased operating costs or reduced earnings;
· financing obtained on unfavorable terms;
· large one-time expenses; and
· the creation of certain intangible assets, including goodwill, the write-down of which may result in significant charges to earnings.
Any of these factors could materially harm our stock price, our business or our operating results.

38

If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreign markets, we will be affected by new business risks that may materially adversely impact our financial
condition or results of operations.
If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreign markets, we will be subject to new business risks, including:
· failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requirements to market our products;
· availability of, and changes in, reimbursement within prevailing foreign health care payment systems;
· adapting to the differing business practices and laws in foreign countries;
· difficulties in managing foreign relationships and operations, including any relationships that we establish with foreign distributors or sales or
marketing agents;
· limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
· difficulty in collecting accounts receivable and longer collection periods;
· costs of enforcing contractual obligations in foreign jurisdictions;
· recessions in economies outside of the United States;
· political instability and unexpected changes in diplomatic and trade relationships;
· currency exchange rate fluctuations; and
· potentially adverse tax consequences.
If we are successful in introducing our products into foreign markets, we will be affected by these additional business risks, which may materially
adversely impact our financial condition or results of operations. In addition, expansion into foreign markets imposes additional burdens on our executive
and administrative personnel, research and sales departments, and general managerial resources. Our efforts to introduce our products into foreign markets
may not be successful, in which case we may have expended significant resources without realizing the expected benefit. Ultimately, the investment required
for expansion into foreign markets could exceed the revenues generated from this expansion.
Our operating results may fluctuate due to various factors and, as a result, period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations will not
necessarily be meaningful.
Factors relating to our business make our future operating results uncertain and may cause them to fluctuate from period to period. These factors include:
· changes in the availability of third-party reimbursement in the United States or other countries;
· the timing of new product announcements and introductions by us or our competitors;
· market acceptance of new or enhanced versions of our products;
· changes in manufacturing costs or other expenses;
· competitive pricing pressures;
· the gain or loss of significant distribution outlets or customers;
· increased research and development expenses;
· the timing of any future acquisitions; or
· general economic conditions.
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Because our operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, it may be difficult for us or our investors to predict our future performance by
viewing our historical operating results.
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if an acquisition
would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our
current management.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our board of
directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these provisions:
· authorize the issuance of preferred stock which can be created and issued by the board of directors without prior stockholder approval, with rights
senior to those of our common stock;
· provide for a classified board of directors, with each director serving a staggered three-year term;
· prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacancies, calling special stockholder meetings, or taking action by written consent;
· provide for the removal of a director only with cause and by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% or more of the shares then entitled to vote at an
election of our directors; and
· require advance written notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations.
We have adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from
acquiring, the Company or a large block of our common stock. A third party that acquires 15% or more of our common stock (an “acquiring person”) could
suffer substantial dilution of its ownership interest under the terms of the Shareholder Rights Plan through the issuance of common stock to all shareholders
other than the acquiring person.
In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit certain business combinations
with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware
law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by our
then-current board of directors, including a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving our company. Any delay or prevention of a change of control
transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
We do not intend to pay cash dividends.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in
the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of any future
debt or credit facility may preclude us from paying any dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders sole
source of potential gain for the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
We have not received written comments from the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding our periodic or current reports under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 180 days or more before December 31, 2006 that remain unresolved.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in a 30,000 square foot facility in Waltham, Massachusetts, which we occupy under an office lease expiring in March 2009.
We believe that our existing facility is adequate for our current needs.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently party to any material legal proceedings. However, we may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings arising in
the ordinary course of our business.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2006, through the solicitation of
proxies or otherwise.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “NURO”. The price range per share reflected in the table below is the
high and low closing sales prices of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ for the periods indicated.
Years ended December 31,
2006
2005
High
Low
High
Low

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

$ 39.19
$ 40.39
$ 33.18
$ 19.85

$ 28.00
$ 25.73
$ 18.74
$ 13.52

$ 11.65
$ 20.03
$ 30.20
$ 37.23

$ 9.28
$ 9.05
$ 19.57
$ 26.91

On March 21, 2007, there were approximately 113 stockholders of record of our common stock. This number does not include stockholders for whom
shares were held in a “nominee” or “street” name. On March 21, 2007, the last reported sale price per share of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market was $9.44.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion
and growth of our business and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Payment of future cash dividends, if any, will be at the
discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, operating results, current and anticipated cash
needs and plans for expansion.
See Part III, Item 12 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans.
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COMPARATIVE STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following graph shows the cumulative stockholder return of our common stock from July 22, 2004 (the first trading day for our common stock)
through December 31, 2006 as compared with that of the Nasdaq (U.S. Companies) Index and the Nasdaq Medical Device Manufacturers Index. The total
stockholder return is measured by dividing the per share price change of the respective securities, plus dividends, if any, for each period shown by the share
price at the end of the particular period. The graph assumes the investment of $100 in our common stock and each of the comparison groups on July 22, 2004
and assumes the reinvestment of dividends. We have never declared a dividend on our common stock. The stock price performance depicted in the graph
below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.

NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S.)
Nasdaq Medical Device Manuf. Index
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07/22/04

12/31/04

12/31/05

12/31/06

$100.00
$100.00
$100.00

$146.88
$115.25
$112.49

$341.00
$117.69
$123.50

$186.38
$129.32
$130.24

ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and our financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We have restated our financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 to correct errors in accounting for sales
taxes. See Note 2—Restatement of the Notes to Financial Statements:
Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
2002
(as
(as
(as
(as
restated)
restated)
restated)
restated)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2006

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross margin
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1)
Sales and marketing(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense), net
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Accretion of dividend on redeemable convertible preferred
stock
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible preferred stock
Beneficial conversion feature associated with redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
(1)

$

55,250 $
13,558
41,692

34,298 $
8,858
25,440

17,920 $
4,853
13,067

5,011
22,014
11,805
38,829
2,862
1,598
4,461
193
4,268

3,821
14,150
8,022
25,993
(553)
837
284
35
249

3,268
8,488
5,267
17,024
(3,957)
(750)
(4,707)
—
(4,707)

2,397
4,768
3,052
10,217
(3,756)
(113)
(3,869)
—
(3,869)

2,146
2,870
2,774
7,790
(4,935)
41
(4,894)
—
(4,894)

(1,386)
(788)

(2,009)
—

(1,893)
(6,873)

—
—

—
—

$

—
4,268 $

$
$

0.34 $
0.33 $

12,501,742
13,097,891

—
(7,051)
249 $ (13,932) $
0.02 $
0.02 $

(2.42) $
(2.42) $

9,168 $
2,707
6,461

4,225
1,370
2,855

—
—
(5,878) $ (13,660)
(5.66) $
(5.66) $

12,152,139
12,986,365

5,747,579
5,747,579

1,038,817
1,038,817

77 $
168
161

249 $
356
423

35 $
37
25

(13.27)
(13.27)

1,029,210
1,029,210

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense included in these amounts is as follows:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

471 $
821
1,361
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7
6
37

As of December 31,
2005
2004
2003
(as
(as
(as
restated)
restated)
restated)
(in thousands)

2006

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Working capital
Long-term investments
Total assets
Long-term debt and other long-term liabilities
Warrants for redeemable convertible preferred stock
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity(deficit)

$

7,910 $
32,411
41,894
—
55,706
73
—
—
(53,687)
43,409

8,170 $
24,082
33,268
—
42,897
131
—
—
(57,955)
34,833

1,936 $
18,575
21,774
9,497
37,953
189
—
—
(58,204)
33,330

2002
(as
restated)

1,623 $
—
2,451
—
7,218
2,232
450
47,694
(45,204)
(45,805)

2,701
—
3,623
—
7,053
124
—
45,684
(39,961)
(40,029)

The data set forth above have been restated as necessary to give effect to the restatement adjustments described in Note 2 to our financial statements. The
effects of the restatement adjustments on our Statements of Operations and Balance Sheets for the years ending December 31, 2005 and 2004 are set forth in
Note 2 to our financial statements and the effects of the restatement adjustments on our Statements of Operations and Balance Sheets for the years ending
December 31, 2003 and 2002 are set forth in the table below:
The impact of correcting these errors results in an increase in accrued liabilities of $303,000 and $101,000 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, an increase in general and administrative expenses of $202,000 and $101,000, respectively, and a reduction of net income available to common
stockholders of $202,000 and $101,000, for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The following table presents the impact of the restatement:
2003
As Previously
Reported
Restated

Statements of Operations:
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Balance sheet:
Working capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

$

45

2,850
10,015
(3,554)
(3,667)
(3,667)
(5,676)

$

3,052
10,217
(3,756)
(3,869)
(3,869)
(5,878)

2002
As Previously
Reported
Restated

$

2,673
7,689
(4,834)
(4,793)
(4,793)
(13,559)

$

2,774
7,790
(4,935)
(4,894)
(4,894)
(13,660)

(5.46)
(5.46)

(5.66)
(5.66)

(13.17)
(13.17)

(13.27)
(13.27)

2,754
(44,901)
(45,502)

2,451
(45,204)
(45,805)

3,724
(39,860)
(39,928)

3,623
(39,961)
(40,029)

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our selected financial data, our
financial statements and the accompanying notes to those financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set forth under the section titled “Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements.
We have restated our financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 to correct errors in accounting for sales taxes. See
Note 2—Restatement of the Notes to Financial Statements.
Overview
NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996. We design, develop and sell proprietary medical devices used to help physicians diagnose neuropathies and
neurovascular disease. Our proprietary technology provides physicians with an in-office diagnostic system, the NC-stat System, which enables physicians to
make rapid and accurate diagnoses of neuropathies, including carpal tunnel syndrome, low back and leg pain and diabetic peripheral neuropathy. The NCstat System is comprised of: (1) disposable single use NC-stat biosensors that are placed on the patient’s body; (2) the NC-stat monitor and related
components; and (3) the NC-stat docking station, an optional device that enables the physician’s office to transmit data to our onCall Information System.
Each component of the NC-stat System is also sold separately. The sensitivity of the nervous system to metabolic and mechanical damage, compounded by
its limited regenerative ability, creates a market opportunity for a medical device that can assist in point-of-service diagnoses of neuropathies in a manner
that is cost-effective for the patient and third-party payer. We believe the ease of use, accuracy and convenience provided by the NC-stat System position it to
become a standard of care for the assessment of neuropathies at the point-of-service.
Neurovascular disease includes conditions such as retinopathy, an eye disease prevalent in patients with diabetes. We hold an exclusive sales and
marketing license to a product known as the DigiScope, which allows primary care and specialist physicians to diagnose diabetic retinopathy and refer
patients to the ophthalmologist for treatment if deemed necessary based on the results. It is recommended by the ADA that all patients with diabetes receive
an annual dilated eye examination to monitor vision. There are approximately 21 million people in the United States with diabetes according to the ADA and
only approximately 50% comply with the recommendation to have an annual eye examination. We believe that a product such as the DigiScope in primary
care physicians’ and endocrinologists’ offices could potentially lead to an increase in the level of testing and result in the earlier detection of eye diseases in
patients with diabetes.
We derive our revenues from the sale of NC-stat biosensors, monitors and docking stations directly to end users, which are generally physician practice
groups. We did not derive any revenues in 2006 or prior years from the DigiScope system for the detection of diabetic retinopathy. Sales and marketing
efforts for this product were initiated in the first quarter of 2007. Our NC-stat biosensors are disposable products that are used once and inactivated after use.
The NC-stat monitor is an electronic instrument that is used with the NC-stat biosensors to perform nerve conduction studies for the purpose of diagnosing
neuropathies. The NC-stat monitor displays the pertinent results of nerve conduction studies on an LCD screen immediately at the conclusion of each study.
The NC-stat docking station is an optional device that is used to transmit to the onCall Information System data generated by the nerve conduction study
performed with the NC-stat monitor. The onCall Information System formulates the data it receives for each test into a detailed report that is provided to the
customer through facsimile or e-mail.
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Reimbursement from third-party payers is an important element of success for medical products companies. Generally, we believe that the nerve
conduction studies performed by our customers with the NC-stat System have been satisfactorily covered by third-party payers. As our presence in the market
expands and the use of the NC-stat System increases, we have experienced and are likely to continue to experience an increased focus from third-party payers
and governmental agencies regarding the reimbursement of nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System and an increased focus from these
organizations regarding the professional requirements for performing nerve conduction studies in general. At any point in time, a number of third-party
payers may take the position of not reimbursing our customers for their use of the NC-stat System. During the second half of 2006 and early 2007, five local
Medicare carriers covering a total of twenty states issued draft LCDs, final LCDs or coding articles particularly addressing coverage and reimbursement
policies under Medicare for nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System. Several of these carriers indicated that they will not reimburse
physicians under Medicare for nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System under the three existing CPT codes for conventional nerve
conduction studies (95900, 95903 and 95904), which provide for levels of reimbursement fixed by CMS, but rather that physicians must submit claims for
reimbursement for these procedures under a miscellaneous CPT code (95999), in which case the local carriers may determine the level of reimbursement to be
paid, if any. We do not know what success our customers will have in obtaining reimbursement under the miscellaneous code or what level of reimbursement
they may receive if they are successful. If physicians do not receive adequate reimbursement under the miscellaneous CPT code from those local carriers, our
existing customers may limit or curtail their use of the NC-stat System and we may be unable to obtain new customers, both of which could materially and
adversely impact our revenues and profitability. The AMA CPT Editorial Panel has formed a committee which is expected to examine the reimbursement
coding of automated nerve conduction studies, including the NC-stat System and other traditional equipment. The findings of this committee may affect
which CPT codes Medicare carriers and commercial payers require from physicians who perform procedures with the NC-stat System. Additional third-party
payers, including local Medicare carriers and commercial payers, could potentially take a position that could reduce or eliminate the reimbursement for the
NC-stat System. These payers may also impose requirements on physicians to submit additional paperwork supporting the medical necessity of nerve
conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System. Such requirements could potentially impact the use of the NC-stat System and could potentially
have an adverse impact on our revenues.
Additionally, the LCDs and coding articles issued by local Medicare carriers have also addressed a number of other issues, including (1) the background
and training of physicians supervising or performing nerve conduction studies; (2) the level of training requirements for technicians performing a nerve
conduction study; (3) whether nerve conduction tests should be required to be performed concomitantly with an nEMG procedure; and (4) whether the NCstat System is comparable to conventional nerve conduction testing equipment. We do not believe that these LCDs prohibit physicians from receiving
reimbursement under Medicare for medically necessary nerve conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System. However, these LCDs are relatively
new and they do appear to be targeted at limiting access to perform and/or reimbursement for nerve conduction studies. These LCDs could be interpreted or
implemented in a manner that limits the ability of physicians to receive reimbursement under Medicare for nerve conduction studies performed using the NCstat System, which could adversely affect our business.
One of the primary challenges we face in our business is successfully expanding the market for nerve conduction studies. A successful market expansion
will depend upon, in part, our targeting of primary care and specialist physicians who traditionally have not been targeted by companies selling equipment
used to perform nerve conduction studies and our ability to alter physicians’ practices relating to the diagnosis of neuropathies. In order to successfully
implement this growth strategy, we have established a sales force of 53 employees, including 50 regional sales managers, as of December 31, 2006. We have
also expanded the
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network of independent sales agents we use to generate sales leads for our regional sales managers through the signing of agreements with PSS and with
Henry Schein. PSS has a direct sales force of nearly 700 representatives and Henry Schein has a direct sales force of over 300 sales representatives. As a result
we now have over 1,200 independent sales agents assisting us in our efforts to penetrate the market of primary care and specialist physicians. We also will
participate in various industry conferences in order to accelerate the market awareness and adoption of our products. These efforts, as well as the overall
expansion of our business, will provide challenges to our organization and may increase the burden on our management and operations. We plan to monitor
our business as it grows and appropriately acquire and allocate resources to address these issues, with a goal of sustaining profitable growth.
Our long-term financial objectives are to grow our business through the sale of the NC-stat System and the DigiScope and additional products that may
be commercialized for the diagnosis and treatment of neuropathies and to achieve sustainable profitability. However, during 2007 our revenues may not
increase and could decline and we may not be able to sustain the profitability we achieved in the second half of 2005 and in 2006 as a result of the
reimbursement and other issues we are currently facing. Our efforts in 2007 will focus on (1) sales of the NC-stat System, (2) sales and marketing of the
DigiScope for the detection of diabetic retinopathy, (3) the expected launch of the ADVANCE System, (4) efforts to manage the reimbursement challenges
posed by third-party payers for the NC-stat System and (5) our ongoing research and development programs. During 2007, we expect to continue efforts on
improvements to our biosensors, on the development of new biosensors, on the development of products to diagnose additional neuropathies, on the
development of a product for the minimally invasive treatment of neuropathies and on the final development efforts on the ADVANCE System. During 2007,
we expect to enter the clinical stage of development of our product for the local delivery of drugs for the treatment of neuropathies by both primary care and
specialist physicians. We believe that the accomplishment of these goals will have a positive impact on our progress toward the long-term objective of
growing the business and achieving sustainable profitability.
Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment” (“SFAS
No. 123(R)”), which requires that the cost resulting from all share-based payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements. SFAS No. 123(R) is a
revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”) and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”) and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—
an amendment of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123” (“SFAS No. 148”). This statement establishes fair value as the measurement
objective in accounting for share-based payment arrangements and requires all entities to apply a fair value based measurement method in accounting for
share-based payment transactions with employees except for equity instruments held by employee share ownership plans. As a result, beginning January 1,
2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective method and have begun reflecting the stock-based compensation expense determined
under fair value based methods in the income statement rather than as pro forma disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. Prior period results have
not been revised. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model for determining the fair value of its stock options and amortize our stock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line method. During 2006, we recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $2.7 million.
Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation plans in accordance with the provisions of APB No. 25, as permitted by
SFAS No. 123, and accordingly did not recognize compensation expense for the issuance of options with an exercise price equal to or greater than the fair
value of common stock at the date of grant.
We expect stock-based compensation expense recognized in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R) to increase in 2007, but this will be
dependent on the magnitude of additional stock options
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granted. The stock-based compensation expense recognized in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 96-18 “Accounting for Equity
Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services” for option grants to non-employees
may vary significantly based on the performance of the Company’s stock price, to the extent unvested, as these grants are remeasured at the end of each
reporting period.
In October 2006, we entered into an exclusive seven year licensing agreement with EyeTel. The agreement grants us an exclusive license to market,
brand and sell EyeTel’s DigiScope throughout the primary care physician and endocrinologist market. In connection with the agreement, we received
warrants to purchase up to 500,000 shares of EyeTel common stock at an exercise price of $0.16 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits and with a
term of ten years. The warrants are subject to a vesting schedule based on our achievement of annual performance milestones relating to sales and customer
usage of the DigiScope through 2011. If we do not meet one or both of the requirements for any calendar year, but do meet the combined requirements for two
or more consecutive years, the shares scheduled to vest for each of the years will vest. The agreement also grants us financing participation rights in
connection with EyeTel’s next round of venture capital financing. We received an option to purchase EyeTel preferred stock, up to the lesser of (i) 30% of the
total amount raised in the financing or (ii) $5.0 million. In the event that we participate in the next round of financing, and our maximum permitted amount is
less than $5.0 million, we have a right to participate in any subsequent financing rounds equal to the difference between $5.0 million and the amount
previously invested.
Results of Operations
The following table presents certain statement of operations information stated as a percentage of total revenues:
2006

Revenues:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross margin
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense), net
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
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Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
(as restated)
(as restated)

13.6%
86.4
100.0
24.5
75.5

12.3%
87.7
100.0
25.8
74.2

12.4%
87.6
100.0
27.1
72.9

9.1
39.8
21.4
70.3
5.2
2.9
8.1
0.3
7.7 %

11.1
41.3
23.4
75.8
(1.6)
2.4
0.8
0.1
0.7 %

18.2
47.4
29.4
95.0
(22.1)
(4.2)
(26.3)
—
(26.3 )%

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005
Revenues
The following tables present a breakdown of our customers, biosensor units used and revenues:
Years Ended December 31,
2006
2005

Customers
Biosensor units used

4,929
1,155,300

3,282
704,800

Change

1,647
450,500

% Change

50.2%
63.9

(In thousands)

Revenues:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total revenues

$

7,538.3
47,711.4
$ 55,249.7

$ 4,221.3
30,076.8
$34,298.1

$ 3,317.0
17,634.6
$20,951.6

78.6
58.6
61.1

Diagnostic device revenues were $7.5 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, an increase of $3.3
million, or 78.6%. Of this increase, approximately $2.6 million is attributable to a greater number of units sold, primarily as a result of increased demand for
the NC-stat System and an increase in the number of regional sales managers. In addition, $0.7 million of this increase is attributable to an increase in the list
price of our NC-stat monitors and docking stations from $4,000 to $5,000 effective January 1, 2006, which resulted in a higher average selling price during
2006 as compared to 2005. Diagnostic device revenues accounted for 13.6% and 12.3% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.
Biosensor revenues were $47.7 million and $30.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, an increase of $17.6 million, or
58.6%. The increase is primarily due to an increased customer base for our biosensors and an increased frequency of testing by our customers. Biosensor
revenues accounted for 86.4% and 87.7% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Our customers used 1,155,300 biosensor units in the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to 704,800 units in the year ended December 31, 2005,
an increase of 450,500 units, or 63.9%. The increase in biosensor usage is primarily attributable to the increase in our customer base and to an increase in
usage per customer.
Our total revenues were $55.2 million and $34.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, an increase of $20.9 million, or
61.1%. During the 12-month period ending December 31, 2006, a total of 4,929 customers used our NC-stat System compared to 3,282 customers for the
same period ending December 31, 2005. This represents a 50.2% year-over-year increase in the number of customers that used our NC-stat System.
We anticipate that revenues in 2007 may not increase and could decline. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we experienced a decline in revenues from the
third quarter of 2006, which we believe primarily resulted from the uncertainty created by the issuance of draft LCDs, final LCDs and coding articles
addressing reimbursement for nerve conduction studies that were issued by five local Medicare carriers covering a total of twenty states. These developments
and other future reimbursement decisions could adversely impact reimbursement for procedures performed using the NC-stat System. Our revenues in 2007
are likely to be impacted by the level of reimbursement, if any, established for procedures performed using the NC-stat System by these carriers and other
third-party payers, whether final LCDs are applied in a manner that places additional restrictions or qualifications on the performance of these procedures,
any other reimbursement determinations relating to nerve conduction studies are made by third-party payers or any other events causing uncertainty as to the
existence or amount of reimbursement physicians are likely to
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receive for performing procedures using the NC-stat System. We do, however, expect revenues to be positively impacted by the initiation of our sales and
marketing efforts for the DigiScope in 2007. Overall, revenues could be impacted by a variety of factors, including the level of demand for our products,
potential for changes in third-party reimbursement for nerve conduction studies, the overall economy, competitive factors and the factors described in the
section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
Costs and expenses
The following table presents our costs and expenses and net income:

Cost of revenues:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total cost of revenues
Gross margin:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total gross margin
Gross Margin%:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total gross margin
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1)
Sales and marketing(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income available to common stockholders

Years Ended December 31,
2006
2005
(as restated)
(in thousands)

$ 1,320.5
12,237.6
13,558.1

$ 1,059.7
7,798.4
8,858.1

6,217.8
35,473.9
41,691.7

3,161.6
22,278.5
25,440.0

82.5%
74.4
75.5
5,010.5
22,013.7
11,805.1
38,829.3
2,862.4
1,598.4
—
4,460.8
193.0
$ 4,267.8

Change

$

260.8
4,439.2
4,700.0
3,056.2
13,195.4
16,251.6

% Change

24.6%
56.9
53.1
96.7
59.2
63.9

74.9%
74.1
74.2
3,820.6
14,150.2
8,021.8
25,992.6
(552.5)
838.8
(2.0)
284.3
35.0
$ 249.3

1,189.9
7,863.5
3,783.3
12,836.7
3,414.9
759.6
2.0
4,176.5
158.0
$ 4,018.5

31.1
55.6
47.2
49.4
(618.1)
90.6
(100.0)
1,469.3
451.4
1,612.2

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense included in these amounts is as follows:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

470.6
821.0
1,361.1

$

77.4
167.7
161.3

Gross Margin
Diagnostic device gross margin increased to $6.2 million, or 82.5% of diagnostic device revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to
$3.2 million, or 74.9% of diagnostic device revenue, for same period in 2005. The increase in the gross margin percentage in 2006 compared to 2005 is
primarily attributable to an increase in the list price of our NC-stat System from $4,000 to $5,000 effective January 1, 2006 and manufacturing price
reductions realized for our device beginning in the second quarter of 2006.
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Biosensor gross margin increased to $35.5 million, or 74.4% of biosensor revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to $22.3 million,
or 74.1% of biosensor revenue, for the same period in 2005. The increase in biosensor gross margin percentage is primarily due to manufacturing price
reductions realized for several of our biosensors during the second half of 2005 and the first quarter of 2006 partially offset by a change in the mix of
biosensors sold.
Our overall gross margin increased to $41.7 million, or 75.5% of revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to $25.4 million, or
74.2% of revenues, for same period in 2005.
Our gross margins may decline in 2007 with the potential introduction of the ADVANCE System, which is expected to have lower gross margins due to
higher production costs compared with the current diagnostic devices.
Research and Development
Our research and development, or R&D, expenses include expenses associated with our research, product development, clinical, regulatory, and quality
assurance departments.
R&D expenses increased $1.2 million, or 31.1%, to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $3.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. As a percentage of revenues, R&D expenses were 9.1% and 11.1% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
increase in expenses is primarily due to an increase of $614,000 in personnel costs resulting from the hiring of additional employees in our R&D department
and increases in employee compensation. In addition, product development and temporary labor costs increased $77,700 and $51,700, respectively. These
increases are primarily related to the development of the ADVANCE System and new biosensors. Also contributing to the increase was an increase of
$393,200 in stock-based compensation expense due to the adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).
We expect our spending on R&D will be relatively unchanged in 2007. We anticipate that resources devoted to the development of the ADVANCE
System, during 2006 will be reallocated to other research and development efforts. This amount may vary, however, depending on the opportunities and
challenges that arise during the year.
Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing expenses include expenses from the marketing, field sales, sales administration and reimbursement departments.
Sales and marketing expenses increased $7.9 million, or 55.6%, to $22.0 million for year ended December 31, 2006 from $14.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005. As a percentage of revenues, sales and marketing expenses were 39.8% and 41.3% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The change in expenses is primarily due to an increase of $4.1 million in employee compensation and benefit costs, including sales
commissions paid to our regional sales managers. This increase is attributable to the expansion of the sales force and higher revenues in 2006 as compared to
2005. Also contributing to the change in expenses are (a) an increase of $1.6 million in sales commissions paid to our independent regional sales agencies,
which is related to our higher revenues in 2006 as well as the addition of PSS as a distributor in May 2006; (b) an increase in stock-based compensation
expense of $653,300 due to the adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R); (c) an increase of $400,700 in travel expenses due to the expansion of the
sales force; (d) an increase in consulting services of $299,300, primarily to assist us with the reimbursement challenges we are currently facing; and (e) an
increase of $267,500 in costs for new promotional materials.
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We have increased our sales force to 53 employees, including 50 regional sales managers, as of December 31, 2006 from 36 employees, including 31
regional sales managers as of December 31, 2005. We plan to sell the DigiScope through the same sales force used to sell the NC-stat System and as a result
we do not anticipate the need to expand the sales force to support the sales and marketing efforts for the DigiScope. However, we may incur additional
expenses relating to sales commissions and marketing materials in connection with the sale of the DigiScope. For 2007, we expect sales and marketing
expenses to be relatively unchanged; however, this may vary, depending primarily on our revenues for 2007.
General and Administrative
Our general and administrative expenses include expenses from the executive, finance, administrative, customer service, and information technology
departments.
General and administrative expenses increased $3.8 million, or 47.2%, to $11.8 million for year ended December 31, 2006 from $8.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses were 21.4% and 23.4% for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively. The increase in expenses is primarily due to (a) an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $1.2 million from the adoption of
the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R); (b) an increase of $661,300 in bad debt expense resulting from an increase in past due accounts; (c) an increase of
$538,400 in professional fees for legal and accounting services; (d) an increase of $456,000 in our accrual for sales taxes; (e) an increase of $268,800 in our
insurance costs; (f) an increase in credit card and bank fees of $238,800 related to increased customer transactions; and (g) an increase in personnel costs of
$120,700 from the expansion of staff and increases in employee compensation.
We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase during 2007 as a result of consulting expenses and legal fees associated with our efforts
to address the reimbursement and other legal challenges we face, including the investigation by the United States Department of Justice of which we recently
became aware..
Interest Income
Interest income was $1,598,400 and $838,800 during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, representing an increase of $759,600.
Interest income was earned from cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments. The increase in interest income for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2005 is primarily due to higher average cash balances and an increase in the average
portfolio yield attributable to the impact of higher market interest rates in 2006. Interest expense was not material for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005.
Provision for Income Taxes
We recorded a tax provision related to the alternative minimum tax of $193,000 and $35,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004
Revenues
The following tables present a breakdown of our customers, biosensor units used and revenues:
Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004

Customers
Biosensor units used

3,282
704,800

2,207
357,400

Change

1,075
347,400

% Change

48.7%
97.2

(in thousands)

Revenues:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total revenues

$ 4,221.3
30,076.8
$ 34,298.1

$ 2,219.5
15,700.6
$ 17,920.1

$ 2,001.8
14,376.2
$16,378.0

90.2
91.6
91.4

Diagnostic device revenues were $4.2 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, an increase of $2.0
million, or 90.2%. Of this increase, approximately $1.4 million is attributable to a greater number of units sold, primarily as a result of an increase in the
number of regional sales managers and expanded clinical uses for the NC-stat System. In addition, approximately $627,600 of this increase is attributable to
an increase in the list price of our NC-stat monitors and docking stations from $3,500 to $4,000 effective January 1, 2005, which resulted in a higher average
selling price during 2005 as compared to 2004. Diagnostic device revenues accounted for 12.3% and 12.4% of our total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Biosensor revenues were $30.1 million and $15.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, an increase of $14.4 million, or
91.6%. The increase is primarily due to an increased customer base for our biosensors, increased frequency of testing by our customers and the introduction of
new biosensors, including the sural biosensor in the fourth quarter of 2004. Biosensor revenues accounted for 87.7% and 87.6% of our total revenues for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Our customers used 704,800 biosensor units in the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to 357,400 units for 2004, an increase of 347,400 units, or
97.2%. This increase in biosensor usage is primarily the result of the increase in the customer base, increased usage by customers and the introduction of new
biosensors, including the sural biosensor in the fourth quarter of 2004. The sural biosensor is an important additional biosensor for our customers’ use of the
NC-stat System for low back pain and DPN and we believe that its introduction is contributing to the growth in biosensor usage for these clinical indications.
Our total revenues were $34.3 million and $17.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, an increase of $16.4 million, or
91.4%. During the 12-month period ending December 31, 2005, a total of 3,282 customers used our NC-stat System compared to 2,207 customers for the
same period ending December 31, 2004. This represents a 48.7% year-over-year increase in the number of customers that used our NC-stat System.
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Costs and expenses
The following table presents our costs and expenses and net income (loss):

Cost of revenues:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total cost of revenues
Gross margin:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total gross margin
Gross Margin%:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total gross margin
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1)
Sales and marketing(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Accretion of dividend on preferred stock
Deemed dividend and beneficial conversion feature
on redeemable convertible preferred stock
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
(as restated)
(as restated)
(in thousands)

$ 1,059.7
7,798.4
8,858.1

$

3,161.6
22,278.5
25,440.0

1,490.8
11,576.0
13,066.8

331.0
3,673.7
4,004.8

45.4%
89.1
82.5
112.1
92.5
94.7

552.3
5,662.1
2,754.4
8,968.8
3,404.5
624.7
962.0
4,991.2
35.0
4,956.2
1,386.3

16.9
66.7
52.3
52.7
(86.0)
291.8
(99.8)
(106.0)
100.0
(105.3)
(100.0)

(7,838.7)
7,838.7
$ (13,931.9 ) $14,181.2

(100.0)
(101.8)

67.2%
73.7
72.9

3,820.6
14,150.2
8,021.8
25,992.6
(552.5)
838.8
(2.0)
284.3
35.0
249.3
—
—
249.3

$

% Change

1,670.8
10,702.5
12,373.3

74.9%
74.1
74.2

$

728.7
4,124.6
4,853.3

Change

3,268.4
8,488.0
5,267.4
17,023.8
(3,957.0)
214.1
(964.1)
(4,707.0)
—
(4,707.0)
(1,386.3)

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense included in these amounts is as follows:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

77.4
167.7
161.3

$

249.1
356.4
423.0

Gross Margin
Diagnostic device gross margin percentage was 74.9% and 67.2% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in the
gross margin percentage in 2005 compared to 2004 is primarily attributable to an increase in the list price of our NC-stat System from $3,500 to $4,000
effective January 1, 2005.
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Biosensor gross margin percentage increased slightly to 74.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 73.7% for the year ended December 31, 2004.
The increase in biosensor gross margin percentage is primarily due to manufacturing cost reductions realized for several of our biosensors, offset in part by a
change in the mix of biosensors resulting from the introduction of new biosensors in the second half of 2004 which have modestly lower gross margins.
Our overall gross margin percentage was 74.2% for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 72.9% for 2004.
Research and Development
R&D expenses increased $552,300, or 16.9%, to $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $3.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. As a percentage of revenues, R&D expenses were 11.1% and 18.2% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. This increase was
primarily due to a $434,200 increase in employee compensation and benefit costs and a $54,400 increase in recruiting costs. These increases resulted from
the hiring of additional employees in our R&D department, particularly in product development to support our efforts on the development of the ADVANCE
System, new biosensors, improvements to existing biosensors, products to diagnose additional neuropathies and a drug delivery system for the minimally
invasive treatment of neuropathies. Also contributing to the change was an increase of $283,600 in outside consulting costs primarily related to efforts
expended on the development of the ADVANCE System and on new biosensors and improvements to existing biosensors. These increases were partially
offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $171,800 related to employee stock options
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses increased $5.7 million, or 66.7%, to $14.2 million for year ended December 31, 2005 from $8.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. As a percentage of revenues, sales and marketing expenses were 41.3% and 47.4% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The change in expenses was primarily due to an increase of $3.7 million in employee compensation and benefit costs, including sales
commissions paid to our regional sales managers. This increase is due to the expansion of the sales force and higher revenues in 2005 as compared to 2004.
Also contributing to the change in expenses was an increase of $1.5 million in sales commissions paid to our independent sales agencies, which were related
to our higher revenues in 2005, and increases of $351,400 in travel expenses and $73,300 in recruiting costs due to the expansion of the sales force. The
change in expenses was also partially due to an increase of $192,800 in costs for trade shows, advertising and promotional materials as we have increased our
presence at tradeshows and developed new promotional materials. These increases were offset in part by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of
$188,700 related to employee stock options.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses increased $2.8 million, or 52.3%, to $8.0 million for year ended December 31, 2005 from $5.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses were 23.4% and 29.4% for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively. The increase in expenses was primarily due to (a) an increase in employee compensation and benefit costs of $885,500 due to the
expansion of staff and increases in employee compensation; (b) an increase of $663,700 in professional fees for legal services and for accounting and audit
services primarily as a result of the increased regulatory requirements associated with being a publicly-traded company including the provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the rules promulgated thereunder, regarding internal control over financial reporting (“Sarbanes-Oxley 404”) which began
to apply to us as of December 31, 2005; (c) an increase of $344,100 in our insurance costs,
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primarily relating to increases in director and officer insurance premiums as a result of the transition to a publicly-traded company; (d) an increase of
$266,000 in our accrual for sales taxes; (e) an increase of $177,600 in credit card and bank transaction fees related to customer sales; (f) an increase of
$148,000 in franchise taxes and other fees; and (g) an increase in recruiting costs of $94,300 associated with new hires. The increases are offset in part by a
decrease of $261,800 in stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options.
Interest Income
Interest income was $838,800 and $214,100 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, representing an increase of $624,700.
Interest income was earned from investments in cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments. Interest income increased during the
year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year ended December 31, 2004 due to the investment of the proceeds from the Company’s initial public
offering (“IPO”), which was completed in the third quarter of 2004, the investment of the proceeds from the sale of preferred stock in March 2004 and
increased yields on invested funds in 2005.
Interest Expense
Interest expense was $2,000 and $964,100 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, representing a decrease of $962,000. The
decrease in interest expense was due to the payment in the third quarter of 2004 of an outstanding debt balance of $3.0 million under our line of credit with
Lighthouse Capital Partners by using a portion of the proceeds received from the IPO.
Provision for Income Taxes
We recorded a tax provision related to the alternative minimum tax of $35,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. In 2004, we recorded no provision
for income taxes.
Deemed Dividend and Beneficial Conversion Feature on Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
In 2004, we recorded a $787,900 deemed dividend as a result of the March 2004 Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock financing. The
deemed dividend resulted from an adjustment to the conversion ratios pursuant to the anti-dilution protection provisions associated with the Series D
redeemable convertible preferred stock. We also recorded a charge of $7.1 million for a beneficial conversion feature associated with the Series E-1
redeemable convertible preferred stock issued in March 2004. There was no deemed dividend or beneficial conversion charge in 2005. All issued and
outstanding shares of preferred stock were converted into shares of common stock in connection with the IPO.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal source of liquidity is our current cash and cash equivalents and short-term held-to-maturity investments. As of December 31, 2006, the
weighted average maturity of our short-term held-to-maturity investments was 149 days. Our ability to generate cash from operations is dependent upon our
ability to generate revenue from sales of our products, as well as our ability to manage our operating costs and net assets. A decrease in demand for our
products or unanticipated increases in our operating costs would likely have an adverse effect on our liquidity and cash generated from operations. The
following sets forth information relating to our liquidity:

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term held-to-maturity investments
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term held-to-maturity
investments

December 31,
2006
2005
(in thousands)

Change

% Change

$ 7,909.8
32,410.7

$ 8,170.0
24,081.9

$ (260.2)
8,328.8

(3.2)%
34.6

$40,320.5

$32,251.9

$ 8,068.6

25.0%

During 2006, our cash and cash equivalents and short-term held-to-maturity investments increased by $8.1 million, primarily due to $7.3 million of cash
provided by operations and $1.6 million of proceeds received from the exercise of stock options and the issuance of common stock under our employee stock
purchase plan, offset in part by cash used for capital expenditures of $620,500.
In managing our working capital, two of the financial measurements we monitor are days’ sales outstanding, or DSO, and inventory turnover rate, which
are presented in the table below for the years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005:
Years Ended
December 31,
2006
2005

Days’ sales outstanding (days)
Inventory turnover rate (times per year)

40
4.3

40
4.5

Our payment terms extended to our customers generally require payment within 30 days from invoice date. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we
experienced an increase in DSO to 49 days and there was a significant increase in the percentage of accounts receivable past due 60 days or more. We believe
that these increases were primarily the result of uncertainty surrounding the reimbursement by Medicare in certain regions of the United States for nerve
conduction studies performed using the NC-stat System. We are currently experiencing the effect of this reimbursement uncertainty and it is expected to
continue in 2007. As a result this may continue to adversely impact our DSO and our working capital. Accounts payable are normally paid within 30 to 40
days from receipt of a vendor’s invoice.
Our inventory turnover for the year ended December 31, 2006 was 4.3 times, compared with 4.5 times for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
decrease in the inventory turnover rate for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2005 was primarily due to an
increase in inventory levels in preparation for the release of the ADVANCE System. Our inventory levels increased in the fourth quarter of 2006 as a result of
decreased demand for the NC-stat System, increased production of biosensors at our third-party manufacturer and the initial production of the ADAVANCE
System. We anticipate additional increases in inventory levels by approximately $1.5 million to $2.0 million in preparation for the expected release of the
ADVANCE System in the summer of 2007. We anticipate this will have the impact of reducing our inventory turnover as we build inventory prior to the
initial sale of this new product.
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The following sets forth information relating to the sources and uses of our cash.
Years Ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$ 7,297.9 $ 1,908.1
$ (9,133.4) $ 3,514.5
$ 1,575.3 $ 812.2

$ (2,651.6)
$ (28,706.1)
$ 31,671.4

Cash provided by operating activities was $7.3 million and $1.9 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively, while cash used in operating activities was $2.7
million in 2004. In 2006, a net use of cash of approximately $1.2 million for our investment in working capital was offset by $4.3 million in net income and
$4.2 million in non-cash items, mainly compensation expense associated with stock options. The primary drivers of our investment in working capital were
as follows: Our accounts receivable increased $4.1 million, excluding the change in the allowance for doubtful accounts, due to growth in revenues. Our
inventories increased $950,000 primarily due to the growth in our business and our preparation for the release of the ADVANCE System. These items were
partially offset by a $2.1 million increase in accrued expenses. In 2005, increases in accrued expenses, deferred revenue (net of deferred costs) and accounts
payable of $1.9 million, $588,900 and $799,300, respectively; non-cash items of $1.4 million and net income of $249,300 were offset in part by increases in
accounts receivable and inventory of $1.7 million and $1.4 million, respectively. Cash used in operations in 2004 was driven by the net loss of $4.7 million
offset by $2.0 million in non-cash items and an increase of $73,000 in cash from changes in working capital. As a result of the potential decline in revenues
and increase in expenses, we may be unable to sustain the profitability we achieved in the second half of 2005 and in 2006. This may have an adverse impact
on our cash flows from operating activities in 2007. In addition, we expect to have increased investments in working capital, especially inventories, due to
the pre-launch production of the ADVANCE System.
Our investing activities used $9.1 million of cash in 2006, provided $3.5 million of cash in 2005 and used $28.7 million of cash in 2004. In 2006, we
used $8.5 million in cash for net purchases of investments and $620,500 in cash to fund purchases of fixed assets, primarily related to computer equipment. In
2005, net maturities of investments of $3.6 million provided cash, which was primarily reinvested in cash equivalents. This was offset by $475,100 of cash to
fund purchases of fixed assets primarily related to leasehold improvements and tooling equipment for new products. In 2004, $31.0 million of proceeds from
equity financings was invested in short-term and long-term held-to-maturity investments and $545,200 was used to fund the purchase of fixed assets,
primarily related to production tooling and computer equipment. During 2007, we expect to continue to maintain our cash and investments in money market
funds and short-term investment vehicles. We do not currently have any significant commitments to purchase capital equipment and we expect that our
capital expenditures will be comparable to the level of such expenditures in 2006.
In connection with our property lease entered into at the beginning of January, 2001, we are required to maintain, for the benefit of the lessor, an
irrevocable standby letter of credit stating the lessor as the beneficiary. The original amount of the letter of credit was $1,860,000. During September 2005, in
accordance with the terms of the lease agreement, the amount required under the letter of credit was reduced to $1,430,000. The letter of credit is secured by a
certificate of deposit in an amount equal to 102% of the letter of credit. The lease expires in March 2009. The certificate of deposit is renewable in 30-day
increments. This amount is classified as restricted cash in the balance sheet. The reduction in the restricted cash balance provided $438,600 in 2005.
Cash provided by financing activities was $1.6 million, $812,200 and $31.7 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Cash provided by financing
activities in 2006 and 2005 represents the proceeds from the exercise of stock options and the issuance of shares under our employee stock purchase plan.
The cash
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provided by financing activities in 2004 primarily represented the net proceeds of $24.0 million realized from our IPO, including the net proceeds from overallotment shares, as well as net proceeds of $10.6 million received from the issuance of preferred stock in a private placement, offset by payments on longterm debt of $3.0 million.
During 2007, we may (a) expend funds to expand our sales and marketing for the NC-stat System, although more modestly than the expansion in 2006,
(b) fund sales and marketing efforts for the DigiScope, and (c) continue our ongoing program of making enhancements and improvements to the NC-stat
System, including the development of new and/or improved biosensors, products for the diagnosis of additional neuropathies, and development activities
relating to the ADVANCE System.
In addition, we plan to expend funds on the design of a drug delivery system, which is expected to enter the clinical stage of development in 2007, for
the minimally invasive delivery of therapeutic agents to treat neuropathies by both primary care and specialist physicians. We also expect to incur capital
expenditures for computer hardware and software to support the growth in our business and the additional requirements of our customer base. We believe that
the combination of funds available from cash and cash equivalents and funds available from our short-term investments will be adequate to finance our
ongoing operations for at least 24 months, including the expenditures described above.
As of December 31, 2006, we have federal and state net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future taxable income of $29.5 million and
$16.1 million, respectively, and federal and state tax credits of $890,000 and $317,000, respectively, which may be available to reduce future taxable income
and the related taxes thereon. The net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards expire at various dates beginning in 2011 for federal
and 2007 for state. Ownership changes in our company, as defined in the Internal Revenue Code, are expected to have a modest limitation on the amount of
net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and taxes, based on an
analysis of the provisions of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Subsequent changes in our ownership could further affect the limitation in future
years.
To date, inflation has not had a material impact on our financial operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.
The following table summarizes our principal contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006 and the effects such obligations are expected to have on
our liquidity and cash flows in future periods.
Contractual Obligations

Operating lease obligations
Purchase order obligations
License agreement obligations
Total contractual obligations

Total

2007

$2,092,500 $ 930,000
5,629,700 5,629,700
85,000
85,000
$7,807,200 $6,644,700

Payments due in
2008 and 2009 20010 and 2011

$1,162,500
—
—
$1,162,500

$ —
$

—
—
—
—

After 2011

$
$

—
—
—
—

Critical Accounting Policies
Our financial statements are based on the selection and application of generally accepted accounting principles, which require us to make estimates and
assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and the accompanying notes. Future events and their effects
cannot be determined with certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results could differ from those
estimates, and any such differences may be material to our financial statements. We believe that the policies set forth below may involve a higher degree of
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judgment and complexity in their application than our other accounting policies and represent the critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our
financial statements. If different assumptions or conditions were to prevail, the results could be materially different from our reported results. Our significant
accounting policies are presented within Note 1—Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenue recognition policy is to recognize revenues from our monitor and biosensors upon shipment if the fee is fixed or determinable, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred and risk of loss has passed, collection of the resulting receivables is reasonably assured and product
returns are reasonably estimable. Revenues from our docking station and access to the onCall Information System are considered one unit of accounting and
are deferred and recognized over the shorter of the estimated customer relationship period or the estimated useful life of the product, currently three years. We
record revenue on a net basis for product sales made to distributors, based upon the amount billed to the distributors, when the distributor accepts the
responsibility for invoicing the customer and the responsibility for the risk of collections and product returns from the customer.
When multiple elements are contained in a single arrangement, we allocate revenue between the elements based on their relative fair value, provided
that each element meets the criteria for treatment as a separate unit of accounting. An element is considered a separate unit of accounting if it has value to the
customer on a stand-alone basis, there is objective, reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered elements and delivery or performance of the
undelivered elements is considered probable and substantially in our control. Fair value is determined based upon the price charged when the element is sold
separately.
Revenue recognition involves judgments, including assessments of expected returns, allowance for doubtful accounts and expected customer
relationship periods. We analyze various factors, including a review of specific transactions, our historical returns, average customer relationship periods,
customer usage, customer balances and market and economic conditions. Changes in judgments or estimates on these factors could materially impact the
timing and amount of revenues and costs recognized. Should market or economic conditions deteriorate, our actual return or bad debt experience could
exceed our estimate.
Certain product sales are made with a 30-day right of return. Since we can reasonably estimate future returns, we recognize revenues associated with
product sales that contain a right of return upon shipment and at the same time reduce revenue by the amount of estimated returns under the provisions of
SFAS No. 48, “Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists.”
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the
amount of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. We review our allowance for doubtful accounts and determine the allowance based on an
analysis of customer past payment history, product usage activity, and recent communications between us and the customer. Past due balances over 90 days
are reviewed individually for collectibility. Account balances are charged off against the allowance when we feel it is probable the receivable will not be
recovered. We do not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to our customers.
Warranty Costs
We accrue for device and biosensor warranty costs at the time of sale. While we engage in extensive product quality programs and processes, our
warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, user error, variability in physiology and anatomy of customers’ patients, material usage and delivery
costs.
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Should actual product failure and user error rates, material usage or delivery costs differ from our estimates, the amount of actual warranty costs could
materially differ from our estimates. Warranty costs are based on the cost of repairing or replacing monitors and docking stations and based on the
replacement cost of biosensors.
Asset Valuation
Asset valuation includes assessing the recorded value of certain assets, including accounts receivable, inventories and fixed assets. We use a variety of
factors to assess valuation, depending upon the asset. Accounts receivable are evaluated based upon our historical experience, the age of the receivable and
current market and economic conditions. The realizable value of inventories is based upon the types and levels of inventory held, forecasted demand,
pricing, competition and changes in technology. Should current market and economic conditions deteriorate, our actual recoveries could be less than our
estimates. The recoverability of our fixed assets and other long-lived assets are evaluated when circumstances indicate that an event of impairment may have
occurred in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”.
Accounting for Income Taxes
As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate.
This process involves estimating our actual current tax exposure, including assessing the risks associated with tax audits, together with assessing temporary
differences resulting from the different treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences, together with cumulative net operating losses,
result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our balance sheet. We assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not more likely than not, establish a valuation allowance. The primary factor used in
the determination of the valuation allowance is our historical profitability. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates, our provision for
income taxes could be materially impacted.
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective method and began reflecting the stock-based compensation
expense determined under fair value based methods in our statement of operations rather than as pro forma disclosure in our notes to the financial statements.
Under this transition method, the compensation cost recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments
granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, and
(ii) all share based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 123(R). Compensation cost is generally recognized ratably over the requisite service period. Prior period amounts have not been restated. We use the
Black-Scholes option pricing model for determining the fair value of our stock options and amortize our stock-based compensation expense using the
straight-line method.
New Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—
an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN No. 48”), which clarifies the accounting and disclosure for uncertainty in tax positions, as defined. FIN
No. 48 requires that we recognize in our financial statements the impact of the tax position if that position is more likely than not of being sustained upon
examination, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN No. 48 are effective as of the beginning of the 2007 calendar year, with the
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cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We believe that FIN No. 48 will not have a
material effect on our financial position, results from operations or cash flows.
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value in numerous
accounting pronouncements, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and expands disclosures
related to the use of fair value measures in financial statements. SFAS No. 157 does not expand the use of fair value measures in financial statements, but
standardizes its definition and guidance in GAAP. The Standard emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement and not an entity-specific
measurement based on an exchange transaction in which the entity sells an asset or transfers a liability (exit price). SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value
hierarchy from observable market data as the highest level to fair value based on an entity’s own fair value assumptions as the lowest level. SFAS No. 157 is
effective for our financial statements issued in 2008; however, earlier application is encouraged. We have not yet determined the impact that the adoption of
SFAS No. 157 will have on our financial position, results of operations or its cash flows.
In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides guidance on how the effects of the
carryover or reversal of prior year financial statement misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. Prior practice allowed
the evaluation of materiality on the basis of: (1) the error quantified as the amount by which the current year income statement was misstated (rollover
method); or (2) the cumulative error quantified as the cumulative amount by which the current year balance sheet was misstated (iron curtain method).
Reliance on either method in prior years could have resulted in misstatement of the financial statements. The guidance provided in SAB No. 108 requires
both methods to be used in evaluating materiality. Immaterial prior year errors may be corrected with the first filing of prior year financial statements after
adoption. The cumulative effect of the correction would be reflected in the opening balance sheet with appropriate disclosure of the nature and amount of
each individual error corrected in the cumulative adjustment, as well as a disclosure of the cause of the error and that the error had been deemed to be
immaterial in the past. SAB No. 108 did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or its cash flows.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115.” (“SFAS No. 159”) SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair
value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are
reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 does not affect any existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value.
SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We believe that our adoption of SFAS No. 159 will not have a material impact
on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Subsequent Event
On March 7, 2007, our Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend distribution of one preferred stock purchase right
for each outstanding share of our common stock to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 8, 2007. Initially, these rights will not be
exercisable and will trade with the shares of our common stock. Under the Shareholder Rights Plan, the rights generally will become exercisable if a person
becomes an “acquiring person” by acquiring 15% or more of our common stock or if a person commences a tender offer that could result in that person
owning 15% or more of our common stock. If a person becomes an acquiring person, each holder of a right (other than the acquiring person) would be
entitled to purchase, at the then-current exercise price, such number
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of shares of preferred stock which are equivalent to shares of our common stock having a value of twice the exercise price of the right. If we are acquired in a
merger or other business combination transaction after any such event, each holder of a right would then be entitled to purchase, at the then-current exercise
price, shares of the acquiring company’s common stock having a value of twice the exercise price of the right.
A copy of the Shareholder Rights Plan has been filed on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2007.
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K, including under the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and other sections of this annual report, include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including, without limitation, statements regarding
our or our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,”
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does
not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. The forward-looking statements contained in this annual report are based on our current expectations and
beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that
we have anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions
that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio and have no foreign exchange contracts. Our financial instruments consist of
cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses. We consider investments that, when purchased,
have a remaining maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. The primary objectives of our investment strategy are to preserve principal, maintain
proper liquidity to meet operating needs, and maximize yields. To minimize our exposure to an adverse shift in interest rates, we invest mainly in cash
equivalents and short-term investments with a maturity of 12 months or less and maintain an average maturity of twelve months or less. We do not believe
that a notional or hypothetical 10% change in interest rate percentages would have a material impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio or our
interest income.
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this item may be found on pages F-1 through F-28 of this Form 10-K with the exception of the unaudited quarterly financial
information which is presented below.
We have restated our unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the first three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2006, and for each of
the quarters of the year ended December 31, 2005 to correct errors in accounting for sales taxes. See Note 2—Restatement of the Notes to Financial
Statements:

Revenues
Gross margin
Net income (loss) attributable to
common shareholders
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares used to
compute net income (loss) per
common share:
Basic
Diluted

Revenues
Gross margin
Net income (loss) attributable to
common shareholders
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares used to
compute net income (loss) per
common share:
Basic
Diluted
ITEM 9.

First
Quarter
(as restated)

Year Ended December 31, 2006
Second
Third
Fourth
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
(as restated)
(as restated)

Total

$11,823,275 $13,970,050 $15,261,251 $14,195,140 $55,249,716
$ 8,943,362 $10,592,584 $11,525,299 $10,630,417 $41,691,662
$
$
$

(102,662) $ 1,233,700 $ 2,104,630 $ 1,032,138 $ 4,267,806
(0.01) $
(0.01) $

12,414,479
12,414,479
First
Quarter
(as restated)

0.10 $
0.09 $

12,485,205
13,137,867

0.17 $
0.16 $

12,539,709
13,095,430

0.08 $
0.08 $

12,583,825
12,926,449

Year Ended December 31, 2005
Second
Third
Fourth
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
(as restated)
(as restated)
(as restated)

0.34
0.33

12,501,742
13,097,891

Total
(as restated)

$ 6,789,764 $ 8,067,506 $ 9,109,436 $10,331,427 $34,298,133
$ 4,972,039 $ 5,977,442 $ 6,791,595 $ 7,698,963 $25,440,039
$

(736,314) $

(194,144) $

597,265 $

582,451 $

249,258

$
$

(0.06) $
(0.06) $

(0.02) $
(0.02) $

0.05 $
0.05 $

0.05 $
0.04 $

0.02
0.02

12,043,103
12,043,103

12,085,448
12,085,448

12,187,835
13,103,158

12,289,075
13,181,140

12,152,139
12,986,365

DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes or disagreements with accountants on accounting of financial disclosure matters in the last fiscal year.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.
Our management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”)) as of December 31, 2006. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Based upon this evaluation, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2006 given the existence of the material weakness in internal controls over financial reporting
relating to state sales tax as described below. Notwithstanding the material weakness described below, our management believes that the financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are fairly presented in all material respects in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(f). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 based on the criteria in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”).
A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. Based on its evaluation, our management identified the
following material weakness as of December 31, 2006: We did not maintain effective controls over our sales tax liability and related expense accounts.
Specifically, we did not have adequate controls designed and in place to assure that state sales taxes were properly collected and remitted in all states in
which the Company operates. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company’s financial statements for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004, each of the quarters of 2005 and the first three quarters of the year ended December 31, 2006. Additionally, this control deficiency could
result in a misstatement of our sales tax liability and related accounts that, in the future, would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim
financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has concluded that this control deficiency constitutes a material
weakness.
Because of the material weakness described above, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of
December 31, 2006 based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.
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Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
(c) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.
There have been no changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
quarter ended December 31, 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The response to this item is contained in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) and is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the Proxy Statement.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the Proxy Statement.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the Proxy Statement.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto in the Proxy Statement.

68

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
1. Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements are listed in the accompanying index to financial statements on page F-1.
2. Financial Statement Schedule
None.
3. Exhibit Index:
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Form of Second Amended and Restated By-laws of NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

3.2

Form of Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

3.3

Certificate of Designations for Series A Junior Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per
share (10)

4.1

Specimen certificate for shares of common stock(1)

4.2

Form of Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of March 7, 2007, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent (10)

10.1

Lease Agreement dated October 18, 2000 between Fourth Avenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

10.2

Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock Plan(1)

10.3

Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan(1)

10.4

First Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan(1)

10.5

Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan(2)

10.6

2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan(1)

10.7

Form of Indemnification Agreement between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and each of its directors(1)

10.8

Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N.
Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.(1)

10.9

Letter Agreement, dated June 19, 2002, by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Gary L. Gregory(1)

10.10

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Stock Option Agreements (1998 Plan) dated as of July 1, 2002 and April 8, 2004
by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Gary L. Gregory(1)

10.11

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality and Non-Compete Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2002, by and
between Gary L. Gregory and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

10.12

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Non-Compete Agreement dated as of June 21, 2004, by and
between Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

10.13

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (1998 Plan) dated as of June 21, 2004, by
and between Shai N. Gozani M.D., Ph.D., and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)
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10.14

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan(1)

10.15

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (1998 Plan) dated as of June 21, 2004 by
and between Gary Gregory and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

10.16

Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004, by and between Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

10.17

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Non-Compete Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2000, by and
between Michael Williams and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1)

10.18

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Non-Compete Agreement, dated as of October 13, 1998, by and
between Guy Daniello and NeuroMetrix Inc.(1)

10.19

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, under the NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And
Incentive Plan(3)

10.20

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement For Company Employees, under the
NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And Incentive Plan(3)

10.21

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement For Non-Employee Directors, under the
NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And Incentive Plan(3)

10.22

Letter Agreement, dated February 7, 2005, by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and W. Bradford
Smith(4)

10.23

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, under the NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan, by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and W. Bradford Smith(4)

10.24

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Non-Compete Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2005, by and
between W. Bradford Smith and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(4)

10.25

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (2004 Bonus and 2005 Salaries and Bonus Targets)
(5)

10.26

Director Compensation Arrangements(6)

**10.27
10.28

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (2006 Bonus)(8)

10.29

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (2006 Salaries)(9)

10.30

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Shareholder Rights Plan (10)

*23.1

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

*31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*32
*

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2006, by and between Parlex Polymer
Flexible Circuits, Inc. and NeuroMetrix, Inc. (7)

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith.
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** Portions of exhibit 10.27 have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.
(1) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Registration Statement on From S-1 (Registration No. 333-115440).
(2) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 26, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(3) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 15, 2004 (File No. 000-50856).
(4) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2005 (File No. 000-50856).
(5) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 11, 2005 (File No. 000-50856).
(6) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(7) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 2, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(8) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(9) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(10) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2007 (File No. 000-50856).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
NEUROMETRIX, INC.

By:

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D. PH.D.
Shai N. Gozani, M.D. Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer

Date: March 29, 2007
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant on March 29, 2007 in the capacities indicated below.
Name

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. D.
/s/ W. BRADFORD SMITH
W. Bradford Smith

Title

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer
and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D.
David E. Goodman, M.D.

Director

/s/ ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D.
Allen J. Hinkle M.D.

Director

/s/ CHARLES R. LAMANTIA
Charles R. LaMantia

Director

/s/ JONATHAN T. LORD, M.D.
Jonathan T. Lord M.D.

Director

/s/ W. MARK LORTZ
W. Mark Lortz

Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of NeuroMetrix, Inc.:
We have completed integrated audits of NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s 2006 and 2005 financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, and an audit of its 2004 financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.
Financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15 (a) (1) present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of NeuroMetrix, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has restated its financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004.
In addition, as discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2006 the Company changed its method of accounting for stock based
compensation.
Internal control over financial reporting
Also, we have audited management’s assessment, included in “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting” appearing under
Item 9A, that NeuroMetrix, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, because of the effect of the
Company not maintaining effective controls over accounting for state sales taxes, tax liabilities and related expense accounts, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The following material weakness has been identified
and included in management’s assessment. As of December 31, 2006 the Company did not maintain effective controls over sales tax liabilities and
related expense accounts. Specifically, the Company did not have adequate controls designed and in place to assure that state sales taxes were
properly collected and remitted in all states in which the Company operates. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company’s
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, each of the quarters of 2005 and the first three quarters of the year ended
December 31, 2006. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the Company’s sales tax liability and related accounts
that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. This material
weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2006 financial statements, and our
opinion regarding the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those financial
statements.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that NeuroMetrix, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006 , is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. Also, in our
opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, NeuroMetrix Inc. has not
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2007
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Balance Sheets
2006

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term held-to-maturity investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $900,000
and $400,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current portion of deferred costs
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Fixed assets, net
Deferred costs
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Accrued expenses
Current portion of deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none
outstanding
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 authorized; 12,601,224 and
12,375,276 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31,

2005
(as restated)

$ 7,909,778
32,410,685

$ 8,170,037
24,081,946

7,698,550
3,633,389
761,400
370,013
52,783,815
1,458,598
1,115,436
348,430
$ 55,706,279

4,543,339
2,683,409
614,169
223,009
40,315,909
1,458,598
875,551
247,013
$ 42,897,071

$ 2,766,650
2,460,328
4,275,983
1,386,867
10,889,828
1,335,138
72,727
12,297,693

$ 1,698,583
1,959,621
2,628,928
760,613
7,047,745
885,354
130,909
8,064,008

—

—

1,260
1,238
97,205,145
93,212,368
(110,705)
(425,623)
(53,687,114)
(57,954,920)
43,408,586
34,833,063
$ 55,706,279 $ 42,897,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Operations
2006

Revenues:
Diagnostic device
Biosensor
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross margin
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1)
Sales and marketing(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible preferred
stock
Beneficial conversion feature associated with redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss)
per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
(as restated)
(as restated)

$ 7,538,320
47,711,396
55,249,716
13,558,054
41,691,662

$ 4,221,311
30,076,822
34,298,133
8,858,094
25,440,039

5,010,513
22,013,682
11,805,062
38,829,257
2,862,405
1,598,401
—
4,460,806
193,000
4,267,806
—

3,820,624
14,150,157
8,021,783
25,992,564
(552,525)
838,825
(2,042)
284,258
35,000
249,258
—

—

(787,885)
(7,050,771)
$ (13,931,946)

$

—
249,258

$
$

$
$

0.02
0.02

12,501,742
13,097,891

3,268,363
8,488,047
5,267,378
17,023,788
(3,957,025)
214,092
(964,056)
(4,706,989)
—
(4,706,989)
(1,386,301)

—

—
$ 4,267,806
0.34
0.33

$ 2,219,489
15,700,600
17,920,089
4,853,326
13,066,763

$
$

12,152,139
12,986,365

(2.42)
(2.42)
5,747,579
5,747,579

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense included in these amounts is as follows:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

470,582
820,984
1,361,071

$

77,365
167,699
161,266

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

249,131
356,422
423,042

NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and
Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit)/Equity
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Number
of Shares
Amount
Balance at December 31, 2003—as
restated
Issuance of Series E-1 redeemable
preferred stock, net of issuance
costs of $22,672
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury stock
Cash received from subscriptions
receivable
Beneficial conversion feature
associated with redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Deemed dividend on Series D
redeemable convertible preferred
stock
Accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to redemption
Initial public offering of common
stock
Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock
Conversion of warrant to purchase
common stock
Compensation expense associated with
stock options
Deferred compensation associated
with stock options
Adjustment to deferred compensation
associated with terminated
employees
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan
Net loss—as restated
Balance at December 31, 2004—as
restated
Issuance of stock upon exercise of
stock options and warrants
Compensation expense associated with
stock options
Adjustment to deferred compensation
associated with terminated
employees
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan
Income tax effect of the exercise of
stock options
Net income—as restated
Balance at December 31, 2005—as
restated
Issuance of stock upon exercise of
stock options
Stock-based compensation
expense
Adjustment to deferred compensation
associated with terminated
employees
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan
Income tax effect of the exercise of
stock options
Net income
Balance at December 31, 2006

Common Stock
Number
of Shares
Amount

17,498,099

$ 47,693,742

7,050,771

10,553,484

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

—

7,050,771

—

—

—

787,885

—

—

—

1,386,301

—

—

—

3,450,000

345

7,488,758

749

—
(24,548,870)

(67,472,183)

1,042,990

$ 104

—

—

49,621
(6,251)

5
(1)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
$

—

Subscriptions
Receivable

Deferred
Compensation

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

$ (2,143)

$ (598,933)

$ (45,204,348)

$ (45,805,320)

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

44,931
(1,250)

—

2,143

—

—

2,143

—

—

—

(7,050,771)

—

—

—

(787,885)

(787,885)

—

—

(454,185)

(1,386,301)

24,005,719

—

—

—

24,006,064

67,471,434

—

—

—

67,472,183

44,926
(1,249)

(932,116)

—

(7,050,771)

—

—

—

—

450,100

—

—

—

450,100

—

—

—

—

436,611

—

—

—

436,611

—

—

—

—

750,566

—

(750,566)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(12,429)

—

12,429

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

591,984

—

591,984

—
—

—
—

9,532
—

1
—

64,817
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

12,034,650

1,203

92,278,379

—

—

—

317,361

32

512,825

—

—

—

512,857

—

—

—

—

120,272

—

—

—

120,272

—

—

—

—

(33,405)

—

33,405

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

286,058

—

286,058

—

—

23,265

3

299,297

—

—

—

299,300

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

35,000
—

—
—

—
—

—
249,258

35,000
249,258

—

—

12,375,276

1,238

93,212,368

—

—

—

202,808

20

1,180,637

—

(745,086)

(425,623)

—
(4,706,989)

64,818
(4,706,989)

(58,204,178)

33,330,318

(57,954,920)

—

—

2,403,222

34,833,063
1,180,657
2,403,222

—

—

—

—

—

65,503

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

249,415

—

249,415

—

—

23,140

2

394,621

—

—

—

394,623

—
—
—

$

(65,503)

—
—

—
—

—
—

79,800
—

—

12,601,224

$ 1,260

$ 97,205,145

—
—
$

—

—
—
$ (110,705)

—
4,267,806
$ (53,687,114)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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79,800
4,267,806
$ 43,408,586

NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
2006

Cash flows for operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Compensation expense associated with stock options
Provision for doubtful accounts
Amortization of premium on investments
Income tax effect of the exercise of stock options
Accretion of debt issuance discount
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and compensation
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred revenue and deferred costs
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows for investing activities:
Purchases of fixed assets
Purchases of investments
Maturities of investments
Release of restricted cash
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred
stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering costs
of $3,572,908
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan
Payments on long-term debt
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
(as restated)
(as restated)

$ 4,267,806

$

380,655
2,652,637
946,850
184,163
79,800
—

249,258
278,932
406,330
281,684
439,734
35,000
—

205,023
1,028,595
221,796
89,175
—
437,778

(4,102,061)
(949,980)
(147,231)
1,068,067
2,147,762
(58,182)
827,617
7,297,903

(1,698,458)
(1,399,148)
58,801
799,292
1,925,923
(58,182)
588,924
1,908,090

(1,496,378)
(205,871)
(455,805)
464,906
1,421,301
3,637
341,201
(2,651,631)

(620,540)
(42,141,626)
33,628,724
—
(9,133,442)

(475,124)
(15,290,120)
18,840,191
438,602
3,513,549

(545,158)
(30,954,418)
2,793,492
—
(28,706,084)

1,180,657

512,857

47,074

—

—

10,553,484

—

—

24,006,064

394,623
299,300
—
—
1,575,280
812,157
(260,259)
6,233,796
8,170,037
1,936,241
$ 7,909,778 $ 8,170,037

64,818
(3,000,000)
31,671,440
313,725
1,622,516
$ 1,936,241

$

$

—

$

2,042

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ (4,706,989)

497,404

NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business
NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, was formed in June 1996. The Company designs, develops and sells proprietary medical
devices used to help physicians diagnose neuropathies and neurovascular diseases. Neuropathies are diseases of the peripheral nerves and parts of the spine
that frequently are caused by or associated with diabetes, low back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome, as well as other clinical disorders. Diabetic retinopathy
is a neurovascular disease affecting the vision of patients with diabetes. The Company has an exclusive sales and marketing license with EyeTel
Imaging, Inc. (“EyeTel”) to market the DigiScope®, a product designed to detect diabetic retinopathy. The Company operates in one business segment.
On July 27, 2004, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of 3,000,000 shares of its common stock at $8.00 per share, for gross
consideration of $24,000,000. All of the shares were sold by the Company. In connection with the IPO, the Company granted the underwriters a 30-day overallotment option to purchase up to an additional 450,000 shares of common stock from the Company at $8.00 per share, which the underwriters exercised in
full on August 17, 2004 for gross consideration of $3,600,000. The Company’s shares trade on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “NURO.”
On July 27, 2004, upon completion of the Company’s IPO, all shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding on that date
converted into 7,488,758 shares of common stock and the outstanding warrant to purchase redeemable convertible preferred stock converted into a warrant to
purchase 100,000 shares of common stock. This warrant was exercised in full on June 13, 2005.
In October 2006, the Company entered into an exclusive seven year licensing agreement with EyeTel. The agreement grants the Company an exclusive
license to market, brand, and sell EyeTel’s DigiScope throughout the primary care physician and endocrinologist market. The DigiScope, developed in
collaboration with the Wilmer Eye Institute at Johns Hopkins, is a United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, cleared diagnostic device that
primary care physicians and endocrinologists can use for the early detection of diabetic retinopathy. In connection with the agreement, the Company
received warrants to purchase up to 500,000 shares of EyeTel common stock at an exercise price of $0.16 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits and
with a term of ten years. The warrants are subject to a vesting schedule based on the Company’s achievement of annual performance milestones relating to
units placed and customer usage of the DigiScope through 2011. If the Company does not meet one or both of the requirements for any calendar year, but
does meet the combined requirements for two or more consecutive years, the shares scheduled to vest for each of the years will vest. The agreement also
grants the Company financing participation rights in connection with EyeTel’s next round of venture capital financing. The Company received an option to
purchase EyeTel preferred stock, up to the lesser of (i) 30% of the total amount raised in the financing or (ii) $5.0 million. In the event that the Company
participates in the next round of financing, and the Company’s maximum permitted amount is less than $5.0 million, the Company has the right to
participate in any subsequent financing rounds equal to the difference between $5.0 million and the amount previously invested.
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Significant Accounting Policies
Significant accounting policies applied by the Company in the preparation of its financial statements are as follows:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of ninety days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are
recorded at cost which approximates fair value. The Company invests cash primarily in a money market account and other investments which management
believes are subject to minimal credit and market risk.
Held-to-Maturity Investments
The Company’s investment portfolio is classified as held-to-maturity, and such investments are stated at amortized cost. Interest earned on investments
held-to-maturity is included in interest income. The amortized cost of investments held-to-maturity is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of
discounts to maturity. Such amortization and accretion are included in interest income.
Restricted Cash
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company maintained restricted cash in the amount of $1,458,598 associated with a facility lease. See Note 11—
Commitments and Contingencies.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents in bank
deposits accounts, short-term investments and trade receivables. The Company invests its funds in highly rated institutions and limits its investment in any
individual debtor. The Company has not experienced significant losses related to cash and cash equivalents and does not believe it is exposed to any
significant credit risks relating to its cash and cash equivalents.
The Company distributes its products through its own regional sales managers who manage independent sales agencies. At December 31, 2006 and 2005
and for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable or revenue.
The Company relies on two third-party manufacturers to manufacture all of its current products. The disruption or termination of the supply of these
products or a significant increase in the cost of these products from these sources could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position
and results of operations.
Inventories
Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased components, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method. The Company writes down inventory to its net realizable value for excess or obsolete inventory.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate their fair value at December 31, 2006 and 2005.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when the following criteria have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred and
risk of loss has passed, the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. The Company records revenue on a net
basis for product sales made to distributors, based upon the amount billed to the distributors, when the distributor accepts the responsibility for invoicing the
customer and the responsibility for the risk of collections and product returns from the customer.
When multiple elements are contained in a single arrangement, the Company allocates revenue between the elements based on their relative fair value,
provided that each element meets the criteria for treatment as a separate unit of accounting. An element is considered a separate unit of accounting if it has
value to the customer on a stand-alone basis, there is objective, reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered elements and delivery or performance of
the undelivered elements is considered probable and substantially in the control of the Company. Fair value is determined based upon the price charged
when the element is sold separately.
Diagnostic device revenues consist of sales of NC-stat monitors and NC-stat docking stations. Revenues associated with the sale of the NC-stat monitors
are recognized upon shipment provided that the fee is fixed or determinable, evidence of a persuasive arrangement exists, collection of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasonably estimable and no continuing obligations exist. The revenues from the sale of a NC-stat docking station
and access to the onCall Information System are considered one unit of accounting and deferred and recognized on a straight line basis over the estimated
period of time the Company provides the service associated with the onCall Information System, which is the shorter of the estimated customer relationship
period or the estimated useful life of the docking station, currently three years. The resulting deferred revenue and deferred costs are presented as separate line
items on the accompanying balance sheet.
Biosensor revenues consist of sales of disposable NC-stat biosensors and are recognized upon shipment provided that the fee is fixed or determinable,
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, collection of receivables is reasonably assured and product returns are reasonably estimable.
The Company recognizes revenues associated with installation and training upon completion of the service. The fair value of the installation and
training is based on hourly service billing rates.
Certain product sales are made with a 30-day right of return. Since the Company can reasonably estimate future returns, the Company recognizes
revenues associated with product sales that contain a right of return upon shipment and at the same time reduces revenue by the amount of estimated returns
under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 48, “Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists”.
Proceeds received in advance of product shipment are recorded as deferred revenues.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best
estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. The Company reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts and determines
the allowance based on an analysis of customer past payment history, product usage activity, and recent communications between the Company and the
customer. Past due balances over 90 days are reviewed individually for collectibility. Account balances are charged off against the allowance when the
Company feels it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. The Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers.
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Income Taxes
The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective income tax
bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The Company’s financial statements contain certain deferred tax assets, which have arisen primarily as
a result of operating losses, as well as other temporary differences between financial and tax accounting. SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
requires the Company to establish a valuation allowance if the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets is reduced based on an evaluation of
objective verifiable evidence. Significant management judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against those net deferred tax assets. The Company evaluates the weight of all
available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred income tax assets will not be realized.
Research and Development
Costs incurred in the research and development of the Company’s products are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development costs are
wages, benefits and other operating costs such as facilities, supplies and overhead directly related to the Company’s research and development efforts.
Product Warranty Costs
The Company accrues estimated product warranty costs at the time of sale which are included in cost of sales in the statements of operations. The
amount of the accrued warranty liability is based on historical information such as past experience, product failure rates, number of units repaired and
estimated cost of material and labor.
The following is a rollforward of the Company’s accrued warranty liability for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:
Years Ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004

Balance at beginning of period
Accrual for warranties
Settlements made
Balance at end of period

$ 124,852 $ 116,779 $ 79,054
688,234
314,117
187,176
(581,361)
(306,044)
(149,451)
$ 231,725 $ 124,852 $ 116,779

Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets
Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each asset. Expenditures for repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. On disposal, the related assets and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any
resulting gain or loss is included in the Company’s statement of operations. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful
life of the improvement or the remaining term of the lease.
The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of its fixed assets and other long-lived assets when circumstances indicate that an event of
impairment may have occurred in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. This
periodic review may result in an adjustment of estimated depreciable lives or an asset impairment. When indicators of impairment are present, the carrying
values of the asset are evaluated in relation to their operating performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying business. If the future
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undiscounted cash flows are less than their book value, an impairment exists. The impairment is measured as the difference between the book value and the
fair value of the underlying asset. Fair values are based on estimates of the market prices and assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated
future cash flows and assumed discount rates, reflecting varying degrees of perceived risk. No impairments were identified in the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004.
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”), which
requires that the cost resulting from all share-based payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements. SFAS No. 123(R) revises SFAS No. 123
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”) and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees” (“APB No. 25”) and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123” (“SFAS No. 148”.) As a result, beginning January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using
the modified prospective method and has begun reflecting the stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based methods in statement of
operations rather than as pro forma disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. Under this transition method, the compensation cost recognized
beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, and (ii) all share based payments granted or modified subsequent to
January 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation cost is generally
recognized ratably over the requisite service period. Prior period amounts have not been restated. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model
for determining the fair value of its stock options and amortizes its stock-based compensation expense using the straight-line method.
Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company accounted for stock options granted to employees in accordance with APB 25 and provided the
disclosures required under SFAS 148 only in the notes to our financial statements. Accordingly, compensation expense was recorded for options issued to
employees to the extent that the fair market value of the Company’s common stock exceeded the exercise price of the option at the date granted and all other
criteria for fixed accounting were met. All stock-based awards granted to non-employees were accounted for at their fair value and the resulting compensation
expense was generally recognized over the period of service.
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Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share
The Company accounts for and discloses net income (loss) per common share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”. Basic net
income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares and dilutive potential common share equivalents then outstanding. Potential common shares consist of shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants (using the treasury stock method.)
2006

Basic:
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders
Weighted average shares
Basic income (loss) per common share
Diluted:
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders
Weighted average shares
Effect of stock options
Effect of warrants
Weighted average shares, as adjusted
Diluted income (loss) per common share

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
(as restated)
(as restated)

$ 4,267,806
12,501,742
$
0.34

$

249,258
12,152,139
$
0.02

$ (13,931,946)
5,747,579
$
(2.42)

$ 4,267,806
12,501,742
596,149
—
13,097,891
$
0.33

$

$ (13,931,946)
5,747,579
—
—
5,747,579
$
(2.42)

249,258
12,152,139
821,254
12,972
12,986,365
$
0.02

The following potentially dilutive common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per common share because their effect
was antidilutive for each of the periods presented:
2006

Options
Warrants

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004

366,618
—

45,400
—

1,132,571
100,000

Advertising and Promotional Costs
Advertising and promotional costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense was $547,441, $280,034 and $215,321 in the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income” establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its components in a
full set of general-purpose financial statements. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company had no components of comprehensive
income or loss other than net income (loss).
Segments
The Company is in the business of designing, developing and selling proprietary medical devices. The Company evaluates its business activities that
are regularly reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer for which discrete financial information is available. As a result of this evaluation, the Company
determined that it has one operating segment with operations in one geographical location which is the United States.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Risks and Uncertainties
The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the medical device industry, including, but not limited to, development by the Company or
its competitors of new technological innovations, dependence on key personnel, customers’ reimbursement from third-party payers, protection of proprietary
technology, and compliance with regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
Reclassification
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109” (“FIN No. 48”), which clarifies the accounting and disclosure for uncertainty in tax positions, as defined. FIN No. 48 requires that management
recognize in the Company’s financial statements the impact of the tax position if that position is more likely than not of being sustained upon examination,
based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN No. 48 are effective as of the beginning of the 2007 calendar year, with the cumulative
effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. The Company believes that FIN No. 48 will not have a
material effect on its financial position, results from operations or cash flows.
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value in numerous
accounting pronouncements, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and expands disclosures
related to the use of fair value measures in financial statements. SFAS No. 157 does not expand the use of fair value measures in financial statements, but
standardizes its definition and guidance in GAAP. The Standard emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement and not an entity-specific
measurement based on an exchange transaction in which the entity sells an asset or transfers a liability (exit price). SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value
hierarchy from observable market data as the highest level to fair value based on an entity’s own fair value assumptions as the lowest level. SFAS No. 157 is
effective for our financial statements issued in 2008; however, earlier application is encouraged. The Company has not yet determined the impact that the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on its financial position, results of operations or its cash flows.
In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides guidance on how the effects of the
carryover or reversal of prior year financial statement misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. Prior practice allowed
the evaluation of materiality on the basis of: (1) the error quantified as the amount by which the current year income statement was misstated (rollover
method); or (2) the cumulative error quantified as the cumulative amount by which the current year balance sheet was misstated (iron curtain method).
Reliance on either method in prior years could have resulted in misstatement of the financial statements. The guidance provided in SAB No. 108 requires
both methods to
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be used in evaluating materiality. Immaterial prior year errors may be corrected with the first filing of prior year financial statements after adoption. The
cumulative effect of the correction would be reflected in the opening balance sheet with appropriate disclosure of the nature and amount of each individual
error corrected in the cumulative adjustment, as well as a disclosure of the cause of the error and that the error had been deemed to be immaterial in the past.
SAB No. 108 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115.” (“SFAS No. 159”) SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair
value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are
reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 does not affect any existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value.
SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have a
material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
2. Restatement
The Company has restated its financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 to correct errors in accounting for sales tax
liabilities. The errors arose from the Company’s failure in certain states within the United States to charge sales tax to customers as required by state law and
subsequently file and remit such collections to the state tax authorities. The Company has computed the error as the total of the sales tax due, based on
historical sales in those states where sales tax should have been collected, and the resulting interest and penalties in accordance with the applicable state law.
The impact of correcting these errors results in an increase in accrued liabilities of $1,415,000 and $726,000 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, an increase in general and administrative expenses of $689,000 and $423,000 and a reduction of net income available to common stockholders
of $689,000 and $423,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The following table presents the impact of the restatement:

Statement of Operations:
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Income (loss) before provision for income
taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted

As
Previously
Reported

2005

$ 7,332,783
25,303,564
136,475

As
Previously
Reported

Restated

2004
Restated

$ 8,021,783 $ 4,844,378 $ 5,267,378
25,992,564
16,600,788
17,023,788
(552,525)
(3,534,025)
(3,957,025)

973,258
938,258

284,258
249,258

$

938,258

$

249,258

$
$

0.08
0.07

$
$

0.02
0.02

(4,283,989)
(4,283,989)

(4,706,989)
(4,706,989)

$ (13,508,946) $ (13,931,946)
$
$

(2.35) $
(2.35) $

(2.42)
(2.42)

Balance sheet:
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

$ 1,213,928
$ 5,632,745
$ 6,649,008
$ (56,539,920)
$ 36,248,063

$ 2,628,928
$ 7,047,745
$ 8,064,008
$ (57,954,920) $ (57,478,178) $ (58,204,178)
$ 34,833,063 $ 34,056,318 $ 33,330,318

Cash flows:
Net income (loss)
Accrued expenses and compensation

$
938,258
$ 1,236,923

$
249,258
$ 1,925,923

$ (4,283,989) $ (4,706,989)
$
998,301 $ 1,421,301

In addition, previously reported accumulated deficit and total stockholders’ deficit as of December 31, 2003 of $44,901,348 and $45,502,320,
respectively, have been restated to $45,204,348 and $45,805,320, respectively in the Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and
Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit)/Equity.
As applicable, the footnotes contained elsewhere within these financial statements have also been restated to correct these errors.
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3. Stock Option Plans, Stock-Based Compensation and Common Stock
Stock Option Plans
During 1996, the Company adopted the 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock Plan (the “1996 Stock Plan”). The 1996 Stock Plan provides for the
granting of incentive and non-qualified stock options and stock bonus awards to officers, directors and employees of the Company. The maximum number of
shares that may be issued pursuant to the 1996 Stock Plan is 156,250. All of the outstanding options under the 1996 Stock Plan are fully vested and terminate
10 years after the grant date, or earlier if the option holder is no longer an executive officer, employee, consultant, advisor or director, as applicable, of the
Company. As of December 31, 2006, all shares had been issued under the 1996 Stock Plan.
During 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1998 Stock Plan”). The 1998 Stock Plan also provides for granting of
incentive and nonqualified stock option and stock bonus awards to officers, employees and outside consultants. Outstanding options under the 1998 Stock
Plan generally vest over three or four years and terminate 10 years after the grant date, or earlier if the option holder is no longer an executive officer,
employee, consultant, advisor or director, as applicable, of the Company. As of December 31, 2006, 1,250,000 shares of common stock were authorized for
issuance under the 1998 Stock Plan, of which 534,774 shares had been issued and 627,764 shares were subject to outstanding options at a weighted average
exercise price of $7.05 per share. The 1998 Stock Plan was closed to any future grants at the time of the Company’s IPO and therefore the Company will not
make any additional grants under the 1998 Stock Plan.
During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended and restated in 2006 (the “2004 Stock Plan”). The 2004
Stock Plan also provides for granting of incentive and nonqualified stock option and stock bonus awards to officers, employees and outside consultants.
Outstanding options under the 2004 Stock Plan generally vest over three or four years and terminate 10 years after the grant date, or earlier if the option
holder is no longer an executive officer, employee, consultant, advisor or director, as applicable, of the Company. As of December 31, 2006, 1,946,022 shares
of common stock were authorized for issuance under the 2004 Stock Plan, of which 92,713 shares had been issued, 587,330 shares were subject to
outstanding options at a weighted average exercise price of $22.79 per share and 1,265,979 shares were available for future grant. In March 2006, the
Company’s Board of Directors voted to discontinue the provision of the 2004 Stock Plan which automatically increased the number of options available for
grant under the 2004 Stock Plan based on the net increase in the total number of outstanding shares of common stock during the year.
The exercise price of each stock option issued under the 1996 and 1998 Stock Plans was specified by the Board of Directors at the time of grant. The
exercise price of stock options awarded under the 2004 Stock Plan may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the option
grant. For holders of more than 10% of the Company’s total combined voting power of all classes of stock, incentive stock options may not be granted at less
than 110% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant and for a term not to exceed five years.
Certain stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006 covering a total of 15,480 shares were modified during 2006 to increase the exercise price to the
fair market value as of the original date of grant. These stock options were originally issued at a discount to fair market value in the first half of 2004 prior to
the Company’s IPO. The grants have been revalued using the Black Scholes option pricing model and for unvested shares, the sum of the difference between
fair value immediately before and after the modifications and the remaining original intrinsic value is being amortized to expense over the remaining vesting
period.
In June 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). All of our employees who have been employed by the Company
for at least 60 days and whose customary
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employment is for more than 20 hours per week and for more than five months in any calendar year are eligible to participate. Any employee who owns 5% or
more of the voting power or value of our stock is not eligible to participate and an employee may purchase no more than $25,000 worth of common stock,
valued at the start of the purchase period, in any calendar year. The ESPP authorizes the issuance of up to a total of 375,000 shares of our common stock to
participating employees.
Under the ESPP, participating employees can authorize the Company to withhold up to 10% of their earnings during consecutive six-month payment
periods for the purchase of the shares. At the conclusion of each period, participating employees can purchase shares at 85% of the lower of their fair market
value at the beginning or end of the period. The ESPP is regarded as a compensatory plan according to the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Under this plan,
the Company has issued 23,140, 23,265 and 9,532 shares of its common stock during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
A summary of activity under the Company’s 1996, 1998 and 2004 Stock Plans for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is presented
below:
Number of
Shares

Stock Option Awards
Outstanding at December 31, 2003
Granted at fair value
Granted below fair value
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2004
Granted at fair value
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2005
Granted at fair value
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2006

Exercise
Price Range

450,412 $ 0.20— 2.25
657,344
8.00—10.42
90,900
0.90— 4.48
(49,621)
0.20— 2.25
(16,464)
0.90— 8.53
1,132,571
0.20—10.42
278,650
9.28—37.23
(253,654)
0.40—10.00
(36,948)
2.25—29.02
1,120,619
0.20—37.23
387,800
13.52—38.96
(202,808)
0.20—12.60
(90,517)
2.25—36.11
1,215,094 $ 0.40—38.96

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$ 1.75
8.16
2.66
0.91
2.82
5.63
13.78
2.02
9.85
8.33
29.88
5.82
21.67
$ 14.66

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $5,304,033, $6,713,552, and
$260,049, respectively.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Exercise Price

$ 0.40— 4.48
$ 8.00— 8.00
$ 8.25— 9.78
$ 9.90—14.76
$15.15—29.50
$30.10—38.96
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Number of
Options
Outstanding

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

109,747
511,563
68,902
145,857
107,750
271,275
1,215,094

6.2
7.5
7.9
8.1
9.2
9.0
8.0

$ 2.46
8.00
9.18
10.34
25.11
31.72
$ 14.66

The following table summarizes information about stock options exercisable at December 31, 2006:

Exercise Price

$ 0.40— 4.48
$ 8.00— 8.00
$ 8.25— 9.78
$ 9.90—14.76
$15.15—29.50
$30.10—38.96

Number of
Options
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

67,731
318,375
27,562
28,874
8,217
4,225
454,984

$ 2.48
8.00
9.20
10.41
25.05
34.00
$ 7.95

The weighted average remaining contractual life for stock options exercisable at December 31, 2006 was 8.0 years. The aggregate intrinsic value for
stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2006 was $5,963,981 and $3,328,929 respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation plans in accordance with the provisions of APB No. 25, as permitted by
SFAS No. 123, and accordingly did not recognize compensation expense for the issuance of options with an exercise price equal to or greater than the fair
value at the date of grant.
The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per common share for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
had the Company applied the fair value based method as prescribed by SFAS No. 123:

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders, as
reported
Add employee stock-based compensation expense included
in reported net income
Less employee stock-based compensation expense
determined under fair value method
Net income (loss)—pro forma
Net income (loss) per common share (basic and diluted):
As reported
Pro forma
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2005
(as restated)

$

2004
(as restated)

249,258 $ (13,931,946)
406,330

1,028,595

(1,432,031)
(1,503,188)
$ (776,443) $ (14,406,539)
$
$

0.02 $
(0.06 ) $

(2.42)
(2.51 )

The weighted average grant-date fair value used in the calculation of stock-based compensation expense in the accompanying statement of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss) per common share information presented
above is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected option term
Volatility
Weighted average fair value of options granted at
fair value
Weighted average fair value of options granted below fair
value

2006

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004 (1)

4.3%—5.2%
—
5 years
50.0%—75.0%

3.5%—4.6%
—
5 years
52.6%

3.5%
—
5 years
65.0%

$

14.76

$

7.23

$

4.92

$

—

$

—

$

8.34

(1) Prior to the July 2004 IPO, the Company established the fair value of common stock by reference to the previously issued redeemable convertible
preferred stock and by reference to an expected IPO price. Prior to the IPO, assumed volatility was zero percent.
The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the United States Treasury’s constant maturity rate for a five year term (corresponding to the expected
option term) on the date the option was granted. The expected dividend yield is zero because the Company does not currently pay dividends nor expect to do
so during the expected option term. The expected option term of five years is estimated based on an analysis of actual option exercises and a review of
comparable medical device companies. The volatility assumption is based on weekly historical volatility during the time period that corresponds to the
expected option term, a review of comparable medical device companies and expected future stock price volatility. The post-vesting forfeiture rate is based
on the historical and projected average turnover rate using four classifications of employees. These assumptions will be evaluated and revised as necessary
based on changes in market conditions and historical experience. For 2004, the weighted average fair value of options granted prior to and subsequent to the
IPO was $5.15 and $5.74, respectively.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for determining the fair value of shares of common stock issued or to be issued under the
ESPP. The following assumptions are used in determining fair value: The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the United States Treasury’s constant
maturity rate for a six month term (corresponding to the expected option term) on the date the option was granted. In 2006, the Company used a risk-free
interest rate assumption that ranged from 5.1% to 5.2%. The expected dividend yield is zero because the Company does not currently pay dividends nor
expect to do so during the expected option term. An expected term of six months is used based on the duration of each plan offering period. The volatility
assumption is based on stock price volatility over the most recent period of time corresponding to the expected term and is also based on expected future
stock price volatility. In 2006, the expected future stock price volatility ranged from 50.0% to 90.0%. These assumptions will be evaluated and revised as
necessary based on changes in market conditions and historical experience.
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $2,652,637, $406,330 and $1,028,595 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004 , respectively Included in the stock-based compensation expense recorded by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2006 is (a) $2,265,556 in
compensation expense relating to stock options granted to employees subsequent to the Company’s July 2004 IPO that are accounted for according to the
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R); (b) $53,471 in reductions of compensation expense related to stock options granted to non-employees that are accounted
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for according to the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 96-18 “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services” (“EITF No. 96-18”); (c) $159,480 in compensation expense related to the
ESPP and accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R): (d) $249,415 in compensation expense relating to stock options granted to employees
prior to the Company’s IPO that are being accounted for using the intrinsic value method according to the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) and (e) $31,657 in
modifications to pre-IPO option grants. Compensation expense recorded by the Company for the modification of stock options for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, is $35,790 and $436,611.
The additional costs incurred as a result of the implementation of SFAS No. 123(R) reflected in income before provision of income taxes and net income
attributable to common stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2,425,036. The effect on basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was $0.19, respectively.
Stock options granted to non-employees are recorded at fair value and adjusted to market over the vesting period according to the provisions of EITF
No. 96-18. The Company determines fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, an expected term equal to the option term, a risk-free interest
rate corresponding to the expected term, an expected volatility of 70% -75% and a dividend yield of zero.
Deferred compensation was recorded in connection with stock option grants made prior to the Company’s IPO. The deferred compensation represents the
difference between the estimated market value of common stock on the date of grant and the exercise price associated with the stock options. The deferred
compensation is amortized to expense over the vesting period of the related stock options. The unamortized balance of deferred compensation as of
December 31, 2006 is $110,705.
Total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs related to non-vested stock options was approximately $6,703,540 as of December 31, 2006 which
related to approximately 759,476 shares with a per share weighted fair value of $8.83. This unrecognized cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of approximately 2.0 years.
The Company has no tax windfall or shortfall as of December 31, 2006.
Common Stock
As of December 31, 2006, the Company had 50,000,000 shares of common stock authorized and 12,601,224 shares issued and outstanding. There were
no treasury shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005, as all treasury shares have been issued upon employee stock option exercises.
Each share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders. Common stockholders are
not entitled to receive dividends unless declared by the Board of Directors.
At December 31, 2006, the Company has reserved authorized shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:
Outstanding stock options
Possible future issuance under stock option plans
Possible future issuance under employee stock purchase plan
Total
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1,215,094
1,265,979
319,063
2,800,136

On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend distribution of one preferred stock
purchase right for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 8, 2007. (See Note
13—Subsequent Event.)
4. Inventories
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, inventories consist of the following:
December 31,
2006
2005

Purchased components
Finished goods

$ 345,852
3,287,537
$3,633,389

$ 276,167
2,407,242
$2,683,409

5. Held-to-Maturity Investments
Held-to-maturity investments as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2006
Commercial paper and bank notes
U.S. agency obligations
Corporate bonds

Amortized Cost

$
$

2005
Commercial paper and bank notes
U.S. agency obligations
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

$

$

3,895,713
997,752
27,517,220
32,410,685

$

4,440,724
2,990,521
10,061,701
6,589,000
24,081,946

$

$

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

104,287
4,110
23,700
132,097

$

59,276
—
1,429
—
60,705

$

$

$

$

Estimated
Fair Value

—
—
(128,350)
(128,350)

$

—
(4,524)
(364,495)
(13,545)
(382,564 )

$

$

$

4,000,000
1,001,862
27,412,570
32,414,432
4,500,000
2,985,997
9,698,635
6,575,455
23,760,087

The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Company’s held-to-maturity investments with unrealized losses that are not
deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous
unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2006 and 2005:
12 Months or less
Gross
Unrealized
Fair Value
Losses

Greater than 12 Months
Gross
Unrealized
Fair Value
Losses

Total
Fair Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

2006
Corporate bonds

$20,998,098 $ (128,350) $

2005
U.S. agency obligations
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total

$ 2,587,943 $ (2,489) $ 398,054 $ (2,035) $ 2,985,997 $ (4,524)
1,479,864
(39,075) 6,521,599 (325,420) 8,001,463 (364,495)
1,290,058
(9,942)
496,397
(3,603) 1,786,455
(13,545)
$ 5,357,865 $ (51,506 ) $7,416,050 $ (331,058 ) $12,773,915 $ (382,564 )
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— $

— $20,998,098 $ (128,350)

Corporate bonds—At December 31, 2006, the Company held 21 corporate bonds in an unrealized loss position which was primarily the result of higher
market interest rates since the date of purchase, rather than a decline in credit quality of these investments. The contractual terms of these investments do not
permit the issuers to settle the securities at a price less than the face value of the investment. Each of the bonds maintains a Standard & Poor’s rating of A or
higher and has made each of their scheduled interest payments. Therefore, it is not expected that the bonds would be settled at a price less than the amortized
cost of the investment. Because the Company has the ability and intent to hold these investments until maturity, the Company does not consider these
investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2006.
The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2006 and 2005, by contractual maturity, are shown below:

Amortized Cost

Due in one year or less

$

32,410,685

December 31,

2006

Fair Value

$

Amortized Cost

32,414,432

$

2005

24,081,946

Fair Value

$

23,760,087

6. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets consist of the following:
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)

Computer and laboratory equipment
Furniture and equipment
Production equipment
Construction in progress
Leasehold improvements

3
3
7
—
*

2006

$

Less—accumulated depreciation
$

December 31,

1,746,322
350,678
665,266
215,476
150,097
3,127,839
(2,012,403)
1,115,436

*—Lesser of life of lease or estimated useful life
Depreciation expense was $380,655, $278,932 and $205,023 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
7. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:
December 31,
2006
2005
(as restated)

Professional services
Sales taxes
Other

$ 401,186
2,851,307
1,023,490
$4,275,983
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$ 438,519
1,589,091
601,318
$2,628,928

$

$

2005

1,366,553
198,330
636,406
173,103
132,907
2,507,299
(1,631,748)
875,551

8. Long-Term Debt
On May 21, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with Lighthouse Capital Partners IV, L.P. (“Lighthouse”) to establish a line of credit for
$3,000,000 (“Line of Credit”). The Company drew down $3,000,000 through December 31, 2003. All borrowings under the line of credit were collateralized
by substantially all the assets of the Company. Borrowings bore interest at nominal rate of 11% per annum. Upon the final maturity date or the earlier
prepayment of each advance, the Company was required to pay, in addition to the principal and interest, an additional amount equal to 11% of the original
principal, or $330,000. This additional amount was being accreted over the applicable borrowing period as additional interest expense.
On July 29, 2004, the Company paid $3,123,521 to Lighthouse. This amount represented payment in full of all outstanding obligations under the line of
credit with Lighthouse.
In connection with the Line of Credit, the Company issued Lighthouse warrants to purchase up to 400,000 shares of Series E-1 redeemable convertible
preferred stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share, for a term of seven years. The fair value of the warrants calculated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model was estimated to be $450,100, and was recorded as a debt discount. This discount was being accreted over the repayment term of 36 months as
additional interest expense. Upon completion of the Company’s IPO, this warrant converted into a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock. This
warrant was exercised in full on a net basis on June 13, 2005, resulting in the issuance of 63,707 shares of common stock.
9. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
The Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock was mandatorily redeemable by the holders. The carrying value of this preferred stock was being
accreted to redemption value over the term to the redemption date. These adjustments were affected through charges, first against retained earnings, then
against additional paid-in capital, until it was reduced to zero and then to accumulated deficit. Accretion for the year ended December 31, 2004 was
$1,386,301.
The Company’s 875,000 shares of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, 625,000 shares of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock,
3,998,100 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock, of which 2,850,000 shares were designated as Series C-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock and
1,148,100 shares were designated as Series C-2 nonvoting redeemable convertible preferred stock, 6,222,220 shares of Series D redeemable convertible
preferred stock, 7,111,110 shares of Series E redeemable convertible preferred stock and 2,333,333 shares of Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred
stock automatically converted into 7,488,758 shares of common stock upon the completion of the Company’s IPO in July 2004.
In March 2004, the Company sold 7,050,771 shares of Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock at a price of $1.50 per share, resulting in gross
proceeds of $10,576,157. The conversion rate associated with Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock resulted in a 1-for-4 exchange or a
conversion price of $6.00 per share. The Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock contained a beneficial conversion feature as the estimated fair
value of the Company’s common stock was in excess of the $1.50 per share conversion price. Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge of $7,050,771 as
a beneficial conversion feature in March 2004. Also, as a result of this Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock financing and the anti-dilution
provisions associated with the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock, the Company recorded a charge in the form of a deemed dividend of
$787,885 in March 2004. This charge resulted from an adjustment to the conversion price as a result of anti-dilution protection associated with the Series D
redeemable convertible preferred stock.
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10. Income Taxes
The income tax provision consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:
Years Ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004

Federal tax expense
State tax expense
Total

$193,000
—
$193,000

$35,000
—
$35,000

$
$

—
—
—

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the statutory federal income tax rate as follows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004.
2006

Federal tax provision (benefit) rate
State tax provision (benefit), net of federal provision
(benefits)
Permanent items
Federal research and development credits
Alternative minimum tax
Alternative minimum tax credit
Valuation allowance
Effective income tax rate

Years Ended December 31,
2005
2004
(as restated)
(as restated)

34.0%

34.0%

(34.0)%

7.6
11.1
(4.2)
4.3
(2.7)
(45.8)
4.3 %

9.9
56.3
(54.5)
12.3
—
(45.7)
12.3 %

(3.9)
3.6
(1.5)
—
—
35.8
0.0 %

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of the following:
2006

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Research and development credit carryforwards
Alternative minimum tax credit
Accrued expenses
Other
Total gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

December 31,

2005
(as restated)

$ 9,373,722 $ 13,878,358
978,653
645,809
120,195
—
2,808,024
1,553,778
522,822
3,594
13,803,416
16,081,539
(13,803,416)
(16,081,539)
$
— $
—

At December 31, 2006, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) of approximately $29.5 million and $16.1 million,
respectively, as well as federal and state tax credits of approximately $889,528 and $317,152, respectively, which may be available to reduce future taxable
income and the related taxes thereon. This amount includes tax benefits of $4.0 million and $71,238 attributable to NOL and tax credit carryforwards,
respectively, that result from the exercise of employee stock options. The tax benefit of these items will be recorded as a credit to additional paid-in capital
upon realization of the deferred tax asset or reduction in income taxes payable. The federal NOL’s begin to expire in 2011 and the state NOL’s begin to
expire in 2007.
As required by SFAS 109, the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets, which
are comprised principally of net operating loss. Management has determined that it is more likely than not that the Company will not recognize the
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benefits of federal and state deferred tax assets and, as a result, a valuation allowance of approximately $13.8 million and $16.1 million has been established
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Ownership changes, as defined in the Internal Revenue Code, have limited the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be utilized annually
to offset future taxable income. The Company anticipates that these limitations will have no material impact on their ability to utilize the affected loss
carryforwards in future years. Subsequent ownership changes could further impact the limitation in future years.
11. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
In September 2000, the Company entered into a noncancelable operating lease, commencing January 1, 2001, for office and laboratory space. The lease
expires on March 31, 2009.
Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:
2007
2008
2009
Total minimum lease payments

$ 930,000
930,000
232,500
$2,092,500

Total recorded rent expense was $871,819 for each the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. The Company records rent expense on its
facility lease on a straight line basis over the term. Accordingly, the Company has recorded a liability for accrued rent expense at December 31, 2006 and
2005 of $130,909 and $189,091, respectively on the accompanying balance sheets.
Restricted Time Deposit
In connection with the Company’s facility lease, the Company is required to maintain, for the benefit of the lessor, an irrevocable standby letter of credit
stating the lessor as the beneficiary over the term of the lease, which is secured by a certificate of deposit in an amount equal to 102% of the letter of credit as
security. The lease expires in March 2009. The certificate of deposit is renewable in 30-day increments. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company has
$1,458,598 recorded as restricted cash associated with this lease on the accompanying balance sheet.
Legal Matters
The Company is currently subject to an investigation by the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) within the Department of Health and Human Services
based on a subpoena served to us in the second quarter of 2006. The Company is cooperating with the OIG with their informational request. Any such
liabilities that may arise out of this investigation in the future will be recorded as a charge in the Company’s statements of operations in the period in which
such liabilities become probable and estimable. The Company is aware of an investigation by the United States Department of Justice. The Company has not
yet been informed of the subject matter of this investigation or received any formal requests for information relating to it.
12. Retirement Plan
The Company established a 401(k) defined contribution savings plan for its employees who meet certain service period and age requirements.
Contributions are permitted up to the maximum allowed
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under the Internal Revenue Code of each covered employee’s salary. The savings plan permits the Company to contribute at its discretion. For the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 the Company made no contributions to the plan.
13. Subsequent Event
On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend distribution of one preferred stock
purchase right for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to shareholders of record as of the close of business on March 8, 2007. Initially,
these rights will not be exercisable and will trade with the shares of the Company’s common stock. Under the Shareholder Rights Plan, the rights generally
will become exercisable if a person becomes an “acquiring person” by acquiring 15% or more of the common stock of the Company or if a person commences
a tender offer that could result in that person owning 15% or more of the common stock of the Company. If a person becomes an acquiring person, each
holder of a right (other than the acquiring person) would be entitled to purchase, at the then-current exercise price, such number of shares of preferred stock
which are equivalent to shares of the Company’s common stock having a value of twice the exercise price of the right. If the Company is acquired in a merger
or other business combination transaction after any such event, each holder of a right would then be entitled to purchase, at the then-current exercise price,
shares of the acquiring company’s common stock having a value of twice the exercise price of the right.
14. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Description

December 31, 2006
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

$

Charged to
costs and
expenses

Additions
Charged to
other accounts
(Describe)(1)

400,000 $
16,081,539

946,850
2,226,513

December 31, 2005
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance—as restated

300,000
14,235,366

281,684
1,846,173

78,143
—

(259,827)(2)
—

400,000
16,081,539

December 31, 2004
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance—as restated

300,000
12,571,496

221,796
1,663,870

13,668
—

(235,464)(2)
—

300,000
14,235,366

(1) Recoveries
(2) Write-offs
(3) Utilization and expiration of Federal and State Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
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$

74,539
—

Balance at
End of
Period

Deductions
(Describe)

$

(521,389)(2)
(4,504,636)(3)

$

900,000
13,803,416

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-118059 and 333-135242) of
NeuroMetrix, Inc. of our report dated March 29, 2007 relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule, management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2007

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Shai N. Gozani, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of NeuroMetrix, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2007

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D.
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. D.
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, W. Bradford Smith, certify that:
1

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of NeuroMetrix, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2007

/s/ W. BRADFORD SMITH
W. Bradford Smith
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION
The undersigned officers of NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certify that the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this
certification is attached (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and that the information contained in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 29, 2007

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D.
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. D.
Chief Executive Officer and President
/s/ W. BRADFORD SMITH
W. Bradford Smith
Chief Financial Officer

This certification is being furnished and not filed, and shall not be incorporated into any document for any purpose, under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933.

